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ACT OF 1934 FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012
Or
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to
Commission file number 1-10113
ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its arart
New York 11-0853640
(State or other jurisdiction of Incorporation oganization) (I.LR.S. Employer Identification No
616 N. North Court, Suite 120, Palatine, lllinois 60067
(Address of principal administrative offic (Zip code)
Registrant's telephone number, including area c@4i&:705 7709
Securities registered pursuant to section 12(b) dfie Act: Name of each exchange on which registered:

Common Stock, par value $0.01 per share NASDAQ Capital Market

Securities registered pursuant to section 12(g) ¢fie Act:
(Title of Class)
None
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405edb#turities Act.
YesO No

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 orti®ecl5(d) of the Act.
YesO No

Indicate by check mark whether the registranth@dg filed all reports required to be filed by Sewtl3 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for sstebrter period that the registrant was requirefilécsuch reports), and (2) has been sul
to such filing requirements for the past 90 dayss®¥l No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant hdwnitted electronically and posted on its corpoléieb site, if any, every Interactive D
File required to be submitted and posted pursuaiule 405 of Regulation $8232.405 of this chapter) during the precedi@grionths (c
for such shorter period that the registrant wasired to submit and post such files). Y& No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquéldrs pursuant to Item 405 of RegulationkKS(8229.405 of this chapter is not contai
herein, and will not be contained, to the bestkegistrant's knowledge, in definitive proxy or infaation statements incorporated by referen
Part 11l of this Form 10-K or any amendment to thegm 10-K.OO

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a-axxcelerated filer, or a smaller repor!
company.

O Large Accelerated Fildrl Accelerated FileXI Non-Accelerated Filetl Smaller Reporting Company.
Indicate by check mark whether the registrantsbell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exge Act). Yedd No

Based on the last sale price on the NASDAQ Capitatket of the Common Stock of $3.14 on June 29,22@ie last business day of
registrant's most recently completed second figaalter), the aggregate market value of the vatingk held by nomffiliates of the registra
was approximately $38.2 million.

As of February 28, 2013, the registrant had 46 @@ shares of Common Stock, par value $0.01, odstg.
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCHEPortions of the Proxy Statement for the registsaAtinual Meeting of Shareholders to
be held on or about May 1, 2013 are incorporatecefgrence into Part Il of this Annual Report corim 10-K.




Item 1.

Item 1A.
Item 1B.

Iltem 2.
Iltem 3.
Item 4.

Item 5.
Iltem 6.
Iltem 7.

Item 7A.

Item 8.
Item 9.

Iltem 9A.
Item 9B.

Item 10.
Item 11.
Iltem 12.
Item 13.
Item 14.

Item 15.

Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Form 10-K
For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2012

Tablet of Contents

PART I
Business
Risk Factors
Unresolved Staff Commen
Properties
Legal Proceeding
Mine Safety Disclosure
PART Il
Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Ehotder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity i8&xs.
Selected Financial Da
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Finanataldtion and Results of Operatio
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About MarRisk
Financial Statements and Supplementary |
Changes in and Disagreement with Accountants oméaing and Financial Disclosu
Controls and Procedur
Other Informatior
PART Il
Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Govaos
Executive Compensatic
Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners dMahagement and Related Stockholder Mai
Certain Relationships and Related Transactionsarettor Independenc
Principal Accountant Fees and Servi
PART IV
Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedt
Signatures
Index to Financial Statemer

PAGE

20
39
39
39
41

41
42
43
50
50
50
50
51

52
52
52
52
52

52
56
F-1




Forward-Looking Statements

Certain statements in this Report constitute “fadM@oking statementsivithin the meaning of the Private Securities Litiga Reform Act o
1995. Such forwardboking statements involve known and unknown risks;ertainties and other factors which may causeaotual result
performance or achievements to be materially difieifrom any future results, performance, or adhieents expressed or implied by <
forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statateenay include, but are not limited to, our and lmensees ability to successfully laun
and commercialize our products and technologielsidiing Oxecta Tablets and Nexafed Tablets, theepdiscounting that may be offered
Pfizer for Oxecta, our and our license@bility to obtain necessary regulatory approaald commercialize products utilizing our technoés
and the market acceptance of and competitive emviemt for any of our products, the willingness dfalesalers and pharmacies to s
Nexafed Tablets, expectations regarding potentakeat share for our products and the timing ot fsaes, our ability to enter into additio
license agreements for our Aversion Technology peodandidates, our exposure to product liabilitgd ather lawsuits in connection with
commercialization of our products, the increasingtof insurance and the availability of produabllity insurance coverage, the ability
avoid infringement of patents, trademarks and opineprietary rights of third parties, and the apitf our patents to protect our products f
generic competition, our ability to protect andané our patent rights in any paragraph IV patafriigement litigation, and the ability
fulfill the FDA requirements for approving our puet candidates for commercial manufacturing andribigion in the United State
including, without limitation, the adequacy of thesults of the laboratory and clinical studies ctatgul to date, the results of laboratory
clinical studies we may complete in the future tipport FDA approval of our product candidates amel gufficiency of our development
meet OTC Monograph standards as applicable, thquadg of the development program for our productdadates, including wheth
additional clinical studies will be required to gapt FDA approval of our product candidates, chanigeregulatory requirements, adve
safety findings relating to our product candidatelsether the FDA will agree with our analysis of @linical and laboratory studies and ho
may evaluate the results of these studies or whéthder studies of our product candidates willrbguired to support FDA approval, whel
or when we are able to obtain FDA approval of latgefor our product candidates for the proposedcatibns and will be able to promote
features of our abuse discouraging technologiestiven our product candidates will ultimately detbuse in commercial settings and whe
our Impede technology will disrupt the processifigggeudoephedrine into methamphetamine. In somescgeu can identify forwarkboking
statements by terms such as “may,” “will,” “shotlthould,” “would,” “expects,” “plans,” “anticipats,” “believes,” “indicates,” “estimates,”
“projects,” “predicts,” “potential” and similar exgssions intended to identify forwalabking statements. These statements reflect ouiei
views with respect to future events and are basegssumptions and subject to risks and uncertainBezen these uncertainties, you shoulc
place undue reliance on these forward-looking states. We discuss many of these risks in greatail @@ Item 1A of this Report.

In light of these risks, uncertainties and assuomgti the forwardeoking events and circumstances discussed inRBort may ne
occur and actual results could differ materiallg agversely from those anticipated or implied ie thrwardiooking statements. According
readers are cautioned not to place undue relianceich forward-looking statements.

PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Overview

We are a specialty pharmaceutical company engagtiresearch, development and commercializafie@chnologies and produ
intended to address medication abuse and misuséawéediscovered and developed two proprietaryntglolgies. Our Aversion&echnolog
is a mixture of inactive ingredients incorporatatbipharmaceutical tablets and capsules intendaddeess some common methods of prc
tampering associated with opioid abuse. Pfizerdroxecta® ¢xycodone HCI) tablets, Cll is the first approvet anarketed product utilizii
Aversion and is commercialized under a license eagent we have with a subsidiary of Pfizer, or tHzeP Agreement. We have a
developed our Impede™ Technology which is a contlinaof inactive ingredients that prevent the estien of pseudoephedrine from tab
and disrupt the direct conversion of pseudoephedriom tablets into methamphetamine. We have laethéh the United States Nexafed
(pseudoephedrine HC1) tablets formulated with oysdde Technology.




We have 7 additional opioid products utilizing Asien in various stages of development. Pursuarmt 8eptember 24, 2012 le
agreement with Pfizer, all rights to these develeptstage opioid products have reverted back to us. fPoduct containing hydrocodc
bitartrate and acetaminophen utilizing the Aversteshnology, or hydrocodone/acetaminophen, is thwstnadvanced opioid product
development and the primary focus of our opioidedepment efforts. Hydrocodone/acetaminophen isntiost widely prescribed and of
abused opioid product in the United States. Pfizewviously completed a clinical study demonstratimg hydrocodone/acetaminophen pro
is bioequivalent to its reference listed drug. Wedfan Investigational New Drug Application, orDiNwith the Food and Drug Administratic
or FDA, on December 20, 2012. We expect that theldpment program for our hydrocodone/acetaminogireduct and our other Aversi
opioid products in development will be consistenthwthat of Oxecta. We anticipate submitting a ®)8{) NDA with the FDA for oL
hydrocodone/acetaminophen product in the first ba#014.

We launched Nexafed commercially in nidddcember 2012 into the $1 billion United Statesrdkie counter market, or OTC, for ¢
and allergy products containing a decongestant.aféeikwas demonstrated in a clinical study to mbet EDA Guideline standards
bioequivalence to the reference drug Sudafet®keted by Johnson & Johnson Corporation. We ipatie developing line extensions for
Nexafed franchise to capitalize on the many difieembination offerings in the OTC cold/allergy nket. We also have been working on
next generation of our Impede Technology in orddutther improve our Nexafed franchise.

We also have discovered an eastgge technology which, in proof of concept labamatests, demonstrates the ability to limit
release of the active ingredient from tablets wimerltiple tablets are consumed simultaneously.

Our Strategy

Our goal is to become a leading specialty pharntsmaducompany focused on addressing the growingesalc problem c
pharmaceutical drug abuse by developing a broatfiofiorof products with abuse deterrent featured benefits. Specifically, we intend to:

« Capitalize on our experience and expertise in #tmearch and development of technologies that adadneslication abuse and misuse
We have two products commercially launched comginour Aversion and Impede Technologies. We costitol invest i
improvements in these technologies and to innavete technologies to address medication abuse asubm

» Leverage our technologies by developing a full bh@harmaceutical products which utilize our prigpary technologie. Medicatior
abuse and misuse is not limited to single drugsofien pervades entire drug categories. We interdktvelop multiple products in t
prescription opioid and OTC cold/allergy marketshwour technologies

« Commercialize our products with our internal resoes or license to strategically focused companiethé United States and otl
geographic territories. We have developed a small infrastructure to coroiakze our OTC products that utilize the Imp
Technology. We have licensed our Aversion TechnplogPfizer for use in Oxecta in the United Stateanada and Mexico. We
seeking licensing partners for our other Aversierhhology worldwide and marketing partners for Nedautside the United State

« Maintain an efficient internal cost structu. We maintain an efficient internal cost structfoeused on discovering new technolor
and developing product formulations using thoséietogies. We also have a small, focused OTC miawketnd sales team. \
outsource many high cost elements of developmeshtcammercialization, such as clinical trials andnogercial manufacturing tr
minimize required fixed overhead and capital inirestt and thereby reduces our business




« In-license or acquire technologies and/or productexpand our portfolio of technologies and produc®e intend to pursue the in-
license or acquisition of product candidates actrelogies that will allow us to expand our poitiabf products. Such itieensing o
acquisition transactions, if successfully complete#fdvhich no assurance can be given, may includdyzt candidates or technolog
for pain relief, addiction, and other drui

Aversion Technology Overview

Aversion Technology is a unique composition of thacpharmaceutical ingredients utilized with arnoig or other drug susceptible
abuse to provide abuse deterrent functionality. Miee three issued U.S. patents covering all ofAugrsion Technology opioid produc
which patents expire between 2023 and 2025. Oursiee Technology products are intended to providesame therapeutic benefits of
active drug ingredient as currently marketed préglgontaining the same active pharmaceutical ingneédwhile simultaneously discourag
some of the common methods of pharmaceutical ptodistise and abuse described below.

The extent and manner in which any of the feataescribed below will be described in the FDA appVabel for our pipelir
products will be dependent on the results of aedattteptance by the FDA of our and our licensedadies for each product.

Intended to Deter 1.V. Injection of Opioids Extraetl from Dissolved Table!

Drug abusers may dissolve pharmaceutical tabletajpsules in water, alcohol, or other common sdsyditter the dissolved solutis
into a syringe, and inject the resulting fluid atenously to obtain euphoric effects. Aversion Tedbgy tablets dissolved in gener:
available solvents, including water or alcoholpiat volume and form suitable for intravenous in@ttconverts the tablet into a viscous
mixture. We believe this gel will limit or impedeuty abusers from extracting and injecting the &ciingredients from our tablets.

Intended to Deter Nasal Snortin

Drug abusers may crush pharmaceutical tablets psub@s and intranasally snort the resulting powtdeabsorb active ingredie
through the nasal passages to obtain euphorictefféhe combination of Aversion Technology inactingredients is intended to induce ni
passage discomfort if the tablets are snorted. lieve products which utilize Aversion Technologwyrbe disliked and will discoura
prospective nasal drug abusers from snorting crisdtdets or capsules.

Oxecta

Oxecta is a Schedule Il narcotic indicated forri@agement of acute and chronic moderate to spa@mevhere the use of an opi
analgesic is appropriate. Oxecta utilizes our Awer§ echnology. Pfizer received FDA approval far %05(b)(2) NDA for Oxecta on June
2011 and introduced the product into the markétdhruary 2012. To our knowledge, Pfizer has naiaitgid marketing of Oxecta to physici
and is awaiting advice from the FDA on their pragabghysician promotion materials which were suteditb the FDA in July 2012. As su
Pfizer's attained no meaningful sales of Oxectadt?2.

The safety and efficacy of Oxecta 5mg and 7.5mgetslwas established by demonstrating bioequivaléaccommercially availak
oxycodone immediateelease tablets in the fasted state. Oxecta differa oxycodone tablets when taken with a highrfatal though the:
differences are not considered clinically relevamigl Oxecta can be taken without regard to food. HbA-approved label for Oxecta descri
elements unique to our Aversion Technology, whiidfes from current commercially available oxycogommediaterelease tablets. The la
for Oxecta includes the results from a clinicaldstdhat evaluated the effects of nasally snortingsleed Oxecta and commercially availi
oxycodone tablets, and limitations on exposing @x¢ablets to water and other solvents and admatish through feeding tubes. The clin
study evaluated 40 non-dependent recreational dpigeérs, who selidministered the equivalent of 15mg of oxycodoniéeraccounting for
first sequence effect, the study demonstrated:




o 30% of subjects exposed to Oxecta responded tegt\wlould not take the drug again compared to 5%udljects exposed
immediate-release oxycodon:

« subjects taking Oxecta reported a higher incidesfceasopharyngeal and facial adverse events comipgaranmediataeleas
oxycodone

« a decreased ability to completely insufflate twastred Oxecta tablets within a fixed time period (240 subjects), while ¢
subjects were able to completely insufflate théremtose of immedia-release oxycodone; al

« small numeric differences in the median and meay diking scores, which were lower in response t@€a than immediate-
release oxycodon

Although we believe these abuse deterrent charsiitsr differentiate Oxecta from immediatelease oxycodone products currently or
market, consistent with FDA guidance which requigpilemiology studies to support a claim of abustemence, the clinical significance
the difference in drug liking and difference inpease to taking the drug again in this study hasren established. There is no evidence
Oxecta has a reduced liability compared to immediatease oxycodone. Pfizer has agreed to agpmstval commitment with the FDA
perform an epidemiology study to assess the aghpct on abuse of Oxecta tablets.

Further, the Oxecta product label guides patieatsamcrush and dissolve the tablets or oek, lick or otherwise wet the tablets p
to administration. Similarly, caregivers are addisgot to crush and dissolve the tablets or othe&rwise Oxecta for administration
nasogastric, gastric or other feeding tubes asay mause an obstruction. Our laboratory studiesodstrated that the Oxecta tal
characteristics may change when Oxecta is expasegrtain solvents, including water.

Aversion Technology Opioid Products in Development
We have multiple opioid products utilizing our Asgm Technology in various stages of developmeamtsiiant to a September 24,
2012 agreement with Pfizer, the license and/oooptights to these products were returned to uBflaer and we retain all rights to develop

and commercial these products worldwide.

Comparable Brand

Aversion Technology Table Name?! Status
Hydrocodone bitartrate/acetaminophen Vicodin®, Lortab®, Bioequivalence to reference listed drug demongtrate
Norcc® IND submitted to the FDA on December 20, 2012.
NDA submission targeted for the first half of 20

Hydromorphone HCI Dilaudid® Proof of Concep?

Methadone HCI Methadose Proof of Concep?

Morphine Sulfate MSIR® Proof of Concep2

Oxycodone HCl/acetaminophen Percocet® Proof of Concep?

Oxymorphone HCI Opana® Proof of Concep?

Tramadol HCI Ultram® Proof of Concep?

1 Comparable Brand Name refers to currently markptedcription products in the United States contgrthe same active analgesic ingrediel
(s) as in the corresponding Aversion Technologylpob.

2 Proof of Concept is attained upon demonstratioprofiuct stability and bioavailability parametersl groof of concept formulations cont:
niacin and will require reformulation.




Development of Hydrocodone/Acetaminophen

Our hydrocodone/acetaminophen product was prewioustier development by Pfizer who, before returriimg product to us: (
successfully removed niacin from the formulatio2), demonstrated bioequivalence to a referencedlidtag and (3) held a pt&D meeting
with the FDA. We expect our clinical developmemgnam for our hydrocodone/acetaminophen producbisist of:

. A pharmacokinetic study in about 36 fasted subjdotsestablish bioequivalence of product made byew rontrac
manufacturer to the FC's reference listed drug and determine the foodteffe our drug

. A pharmacokinetic study in about 24 subjects toaldish safety compared to the reference listed 9
tramadol/acetaminophen (for acetaminophen) anddogdione bitartrate/ibuprofen (for hydrocodor

. A pharmacokinetic study in about 24 subjects dennatisg dose proportionality of our formulation;

. A nasal abuse liability liking study in about 4@reational drug users against a reference drug;

. Laboratory studies demonstrating extraction, syng@nd particle size characteristics of our pragdaicd

. An assessment of the routes of abuse of hydrocopliamtiicts.

We submitted an IND to the FDA for our hydrocod@eetaminophen product on December 20, 2012 whichrbe effective in la
January 2013 and allows us to commence clinicalstriBased on the development program outlined gbae anticipate preparing ¢
submitting a 505(b)(2) NDA for our hydrocodone/areinophen product in the first half of 2014.

We continue to evaluate possible partnering ofAuersion development products with alternativete& partners.
U.S. Market Opportunity for Opioid Analgesic Products Utilizing Aversion Technology

The misuse and abuse of prescription drug prodoasneral, and opioid analgesics in particulag gnificant societal problem tl
has been described as epidemic in nature by Jose@alifano, Jr., Chairman and President, NatioBahter for Addiction and Substal
Abuse at Columbia University, July 2005. Resultsrfrthe 2009 National Survey on Drug Use and Healficate prescription drug abus
have supplanted abusers of all illicit drugs exeegtijuana. The survey estimated that 35 milliooge in the United States, or more than :
of the population, have engaged in the moedical use of prescription opioid analgesics aes@oint in their lifetime. IR Opioid Produ
comprise the vast majority of this abuse comparitd BR Opioid Products. In addition, it is estin@that more than 75 million people in
United States suffer from pain and the FDA estimat®re than 45 million people receive a prescnipfar the opioid hydrocodone annua
For many pain sufferers, opioid analgesics proviagr only pain relief. As a result, opioid analgssare among the largest prescription 1
classes in the United States with over 260 miltiiolet and capsule prescriptions dispensed in 201ihich approximately 244 million we
for IR Opioid Products and 16 million were for ERIGid Products. However, physicians and other hezdre providers at times are reluc
to prescribe opioid analgesics for fear of misadeise, and diversion of legitimate prescriptiondlficit use.

We expect our Aversion Technology opioid produgt{e)compete primarily in the IR Opioid Product segnt of the United Stat
opioid analgesic market. IR Opioid Product presmis have grown at a 3.8% compounded annual rae the last five years. Because
Opioid Products are used for both acute and chnoaiic, a prescription, on average, contains 62taldr capsules. According to IMS Hee
in 2011, sales in the IR Opioid Product segmentevegproximately $2.1 billion, of which ~97% wagiatitable to generic products. Due
fewer identified competitors and the significanidyger market for dispensed prescriptions for IRc@pProducts compared to ER Opi
Products, we have initially focused on developiRgQpioid Products utilizing our Aversion Technolo@xecta and our Aversion Technol
products in development include the active opiogrédients representing approximately 78% of ti& LR Opioid Product segment.

2011 US
Prescription: %

IR Opioid Product(%) (Millions) @ of Total
Hydrocodone 137 56
Oxycodone 54 22
Tramadol 37 15
Codeine 13 5
3 others 3 2

Total (Average 244 10C




LIncludes all salts and esters of the opioid andidpiin combination with other active ingredientsls as acetaminophe
2|MS Health, 2011

Despite considerable publicity regarding the abas@xyContin® extendedelease tablets and other ER Opioid Products,
government statistics suggest that far more pebple used IR Opioid Products noredically than ER Opioid Products. These stati
estimate that nearly four times as many people haisused the IR Opioid Products Vicodin®, Lortab®dalLorcet® hydrocodon
bitartrate/acetaminophen brands and generics) @eyrContin®. We estimate 695% of the 35 million lifetime U.S. opioid abusdrave
engaged in the nomedical use of the active ingredients in our IRd@piproduct candidates. As indicated in the follogvchart, the top fi
abused opioid products are available only as IPbdgProducts.

Lifetime Non-Medical Use of Selected Pain Reliever&\ge 12 or Older: 2010

Vicoding., Lonabe. & Lorcers
Darvecet®, Darvon® & Tylenad® wiCedeine || NG
Percocet®, Percodan® & Tyiex® [
—
Codeine |
CoyConting [N
Morphine [
DameralE -
methadone [

Utram Il

0 5 10 15 20 25
Numbers (in millions)

. Immediate Release Only m Extended & Immediate Release

Source: SAMHSA, Office of Applied Studies, 2010 idatl Survey on Drug Use and Health.

In a 2011 survey of 400 opioid prescribing physisi@onducted for us by an independent research 3&% of physicians indicat
they were highly concerned with the diversion ddittopioid prescriptions for nomedical purposes and 42% were highly concernedt
opioid misuse by their patients. However, less th@ of these same physicians indicated they wenédent they could adequately iden
patients who are diverting or misusing their opipr@scriptions. Further, 77% and 66% of the phgsigiindicated that abuse of their op
prescription by injection and snorting, respectiy&ould likely lead to serious adverse health egpences for the abuser as compared tc
38% for abuse by oral administration.

A majority of pharmaceutical products in the UnitBthtes are paid for by thighrty payers such as insurers, pharmacy b
managers, selfisured companies and the federal and state goesrnsnthrough Medicare, Medicaid and other healtte gaograms. W
believe our product candidates must demonstralieiaat benefit to the patient and/or an econoneadfit to thirdparty payers and/or a ben
to health care providers to receive favorable reirsbment status by the third-party payers, of whizlassurance can be given.




Several independent organizations have estimaggadktential cost impact of prescription opioid abts insurers. An analysis
health and pharmacy insurance claims between 1882@02 for almost two million Americans conductgdAnalysis Group, Inc. and oth
indicated that enrollees with a diagnosis of opialiise had average claims of approximately $14p@0year higher than an agende
matched norepioid abuse sample. A 2007 report by the Coalidgainst Insurance Fraud, after adjusting for itifla, estimated this exce
cost per patient at more than $16,000 for 2007ajBylying the U.S. governmentéstimated 4.4 million annual opioid abusers, dhignizatio
concluded that abuse of IR and ER Opioid Produmidccost health insurers up to $72.5 billion aryea

Product Labeling for Aversion Technology Products

In January 2013, the FDA published a draft guiddoncendustry on the evaluation and labeling of sddeterrent opioids. While tt
guidance is non-binding on the FDA, it outlines FBAurrent thinking on the labeling of abudeterrent products. FDA encourages sponst
seek approval of proposed product labeling thas fmtth the results of physiochemical, physiologibarmacodynamic, pharmacokine
and/or formal postmarketing studies that appropiyatharacterizes the abudeterrent properties of a product. To date, FDAlmied dat:
correlating the potentially abusketerrent properties of certain opioid drug prodweith actual reduction in abuse or adverse evasgsciate
with abuse. When the data predict or show thatduymt's potentially abusdeterrent properties can be expected to, or agtdall result in
significant reduction in that produstabuse potential, these data, together with anraieccharacterization of what the data mean, shioe
included in product labeling.

We or our licensee may seek to include descriptmistudies that characterize the abdsterrent properties in the label for
Aversion Technology products in development. Althlothe FDA approved label for Oxecta contains ltnins on exposing Oxecta tablet
water and other solvents and administration throiegiding tubes, the FDA approved Oxecta label dmg¢scontain a description of the |
injection studies we performed to characterize ghese deterrent properties of Oxecta. Pfizer hasndtied to the FDA to underta
epidemiological studies to assess the actual coesegs of abuse of Oxecta in the market. The extemthich a description of the abuse
deterrent properties or results of epidemiologimalbther studies will be added to or included ie #DA approved product label for «
products will be the subject of our discussionwiite FDA as part of the NDA review process, eviéer dnaving obtained approval of Oxe:
Further, because the FDA closely regulates promationaterials, even if FDA initially approves laingl that includes a description of
abuse deterrent properties of the product, the BOfice of Prescription Drug Promotion, or OPDRI] wontinue to review the acceptabil
of promotional labeling claims and product advértiscampaigns for our marketed products.

Pfizer Agreement

On October 30, 2007, we and King Pharmaceuticalse&eh and Development, Inc., now a whaolyned subsidiary of Pfize
entered into the Pfizer Agreement to develop anmdrmaercialize in the United States, Canada and Megéartain opioid analgesic produ
utilizing our proprietary Aversion Technology. TRdizer Agreement initially provided Pfizer with axclusive license in the United Sta
Canada and Mexico, or the Pfizer Territory, for €ae(oxycodone HCI) Tablets and oxycodone HCl/anetaphen tablets utilizing Aversii
Technology. In addition, the Pfizer Agreement pded Pfizer with an option to license in the PfiZerritory certain future opioid analge
products developed utilizing Aversion Technologyiz& exercised its option to license two additiopaoduct candidates including
undisclosed immediateslease opioid analgesic tablet product and hydtoce bitartrate/acetaminophen tablets, each of twhidize ou
Aversion Technology. On September 24, 2012, weredtmto a letter agreement with Pfizer which ansetie Pfizer Agreement and provi
for the termination of Pfizer's license to our Asien® Technology used in the three developnstatie products licensed to Pfizer and fo
transfer of these products back to us. These depn@atstage products are hydrocodone bitartrate/acetaharo tablets, oxycodo
HCl/acetaminophen tablets and an undisclosed op#ée the discussion above under the captforefsion Technology Opioid Products
Development” for further information regarding tthevelopment of these products.




Pursuant to the Pfizer Agreement, we and Pfizenéa a joint steering committee to oversee developrand commercializatic
strategies for Oxecta. Pfizer is responsible,sabwn expense, for all regulatory, manufacturing aammercialization activities for Oxecte
all Pfizer Territories. Subject to the Pfizer Agment, Pfizer will have final decision making autiymwith respect to all regulatory a
commercialization activities for Oxecta.

As of December 31, 2012, we had received aggregayenents of $78.5 million from Pfizer, consistinfa $30.0 million non-
refundable upfront cash payment, $17.5 millioneimbursed research and development expenses getatlitensed products, $6.0 million
fees relating to Pfizer's exercise of its optionlitense an undisclosed immediagease opioid analgesic tablet product and hyadtome
bitartrate/acetaminophen tablets, a $5.0 milliofestone fee relating to our successful achieveroétiie primary endpoints for our piva
Phase IlI clinical study for Aversion oxycodone Hgth niacin tablets and a $20.0 million milestdee relating to the FDA approval of th
Oxecta Tablets NDA. We can also receive a time-$50 million sales milestone payment upon thet &ttainment of $750 million in net s
of Oxecta across all Pfizer Territories. In addififor Oxecta sales occurring on and following feloy 2, 2013 (the one year anniversary o
first commercial sale of Oxecta), Pfizer will pay a royalty at one of six rates ranging from 592586 based on the level of annual net ¢
for Oxecta across all Pfizer Territories, with tiighest applicable royalty rate applied to suchuahsales.

Pfizer's royalty payment obligations for Oxecta iegmn a country-bycountry basis upon the later of (i) the expiratidrihe last vali
patent claim covering Oxecta in such country, Qrlé years from the first commercial sale of Oxeict such country. No minimum annual
are payable by either party under the Pfizer Agesgnif Pfizer, after consultation with us, entant® a license agreement with a third part
avoid or settle such third partyallegations or claims regarding freedom to opeagfainst Oxecta, Pfizer may deduct 50% of anyltiegeol
other license payments it pays to such third partgter such license, provided that the royaltiesapleyto us are no less than 80% of
royalties otherwise due to us under the Pfizer Agrent.

The Pfizer Agreement expires upon the expirationPéizer's royalty payment and other payment obligationseurntie Pfize
Agreement. Pfizer may terminate the Pfizer Agredmianits entirety at any time by written notice tis. We may terminate the Pfi
Agreement in its entirety if Pfizer commences amtgiiference or opposition proceeding challengirggvlidity or enforceability of any of o
patent rights licensed to Pfizer under the Pfizgre®ment. Either party has the right to terminhé&eRfizer Agreement on a country-bgentry
basis if the other party is in material breach tsf dbligations under the Pfizer Agreement relatiagsuch country, and to terminate
Agreement in its entirety in the event the othatypemakes an assignment for the benefit of cregljtiiles a petition in bankruptcy or otherw
seeks relief under applicable bankruptcy laws gichecase subject to applicable cure periods.

In the event of termination, no payments are dwegixthose royalties and milestones that have adgpuor to termination under 1
Pfizer Agreement and all licenses under the Pi#ggeement are terminated. For all Acura terminatiand termination by Pfizer where we
not in breach, the Pfizer Agreement provides far ttansition of development and marketing of theerdsed products from Pfizer to
including the conveyance by Pfizer to us of thedéraarks and all regulatory filings and approvaltelgoused in connection with t
commercialization of such licensed products andgartain cases, for Pfizer'supply of such licensed products for a transifigreriod &
Pfizer's cost plus a mark-up.

Impede Technology Overview

Our Impede Technology, a proprietary mixture ofcinge ingredients, prevents the extraction of psepthedrine, or PSE, from tabl
and disrupts the direct conversion of PSE from dimblinto methamphetamine. The chemical structurePSE is very similar -
methamphetamine, facilitating a straigbotward chemical conversion to methamphetamine. @BE products are sometimes purchase!
used for this conversion. There are multiple kngwocesses to convert PSE to methamphetamine, athath are not complex and do
require specialized equipment; however, many daireqeadily available but uncommon ingredients.oTaf the three most popular proce:
follow two general processing steps: (1) dissolving PSE tablets in a solvent to isolate purifi&ERnd (2) a chemical reduction of the |
into methamphetamine for drying into crystals. Thied method, or the “one-pothethod, involves the direct chemical reductionhaf PSE t
methamphetamine in the presence of the tablatictive ingredients. All the solvents used dtienately dried off or otherwise removed s
vast range of solvents are amenable to the process.




Studies sponsored by us at an independent labgratod confirmed by a law enforcement agency, detnatesl our Impec
Technology prevents the extraction of PSE frometsblor conversion into methamphetamine using wieabelieve are the two most comn
extraction methods, each requiring extraction oERS an initial step. Laboratory tests conductedumbehalf by an independent CRO u
the “one-pot"’method demonstrated that our Impede Technologygtied the direct conversion of PSE from the tabtets methamphetamir
The study compared the amount of pure methamphegahyidrochloride produced from Nexafed and Sudafedi®ts. Using one hundred
mg tablets of both products, multiple opet tests and a variety of commonly used solvehts study demonstrated an average of 38% ¢
maximum 2.7 grams of pure methamphetamine hydrodelavas recovered from Nexafed. Comparatively raximately twice as much pt
methamphetamine hydrochloride was recovered frodafed®tablets. Both products yielded a substantial amotiatiditional solids such tf
the purity of the total powder provided containgpmximately 65% methamphetamine hydrochloride.

Nexafed

Our Nexafed product is an immediatdease pseudoephedrine HCI, tablet which utilmaspatent pending Impede Technology.
is a widely-used nasal decongestant available imym@nprescription and prescription cold, sinus and gllggroducts We have demonstre
that our Nexafed 30mg tablets is bioequivalentdiondon & Johnson’s Sudafed®mg Tablets when a single 2 tablets dose is adteieic
Commencing in 2006, the Combat Methamphetaminedgpic Act, or CMEA, required all noprescription PSE products to be held seci
behind the pharmacy counter, has set monthly coesymrchase volume limits, and has necessitateducoer interaction with pharme
personnel to purchase PSE-containing products.niféad to capitalize on this consumpdrarmacist interaction at the point of sale bycstitig
distribution to pharmacies and educating and eragpug pharmacists to recommend Nexafed to thetoouwsrs.

We launched Nexafed commercially in nilidicember 2012 into the United States OTC marketdédd and allergy products following 1
demonstration in a clinical study that Nexafed thetFDA Guideline standards for bioequivalencehrieference drug Sudafed®arketed b
Johnson & Johnson Corporation.

We have shipped Nexafed to several regional andrmetdrug wholesalers for redistribution to phaciea. We continue to work to expand
wholesaler distribution network for Nexafed. Marfitltese stocking wholesalers have placed multipes with us as pharmacies have bt
stocking Nexafed and are depleting the wholesalaritory.

We are using telemarketing, direct mail, and onénd journal advertising to educate pharmacistsitaNexafed and encourage pharmacis
recommend Nexafed to their customers. Due to theeince of pharmacists in stocking decisions arafpiacy operations in independent (nor
chain) pharmacies, we believe that most of ourplay distribution, at this time, is in independpharmacies, however, we believe that s
chain pharmacy stores are stocking Nexafed purdhdisectly by the store from wholesalers. Transstgpt reports provided to us from «
wholesaler shows some pharmacies have placed meuttigers with the wholesaler, potentially indiogtiwe are generating some pharmi
recommendations and consumer demand. Through Jar@d:3 we have shipped approximately $20 thousahtbxafed sales.

We are marketing our 30mg Nexafed product under 'BDrAgulations applicable to OTC Monograph produdisxafed tablets a
offered in 24-count blister packaged cartons atwkedrcomparable to other branded PSE 30mg tablets.

Impede Technology Product in Development

Given the fragmented nature of the PSE market witiducts containing multiple active ingredients, are assessing our ini
success with the launch of Nexafed and are corisgleur product development options:




Impede Technology Product Status
Immediate-release pseudoephedrine HCI in combinatith other Formulation developed and stability testing ongoing
cold and allergy active ingredier

We also have been working on a next generationetlepTechnology, an improvement for our Nexafed dnégse which is
enhancement on the methamphetamine resistance ofioent technology in the one-pot methamphetaroamersion method.

We continue to evaluate possible licensing of oypdde products with commercial partners for digtidn outside the United States.
U.S. Market Opportunity for Impede PSE Products

Methamphetamine is a highly addictive illicit druged nommedically by an estimated 13 million people at sqromt in their lifetime
In 2006, the CMEA was enacted in response to armalg increase in and widespread conversion of R8&aining products in
methamphetamine. Among other things, the CMEA meguretail stores to maintain their inventory ofBP&ntaining products in a secu
location and restricts the amount of PSE produaoee can sell to an individual customer. Impletagon of the CMEA initially reduced tl
number of illegal methamphetamine laboratory segueported by the Drug Enforcement AdministratmmDEA, as the then most comma
used process for conversion of PSE to methamphetaraguired substantial quantities of PSE. Howew@gwer process for converting PS
methamphetamine requires less PSE. Possibly asili of this new conversion process, the DEA reggb2010 clandestine methamphetar
laboratory seizures increased 84% over the lowrtegdn 2007. Laboratory seizures were down 12920a1. In response to the ongc
methamphetamine problem, several local jurisdisti(atate, counties and/or local municipalities)éhamacted or propose to enact legislatic
require a physician’s prescription to obtain a R®Btaining product.

PSE is a widely-used nasal decongestant availahiheainy norprescription and prescription cold, sinus and gitgproducts. PSE
sold in products as the only active ingredient athbimmediate and extendeelease products. In addition, PSE is combined witter colc
sinus and allergy ingredients such as pain religveough suppressants and antihistamines. PSEcalapetes against phenylephrine
alternate nasal decongestant available in non-ppésn products. In 2009, AC Nielsen reported apmately $1.0 billion in sales of non-
prescription products containing either PSE or plephrine as a nasal decongestant, of which apprately 47% contained PSE.

The market for cold, sinus and allergy productsigsly competitive and many products have strongsomer brand recognition a
in some cases, prescription drug heritage. Catelgaying brands are often supported by nationalsmearketing and promotional effo
Consumers often have a choice to purchase a Ipengive store brand. Store brands contain the sathe ingredients as the more pop
national brands but are not supported by large etangx campaigns and are offered at a lower prica-{tescription products are typice
distributed through retail outlets including drutpre chains, food store chains, independent phaesiaand mass merchandisers.
distribution outlets for PSE products are highlysadlidated. According to Chain Drug Review, the &@pdrug, food and mass merchandi
chains operate approximately 40,000 pharmacidsatutS., of which 58% are operated by the fourdsrghains.

Our 2010 market research study showed that 93%e®204 pharmacists surveyed believe that PSE heesieu efficacy as a na:
decongestant compared to phenylephrine. In our 20hZy of 215 chain and independent pharmaciéi,ridicated they had influence o
the pharmaciesproduct offerings. Of such pharmacists, 70% indidathey were likely to stock or recommend stockihexafed in the
pharmacies. The 215 surveyed pharmacists alsoaitedica willingness to recommend Nexafed to over ®%heir customers who see
pharmacist’s advice for a single ingredient nasalothgestant.
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Our 2009 survey of PSE 30mg tablet prices at thagsdour drug chains indicates that branded PSHumis were priced, on avera
to the consumer at approximately $0.25 per talsletapared to approximately $0.12 per tablet ferdbrresponding store brand.

Product Labeling for Impede Technology Products

We are marketing our Nexafed product pursuant & RDA’s OTC Monograph regulations, which require that product hav
labeling as specified in the regulations. We aneediking the extraction characteristics and metktgmineresistant benefits of our Nexa
product which is supported by our research studies.

We expect that any of our other Impede Technolaggpcts that are marketed pursuant to an NDA or ANBII be subject to a lab
approved by the FDA. We expect that such a labklrequire submission of our scientifically derivabluse liability data and we intend to <
descriptions of our abuse liability studies in @A approved product label, although there candassurance that this will be the case.

Research and Manufacturing

We conduct research, development, laboratory, naatwfing, and warehousing activities at our operetifacility in Culver, Indiar
and lease an administrative office in Palatinéndik. The 25,000 square foot facility is registeveith DEA to perform research, developn
and manufacture of certain DEg¢heduled active pharmaceutical ingredients andhiéal dosage form products. We have obtained gdiot
supply of DEAscheduled active pharmaceutical ingredients froemn IftA and develop finished dosage forms in our €uffacility. We
manufacture clinical trial supplies of drug produit our Culver facility in volumes sufficient toaat FDA standards for NDAs. In additior
internal capabilities and activities, we engage ergus clinical research organizations, or CROsh witpertise in regulatory affairs, clini
trial design and monitoring, clinical data managetnbiostatistics, medical writing, laboratory tagtand related services. Pfizer is respon
for commercial manufacturer of Oxecta under thed?fAgreement. We expect that future opioid prodactdidates developed and license
us will be commercially manufactured by our licezser other qualified third party contract manuiaets.

We rely on a contract manufacture to manufactusekpage and supply our commercial quantities of feekdnitially, we will sourc
our commercial requirements of Nexafed from a singhnufacturer and will not have a second sourtthodgh we believe there are alterr
sources of supply that can satisfy our commer@gqluirements, replacing or adding a contract manwrfaavill result in additional costs a
may delay or interrupt the supply of Nexafed.

In 2012, we completed initial discovery researchaonew technology to address abuse and misuseestnption pharmaceutic
tablets though the intentional or accidental inigesbf multiple tablets in excess of the recommehdese. In a laboratory proof of conc
study with prototype tablets, 100% of the activgradient from 2 tablets was released in releaseoappately 15 to 20 minutes compared v
approximately 20% being released in the same tamefrwhen 8 tablets are tested. The synergistictedfethe ingredients in the technolc
retards the release of the active ingredient whehipie tablets are cadministered. The objective of this technologyt dan be optimized ai
it translates consistently to human use, of whiglassurance can be given, will be to reduce thk peama concentration of drug which r
be associated with adverse health consequences.

Competition

Our products and technologies will, if marketednpete to varying degrees against both brand andrigeproducts offering simil.
therapeutic benefits and being developed and nedkey small and large pharmaceutical (for presiompproducts) and consumer packe
goods (for OTC products) companies. Many of our petitors have substantially greater financial atiteoresources and are able to ex|
more funds and effort than us in research, devedmprand commercialization of their competitive tealogies and products. Prescrip!
generic products and OTC store brand productsoff#ir cost savings to third party payers and/orsconers that will create pricing pressure
our products. Also, these competitors may have bxstantial sales volume advantage over our prodwbish may result in our costs
manufacturing being higher than our competitorstso
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We believe potential competitors may be developp@pid abuse deterrent technologies and produetsh $otential competita
include, but may not be limited to, Pain Therapesjtin collaboration with Pfizer, Purdue Pharmalaftic Pharmaceuticals, Egalet
KemPharm and Collegium Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Thoesepanies appear to be focusing their developmiéott® on ER opioid Produc
except for Atlantic Pharmaceuticals, while the migjoof our Aversion Technology opioid analgesioguct candidates under development
IR opioid Products. Pfizer, our partner for Oxedsaalso developing and/or marketing ER opioid lats, other analgesic products and nol
analgesic products, all of which will compete foevdlopment and commercialization resources with praducts, which may del
development or adversely impact the sales of conlysts.

Our Impede Technology products containing PSE edglhpete in the highly competitive market for cathus and allergy produs
generally available to the consumer without a pipson. Some of our competitors will have multimlensumer product offerings both wit
and outside the cold, allergy and sinus categooyiging them with substantial leverage in dealingghwa highly consolidated pharme
distribution network. The competing products mayéhavell established brand names and may be sugpbyt@ational or regional advertisii
Nexafed will compete directly with Johnson & Johm's Sudafed®brand as well as generic formulations manufactimgdPerrigo Compar
and others.

We are aware that some large pharmaceutical compamithe past have sought to develop PSE techieslay products that res
conversion into methamphetamine, but believe tref&mts have been discontinued, although therebsano assurance that this is the ¢
Highland Pharmaceuticals has recently launcheeéritain test markets a PSE product that is stateglsiet PSE extraction in agqueous soluti

We may consider licensing our Impede Technologgroducts utilizing such technology for commerciatian.
Patents and Patent Applications

In April 2007, the United States Patent and Trad&n@Hfice, or USPTO, issued to us U.S. Patent N20%,920 titled Methods an
Compositions for Deterring Abuse of Opioid ContagnDosage Formsgr the 920 Patent. The 54 allowed claims in the B&@&nt encompe
certain pharmaceutical compositions intended terdite most common methods of prescription opisidigesic product misuse and ab
These patented pharmaceutical compositions incthdemixture of functional inactive ingredients asplecific opioid analgesics such
oxycodone HCI and hydrocodone bitartrate amongrsthe

In January 2009, the USPTO issued to us U.S. Pa&tent7,476,402, or the 402 Patent, with 18 allovetdms. The 402 Pate
encompasses certain combinations of kappa and noidagceptor agonists and other ingredients indéeintb deter opioid analgesic proc
misuse and abuse.

In March 2009, the USPTO issued to us U.S. Patemt WM5610,726, or the 726 Patent, with 20 alloweslnes. The 726 Pater
encompasses a wider range of abuse deterrent caiopsshan our '920 Patent.

In July 2011, the USPTO issued to us U.S. Paten7/l&81,439, or the 439 Patent, with 7 allowednataiThe 439 Patent encompa:
certain compositions including any water solublagdof abuse intended to deter the most common rdetbb prescription opioid analge
product misuse and abuse. We believe our stimplatuct candidate currently in development is erzassed by the 439 Patent.

In January 2012, the USPTO issued to us U.S. P&tent8,101,630, or the 630 Patent with a singléntlthat encompasses
extended release abuse deterrent dosage form obdege or a pharmaceutically acceptable salt tiiereo
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In addition to our issued U.S. patents, we haweifinultiple U.S. patent applications and internatlgatent applications relating
compositions containing abusable active pharmacautigredients as well as applications covering lmpede Technology. Except for th
rights conferred in the Pfizer Agreement, we hatained all intellectual property rights to our Asien Technology, Impede Technology,
related product candidates. See below under thi&gocapegal Proceedings contained in Item 3 of Report for a discussion of our penc
patent infringement actions against three gen@oasors of ANDAs for generic drugs listing Oxecsalae reference drug.

Reference is made to the Risk Factors containénm 1A of this Report for a discussion, among othings, of patent applicatio
and patents owned by third parties including clain@ may encompass our Aversion Technology anc@xablets.

Government Regulation

All pharmaceutical firms, including us, are subjecextensive regulation by the federal governmentcipally by the FDA under tl
Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, or the FD&Q, And, to a lesser extent, by state and local movents. Before our prescripti
products, and some OTC products may be marketéldeit.S., they must be approved by the FDA for cemomal distribution. Other OT
products must comply with applicable FDA regulatipknown as OTC Monographs, in order to be markdiatido not require FDA revie
and approval before marketing. Additionally, we aréject to extensive regulation by the DEA undexr €ontrolled Substances Act,
Combat Methamphetamine Act of 2005, and related lamd regulations for research, development, matwrfag, marketing and distributi
of controlled substances and certain other pharataed active ingredients that are regulated asetisChemicals. Extensive FDA, DEA, ¢
state regulation of our products and commercialrams continues after drug product approvals, gredrequirements for our contint
marketing of our products may change even aftéialrapproval. We are also subject to regulatiodarrfederal, state and local laws, incluc
requirements regarding occupational safety, laboyatractices, environmental protection and hazasdmbstance control, and may be su
to other present and future local, state, fedardlfareign regulations, including possible futuegulations of the pharmaceutical industry.
cannot predict the extent to which we may be aéigédby legislative and other regulatory developmemscerning our products and
healthcare industry in general.

The FD&C Act, the Controlled Substances Act andeptfederal statutes and regulations govern théntgsinanufacture, quali
control, export and import, labeling, storage, rdckeeping, approval, pricing, advertising, prorantisale and distribution of pharmaceu:
products. Noncompliance with applicable requireradatith before and after approval, can subject wsthord party manufacturers and ot
collaborative partners to administrative and jumlisanctions, such as, among other things, wareiteys, fines and other monetary payme
recall or seizure of products, criminal proceedjrgyspension or withdrawal of regulatory approviatgerruption or cessation of clinical trie
total or partial suspension of production or digition, injunctions, limitations on or the limitati of claims we can make for our products,
refusal of the government to enter into supply @it for distribution directly by governmental agies, or delay in approving or refusa
approve new drug applications. The FDA also hasthbority to revoke or withhold approvals of nemuglapplications.

FDA approval is required before any "new drug," benmarketed. A "new drug" is one not generalogeized, by experts qualifi
by scientific training and experience, as safe effective for its intended use. Our products ndijsct to and in compliance with an O
Monograph are new drugs and require prior FDA aypgdtdSuch approval must be based on extensivenrgtion and data submitted in a NI
including but not limited to adequate and well colied laboratory and clinical investigations tawnstrate the safety and effectiveness c
drug product for its intended use(s). In additionptoviding required safety and effectiveness dataFDA approval, a drug manufactur
practices and procedures must comply with cGMPs;twapply to manufacturing, receiving, holding afdpping. Accordingly, manufactur:
must continue to expend time, money and effortlinapplicable areas relating to quality assuraned eegulatory compliance, includi
production and quality control to comply with cGMHA=ailure to so comply risks delays in approvaldofig products and possible Fl
enforcement actions, such as an injunction agahipment of products, the seizure of rmomplying products, criminal prosecution and/or
of the other possible consequences described aldéware subject to periodic inspection by the FDA BEA, which inspections may or n
not be announced in advance.
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The FDA Drug Approval Process

The process of drug development is complex andthgngrhe activities undertaken before a new phasutical product may |
marketed in the U.S. generally include, but are limited to, preclinical studies; submission to thBA of an Investigational New Dri
application, or IND, which must become active befouman clinical trials may commence; adequatevegidcontrolled human clinical tris
to establish the safety and efficacy of the prodsiebmission to the FDA of an NDA; acceptance fiing of the NDA by FDA; satisfactol
completion of an FDA prepproval inspection of the clinical trial sites amdnufacturing facility or facilities at which botte activi
ingredients and finished drug product are produceassess compliance with, among other thingsemainformed consent requirements,
clinical trial protocols, current Good Clinical Rteces, or GCP, and cGMPs; and FDA review and agbraf the NDA prior to any commerc
sale and distribution of the product in the U.S.

Preclinical studies include laboratory evaluatidrpmduct chemistry and formulation, and in someesa animal studies and ot
studies to preliminarily assess the potential yagetd efficacy of the product candidate. The rasok preclinical studies together w
manufacturing information, analytical data, andadet! information including protocols for proposaaiman clinical trials are then submitte:
the FDA as a part of an IND. An IND must becomesetif’e, and approval must be obtained from antutginhal Review Board, or IRB, mt
be obtained, prior to the commencement of humaniceli trials. The IND becomes effective 30 days$oiwing its receipt by the FDA unless
FDA objects to, or otherwise raises concerns ostipes and imposes a clinical hold. We, the FDAh& IRB may suspend or terminal
clinical trial at any time after it has commencad do safety or efficacy concerns or for commergtalsons. In the event that FDA objeci
the IND and imposes a clinical hold, the IND spansist address any outstanding FDA concerns ortigmssto the satisfaction of the FI
before clinical trials can proceed or resume. Tharebe no assurance that submission of an INDreslilt in FDA authorization to commel
clinical trials.

Human clinical trials are typically conducted imgl phases that may sometimes overlap or be cothbine

Phase 1: This phase is typically the first involving humgarticipants, and involves the smallest numbehwian participan
(typically, 2050). The investigational drug is initially introdedt into healthy human subjects or patients anédefstr safety, dosa
tolerance, absorption, metabolism, distribution ardretion. In addition, it is sometimes possildegain a preliminary indication
efficacy.

Phase 2 Once the preliminary safety and tolerability loé tdrug in humans is confirmed during phase 1, gRasvolves studies ir
somewhat larger group of study subjects. Unlikespha studies, which typically involve healthy salge participants in phase
studies may be affected by the disease or condibiowhich the product candidate is being developdthse 2 studies are intende
identify possible adverse effects and safety riskgvaluate the efficacy of the product for spedidrgeted diseases, and to deteri
appropriate dosage and tolerance.

Phase 3: Phase 3 trials typically involve a large numbefspatients affected by the disease or conditianvibich the produs
candidate is being developed. Phase 3 clinicdbtaee undertaken to evaluate clinical efficacy aafity under conditions resembl
those for which the product will be used in actlalical practice after FDA approval of the NDA.d%e 3 trials are typically the m
costly and time-consuming of the clinical phases.

Phase 4. Phase 4 trials may be required by FDA after fhygraval of the NDA for the product, as a conditmfrthe approval, or m:
be undertaken voluntarily by the sponsor of thal.tifhe purpose of phase 4 trials is to continuevaluate the safety and efficacy
the drug on a longerm basis and in a much larger and more diverserpigoopulation than was included in the prior ggsof clinice
investigation.
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After clinical trials have been completed, anchiéy were considered successful, the sponsor mayisatNDA or ANDA to the FD/
including the results of the preclinical and cladictesting, together with, among other things, itkdainformation on the chemist
manufacturing, quality controls, and proposed pobdabeling. There are two types of NDAs; a 505(p)DA and a 505(b)(2) NDA. A 505(b)
(1) NDA is also known as a "full NDA" and is dedmd by section 505(b)(1) of the FD&C Act as an aapion containing full reports
investigations of safety and effectiveness, in tioldito other information. The data in a full ND#&either owned by the applicant or are dat
which the applicant has obtained a right of refeeerA 505(b)(2) application is one described urs#mtion 505(b)(2) of the FD&C Act as
application for which information, or one or morktle investigations relied upon by the applicamtdpproval "were not conducted by or
the applicant and for which the applicant has ritimed a right of reference or use from the petspior for whom the investigations w
conducted". This provision permits the FDA to rédy approval of an NDA on data not developed byapgplicant, such as published litera
or the FDA's finding of safety and effectivenessaqireviously approved drug. 505(b)(2) applicatians submitted under section 505(b)(1
the FD&C Act and are therefore subject to the satatutory provisions that govern 505(b)(1) appiaad that require among other things, '
reports” of safety and effectiveness. Pfizer's sisbion for Oxecta Tablets was accepted for filiggHDA as a 505(b)(2) NDA.

505(b)(2) NDAs must include one of several differgmpes of patent certifications to each patent ihéisted in the FDA publicatic
known as the Orange Book in connection with anyipresly approved drug, the approval of which iseglupon for approval of the 505(b)
NDA. Depending on the type of certification made aipproval of the 505(b)(2) NDA may be delayedl e relevant patent(s) expire, ol
the case of a Paragraph IV Certification may leapatent litigation against the applicant and &ptial automatic approval delay of 30 moi
or more.

Each NDA requires payment of a user fee, pursuarthé¢ requirements of the Prescription Drug Uses Bet, or PDUFA, ¢
periodically amended. According to FDAfee schedule, effective on October 1, 2012,Her2013 fiscal year, the user fee for an applia
fee requiring clinical data, such as an NDA is $8,800. The FDA adjusts PDUFA user fees on an drimasis. PDUFA also imposes anr
product and facility fees. The annual product feeprescription drugs and biologics for the 20k24di year is $98,380 and the annual fac
fee for facilities used to manufacture prescriptiibngs and biologics for the 2013 fiscal year i2&500. A written request can be submittec
a waiver of the application fee for the first huntang application that is filed by a small busindsag no waivers for product or establishn
fees are available. Where we are subject to thees they are significant expenditures that maypdared in the future and must be paid a
time of submission of each application to FDA.

After an NDA is submitted by an applicant, andtiisiaccepted for filing by the FDA, the FDA wilién review the NDA and, if a
when it determines that the data submitted arewsstego show that the product is safe and effedtiwés intended use, the FDA will apprc
the product for commercial distribution in the UTEhere can be no assurance that any of our produaigvelopment will receive FC
approval or that even if approved, they will be rmwed with labeling that includes descriptionstefabuse deterrent features. Moreover, e\
our products in development are approved with lagehat includes descriptions of the abuse deatéfeatures of our products, advertising
promotion for the products will be limited to theegific claims and descriptions in the FDA appropeaduct labeling.

The FDA requires drug manufacturers to establighraaintain quality control procedures for manufaoty, processing and holdi
drugs and investigational products, and productstine manufactured in accordance with defined §patibns. Before approving an NDA, 1
FDA usually will inspect the facility(ies) at whidhe active pharmaceutical ingredients and finistieerdy product is manufactured, and will
approve the product unless it finds that cGMP cdéanmpke at those facility(ies) are satisfactory. He tFDA determines the NDA is t
acceptable, the FDA may outline the deficiencieshim NDA and often will request additional inforneet, thus delaying the approval ¢
product. Notwithstanding the submission of any esged additional testing or information, the FDAirnately may decide that the applical
does not satisfy the criteria for approval. Aftepduct is approved, changes to the approved ptpduch as adding new indicatic
manufacturing changes, or changes in or additiorike approved labeling for the product, may regsirtbmission of a new NDA or, in sa
instances, an NDA amendment, for further FDA reviBastapproval marketing of products in larger or diffgrpatient populations than the
that were studied during development can lead to fiedings about the safety or efficacy of the prot. This information can lead t
product sponsos requesting approval for and/or the FDA requiichgnges in the labeling of the product or evenatitiedrawal of the produ
from the market.
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The Best Pharmaceuticals for Children Act, or BP@&came law in 2002 and was subsequently reauditbdnd amended
FDAAA. The reauthorization of BPCA provides an dibfial six months of market exclusivity beyond #airation date of existing marl
exclusivities or eligible patents to NDA applicaritgt conduct acceptable pediatric studies of neav @irrentlymarketed drug products -
which pediatric information would be beneficial, identified by FDA in a Pediatric Written Reque¥he FD&C Act, as amended by
Pediatric Research Equity Act, or PREA, requires thost applications for drugs and biologics ineladpediatric assessment (unless waiv
deferred) to ensure the drugs' and biologics' gafatl effectiveness in children. Such pediatriesssient must contain data, gathered |
appropriate formulations for each age group foroltthe assessment is required, that are adequasséss the safety and effectiveness ¢
drug or the biological product for the claimed irations in all relevant pediatric subpopulationsd o support dosing and administration
each pediatric subpopulation for which the drudher biological product is safe and effective. Tleliptric assessments can only be defi
provided there is a timeline for the completionsoth studies. FDA may waive (partially or fully)etipediatric assessment requiremen
several reasons, including if the applicant can alestrate that reasonable attempts to produce atpediormulation necessary for that .
group have failed. The FDA has indicated Pfizemiempt from the pediatric studies requirement efRREA for Oxecta.

The terms of approval of any NDA for our produchdmlates, including the indication and product lalge (and, consequen
permissible advertising and promotional claims w&e make) may be more restrictive than what is sbimgthe NDA or what is desired by
Additionally, the FDA conditioned approval of OxacIablets on Pfizes’commitment to conduct Phase 4 epidemiologicalistuto assess t
actual abuse levels of Oxecta in the market. Thng and FDA approval process for our product @atds requires substantial time, efi
and financial resources, and we cannot be surathaapproval will be granted on a timely basigtiéll.

Further, drug products by FDA may be subject taiioning obligations intended to assure safe ugh@products. Specifically, unc
the FD&C Act, as amended by the Food and Drug Adstration Amendments Act of 2007, or FDAAA, FDA megquire Risk Evaluation a
Mitigation Strategies, or REMS, to manage knowrpetential serious risks associated with drugs ofobical products. If FDA finds, at t
time of approval or afterward, that a REMS is neaeg to ensure that the benefits of our productsveigh the risks associated with
products, FDA will require a REMS and, consequerttiat we take additional measures to ensure safeofithe product. Components «
REMS may include, but are not limited to, a MedmwatGuide and/or Patient Package Insert, a maetimd sales communication plan
patients or healthcare providers concerning thg,delements To Assure Safe Use, or ETASUs suchusjot limited to, patient, prescrib
and pharmacy registries, and restrictions on therngéxor methods of distribution, a REMS implemebotatsystem, and a timetable
assessment of the effectiveness of the REMS. The 3 indicated Pfizer is not required to main@iREMS for Oxecta.

In addition, we, our suppliers and our licenseesraquired to comply with extensive FDA requirensdmth before and after appro
For example, we or our licensees are requiredfdortecertain adverse reactions and production prob) if any, to the FDA, and to com
with certain requirements concerning the adveigisaind promotion of our products, which, as disctis#gove, may significantly affect 1
extent to which we can include statements or clagferencing our abuse deterrent technology inyeblhbeling and advertising. Also, qua
control and manufacturing procedures must conttouenform to cGMP after approval to avoid the prctcbeing rendered misbranded an
adulterated under the FD&C Act as a result of mactuiring problems. In addition, discovery of anytenial safety issues may resuli
changes to product labeling or restrictions onaapct manufacturer, potentially including removétte product from the market.

Whether or not FDA NDA approval in the U.S. hasrbebtained, approvals from comparable governmeetailatory authorities
foreign countries must be obtained prior to the k@ncement of commercialization of our drug productshose countries. The appra
procedure varies in complexity from country to coynand the time required may be longer or shdhtan that required for FDA approval.

FDA's OTC Monograph Process

The FDA regulates certain ngmescription drugs using an OTC Monograph whichemfinal, is published in the Code of Fed
Regulations at 21 C.F.R. Parts 3388. For example, 21 C.F.R. Part 341 sets forthptbeducts, such as pseudoephedrine hydrochlotid
may be marketed as an OTC cold, cough, allergyndiradilator, or antiasthmatic drug product in arfauitable for oral, inhalant, or topi
administration and is generally recognized as saifé effective and is not misbranded. Such prodticis meet each of the conditic
established in the OTC Monograph regulations ardther applicable regulations may be marketedowitprior approval by the FDA.
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The general conditions set forth for OTC Monograpbducts include, among other things:
« the product is manufactured at FDA registered déistahents and in accordance with cGMPs;

«» the product label meets applicable format and edntequirements including permissible “Indicatiorsid all required dosit
instructions and limitations, warnings, precautiomsd contraindications that have been establisimedn applicable OT
Monograph;

« the product contains only permissible active inggets in permissible strengths and dosage forms;

« the product contains only suitable inactive ingeeté which are safe in the amounts administereddandot interfere with tt
effectiveness of the preparation; ¢

« the product container and container components Fi2Ats requirements.

The advertising for OTC drug products is regulatsdthe Federal Trade Commission, or FTC, which gadherequires th:
advertising claims be truthful, not misleading, asdbstantiated by adequate and reliable sciengfitlence. False, misleading,
unsubstantiated OTC drug advertising may be suligeEfTC enforcement action and may also be chadiéng court by competitors or oth
under the federal Lanham Act or similar state laRenalties for false or misleading advertising rmyude monetary fines or judgments
well as injunctions against further disseminatiésuch advertising claims.

A product marketed pursuant to an OTC Monographtegegistered with the FDA and have a NationalgdD€ode listing which
required for all marketed drug products. After nedifkg, the FDA may test the product or otherwiseestigate the manufacturing ¢
development of the product to ensure compliancé wie OTC Monograph. Should the FDA determine tharoduct is not marketed
compliance with the OTC Monograph or is advertisedside of its regulations, the FDA may requirereotive action up to and includi
market withdrawal and recall.

DEA Regulation

Several of our products, if approved and marketeitl, be regulated as “controlled substances’ defined in the CSA, whi
establishes registration, security, recordkeepiagorting, storage, distribution and other requeata administered by the DEA. The DE/
concerned with the loss and diversion of potentialbused drugs into illicit channels of commercd alwsely monitors and regulates hanc
of controlled substances, and the equipment andwaterials used in their manufacture and packaging.

The DEA designates controlled substances as Sahédd) Ill, IV or V or as List | Chemicals. Schel | substances by definiti
have no established medicinal use, and may notasketed or sold in the United States. A pharmacalgiroduct may be listed as Schedul
I, IV or V, with Schedule Il substances considite present the highest risk of abuse and Schadslgbstances the lowest relative risl
abuse among such substances. List | Chemicalssarkta regulate potentially abused raw materialsh &s pseudoephedrine HCI. We bel
all of our products will receive DEA Scheduling sistent with current DEA Scheduling standards. &@mple, Oxecta Tablets are listed
Schedule Il controlled substances under the CS&stme as all other oxycodone HCI products. Coreselyy their manufacture, shipme
storage, sale and use will be subject to a highhedegf regulation. For example, generally, all $che Il drug prescriptions must be signed
physician, physically presented to a pharmacistraag not be refilled without a new prescription.

Annual DEA registration is required for any fagilithat manufactures, tests, distributes, dispensgmrts or exports any controll
substance or List | Chemical. Except for certainADdefined coincidental activities, each registration is specth a particular location a
activity. For example, separate registrations aeded for import and manufacturing, and each magish must specify which schedules
controlled substances are authorized.
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The DEA typically inspects a facility to review is@curity measures prior to issuing a registrasind, thereafter, on a periodic be
Security requirements vary by controlled substasceedule, with the most stringent requirements yapplto Schedule | and Schedul
substances. Required security measures includey@otber things, background checks on employeeghysical control of inventory throu
measures such as vaults, cages, surveillance cauanadanventory reconciliations. Records must batamed for the handling of all controll
substances and List | Chemicals, and periodic tepmade to the DEA, for example distribution repdidr Schedule | and Il controll
substances, Schedule 11l substances that are itacand other designated substances. Reportsaisasbe made for thefts or significant los
of any controlled substance and List | Chemicafg] 8 obtain authorization to destroy any contl&ibstance and List | Chemicals
addition, special authorization, notification aretipit requirements apply to imports and exports.

In addition, a DEA quota system controls and lintlits availability and production of controlled starses in Schedule | or Il and L
I Chemicals. Distributions of any Schedule | orcbintrolled substance must also be accomplishedyuspecial order forms, with cop
provided to the DEA. Because Oxecta Tablets areddhb Il they are subject to the DEAproduction and procurement quota scheme
DEA establishes annually an aggregate quota for mowh oxycodone active ingredient may be produnddtal in the United States basec
the DEA's estimate of the quantity needed to meet legignsatentific and medicinal needs. This limited @&ggite amount of oxycodone t
the DEA allows to be produced in the United Sta@sh year is allocated among individual comparnié®, must submit applications annui
to the DEA for individual production and procurermeumotas. We or our licensees must receive an amquada from the DEA in order
produce or procure any Schedule | or Schedulebbstsunce and List | Chemicals. The DEA may adjugiregate production quotas
individual production and procurement quotas frammetto time during the year, although the DEA halsssantial discretion in whether or
to make such adjustments. Our or our licensgesta of an active ingredient may not be suffictentneet commercial demand or complete
manufacture or purchase of material required fimiaadl trials. Any delay or refusal by the DEA istablishing our or our licenseeguota fo
controlled substances or List | Chemicals couldgelr stop our clinical trials or product launchesinterrupt commercial sales of our prod
which could have a material adverse effect on ogirtess, financial position and results of operstio

The DEA also regulates Listed Chemicals, which @remicals that may be susceptible to abuse, dorersind use in the illic
manufacture of controlled substances. Some Listedn@cals, including pseudoephedrine, are used iws prescription and OTC dr
products. DEA and state laws and regulations imgasensive recordkeeping, security, distributiamg aeporting requirements for compail
that handle, manufacture, or distribute Listed Cicals, including lawful drug products containingstad Chemicals. In particular, OTC d
products containing certain Listed Chemicals, idiolg pseudoephedrine, are required to be secutdddthe pharmacy counter and dispel
to customers directly by a pharmacist only in leditquantities. Pharmacists must obtain proof oftithe from customers, and must ki
detailed records and make reports to the DEA raggrshles of such products. Individual states naagl in some cases have, imposed st
requirements on the sale of drug products contgihiisted Chemicals, including requiring a docsopgrescription prior to dispensing s
products to a customer.

The DEA conducts periodic inspections of registasthblishments that handle controlled substamed isted Chemicals. Failure
maintain compliance with applicable requirementstipularly as manifested in loss or diversion, casult in enforcement action that cc
have a material adverse effect on our businessltsesf operations and financial condition. The DBy seek civil penalties, refuse to rei
necessary registrations, or initiate proceedinggewoke those registrations. In certain circumstanoviolations could lead to crimii
prosecution.

Individual states also regulate controlled substarend List | Chemicals, and we or our licenseessabject to such regulation
several states with respect to the manufacturdwtace distribution of these products.
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Pharmaceutical Coverage, Pricing and Reimbursement

In the United States, the commercial success ofpooduct candidates will depend, in part, upon dkailability of coverage ai
reimbursement from thirgarty payers at the federal, state and privatelde@overnment payer programs, including Medicareé &ledicaid
private health care insurance companies and mareagedolans may deny coverage or reimbursemera fsoduct or therapy in whole or
part if they determine that the product or theregppot medically appropriate or necessary. Alsadtparty payers have attempted to cor
costs by limiting coverage and the amount of reirmbment for particular procedures or drug treatméertie United States Congress and
legislatures from time to time propose and adofitatives aimed at cost containment, which coulgatt our ability to sell our produ
profitably.

For example, in March 2010, President Obama signidlaw the Patient Protection and Affordable CAt, as amended by t
Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act, whieh refer to collectively as the Health Care Refdraw, a sweeping law intended
broaden access to health insurance, reduce orraom#te growth of healthcare spending, enhancedés against fraud and abuse, add
transparency requirements for healthcare and hiitinance industries, impose new taxes and feéiseohealth industry and impose additic
health policy reforms. Among other cost containntertisures, the Healthcare Reform Law establishes:

« An annual, nondeductible fee on any entity that ufiactures or imports certain branded prescriptioigsl and biologi
agents

« A new Medicare Part D coverage gap discount progmmwhich pharmaceutical manufacturers who wishdee their drug
covered under Part D must offer discounts to dkgiieneficiaries during their coverage gap pertbd“donut hol”); and

« A new formula that increases the rebates a marurtzcinust pay under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Pmgra

We will not know the full effects of the Health @aReform Law until applicable federal and statenages issue regulations
guidance under the new law. Although it is too eaol determine the effect of the Health Care Refduaw, the new law appears likely
continue the pressure on pharmaceutical pricinge@ally under government programs, and may alsease our or our licenseesgulaton
burdens and operating costs. Moreover, in the cgm@ars, additional changes could be made to gowemtal healthcare programs that c«
significantly impact the success of our products.

The cost of pharmaceuticals continues to generabstantial governmental and thipdwty payer interest. We expect that
pharmaceutical industry will experience pricinggsares due to the trend toward managed healthbarécreasing influence of managed
organizations and additional legislative propos@lsr or our licenseesesults of operations could be adversely affectedusrent and futu
healthcare reforms.

In international markets, reimbursement and healhg@ayment systems vary significantly by counamd many countries hs
instituted price ceilings on specific products dinerapies. There can be no assurance that our gsodill be considered medically reason:
and necessary for a specific indication, that owdpcts will be considered cost-effective by thirakty payers, that an adequate leve
coverage or payment will be available so that tiigdtparty payersreimbursement policies will not adversely affect aibility to sell ou
products profitably.

Other Healthcare Laws and Compliance Requirements

We and our licensees that commercialize our pradact subject to various federal and state lawgetiang fraud and abuse in
healthcare industry. For example, the federal AKmtkback Statute prohibits persons from knowinglydawillfully soliciting, receiving
offering or paying remuneration, directly or inditly, to induce either the referral of an individuar the furnishing, recommending,
arranging for a good or service, for which paymertly be made under a federal healthcare progranh, asiche Medicare and Medic
programs. The reach of the Atickback Statute was broadened by the Health Cafer® Law, which, among other things, amends theni
requirement of the statute so that a person otyamti longer needs to have actual knowledge ofdtaitite or specific intent to violate it in or
to have committed a violation. The Healthcare Rafbaw also provides that the government may adisatta claim including items or servis
resulting from a violation of the federal Ar€ickback Statute constitutes a false or frauduaim for purposes of the civil False Claims
or the civil monetary penalties statute. The dialse Claims Act imposes liability on any persoropdimong other things, knowingly prese
or causes to be presented, a false or fraudulaim dbr payment by a federal healthcare prograne “Hui tam”provisions of the False Clail
Act allow a private individual to bring civil actis on behalf of the federal government alleging tihe defendant has submitted a false clai
the federal government, and to share in any moyegmovery. Violations of these laws or any otheidral or state fraud and abuse laws
subject our licensees to civil and criminal pemaltiincluding fines, imprisonment and exclusionnfrparticipation in federal healthci
programs, which could harm the commercial succéssuo products and materially affect our busindssncial condition and results
operations.
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Segment Reporting

We operate in one business segment; the reseaggblopment and manufacture of innovative abusermete orally administere
pharmaceutical products.

Environmental Compliance

We are subject to regulation under federal, statelacal environmental laws and believe we are atemial compliance with such lav
We incur the usual waste disposal cost associaitbdavpharmaceutical research, development and faetoming operation.

Employees

We have 15 fulkime employees, nine of whom are engaged in theareh, development and manufacture of product datel
utilizing our proprietary Aversion®&nd Impede™ Technologies. The remaining employeesagaged in administrative legal, accoun
finance, marketing, market research, and businegslaobment activities. All of our senior managemamt most of our other employees t
had prior experience in pharmaceutical or biotetdmyocompanies. None of our employees is coveredatigctive bargaining agreements.
believe that our relations with our employees aredy

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
Our future operating results may vary substantifitiyn anticipated results due to a humber of fagtorany of which are beyond «
control. The following discussion highlights sonfettese factors and the possible impact of thestifs.on future results of operations. If

of the following factors actually occur, our bussefinancial condition or results of operationsildobe materially harmed. In that case,
value of our common stock could decline substadgtéid you may lose all or part of your investment.
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Risks Related to Our Business and Industry
We are largely dependent on the commercial sucea#g9xecta and we have not generated any revenuenfsales of Oxecta.

We anticipate that, for at least the next seveealy, our ability to generate revenues and becaoofiégble will depend in large part «
the commercial success of our only FDA approvedipe Oxecta, which in turn, will depend on sevéaators, including our licensee Pfizer’
ability to:

« successfully launch of Oxecta in the United States;
« obtain and increase market demand for, and sal&xefcta;
« Obtain acceptance of Oxecta by physicians andriatie

» obtain and maintain adequate levels of coverageraimbursement for Oxecta from commercial healdmpland governme
health programs, which we refer to collectivelytlaisd-party payors, particularly in light of the availlityi of other branded ar
generic competitive product

« maintain compliance with regulatory requirements;
« price Oxecta competitively and enter into priceedimting contracts with third-party payors;
« establish and maintain agreements with wholesaledsdistributors on commercially reasonable terms;

« manufacture and supply Oxecta to meet commercialade, including obtaining sufficient quota from tbeug Enforcemel
Adminstration; anc

« maintain intellectual property protection for Oxaeind obtaining favorable drug listing treatmenth® FDA to minimize genel
competition.

There can be no assurance that Pfizer will devotficent resources to the marketing and commeimatibn of Oxecta. Pfizes’
marketing of Oxecta may result in low market acaepé and insufficient demand for, and sales of ptiogluct. If Pfizer fails to successft
commercialize Oxecta and increase sales, we maynbkle to generate sufficient revenues to sustagrawv our business and we may ne
become profitable, and our business, financial itimmdand results of operations will be materiafyected.

If Pfizer is not successful in commercializing Oxtacour revenues and our business will suffer.

Pursuant to our license, development and commeaian agreement with a subsidiary of Pfizer, tox Pfizer Agreement, Pfizer
responsible for manufacturing, marketing, pricipggmoting, selling, and distributing Oxecta in tirited States, Canada and Mexico, ol
Pfizer Territory. If such agreement is terminatedaccordance with its terms, including due to ayparfailure to perform its obligations
responsibilities under the agreement, then we woeledl to commercialize Oxecta ourselves for whiehcwrrently have no infrastructure,
alternatively enter into a new agreement with aeofiharmaceutical company, of which no assurancédeajiven. If we are unable to build
necessary infrastructure to commercialize Oxectaadves, which would substantially increase ouremges and capital requirements tha
might not be able to fund, or are unable to fingl#able replacement commercialization partneryweeald be unable to generate any reve
from Oxecta. Even if we are successful at replatirlgcommercialization capabilities of Pfizer, aavenues and/or royalties from Oxe
could be adversely impacted.

Pfizer's manufacturing facility is currently thelsa@ommercial source of supply for Oxecta. If Pfisemanufacturing facility fails
obtain sufficient DEA quotas for oxycodone, fails source adequate quantities of active and inadtigeedients, fails to comply wi
regulatory requirements, or otherwise experiendssiptions in commercial supply of Oxecta, produetenue and our royalties could
adversely impacted.
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Pfizer has a diversified product line for which ©tee Tablets will vie for Pfizes promotional, marketing, and selling resource
Pfizer fails to commit sufficient promotional, matkng and selling resources to Oxecta, productmeeeand our royalties could be adver
impacted. Additionally, in view of Pfizes’recent acquisition of King Pharmaceuticals inrkaky 2011, there can be no assurance that
will commit the resources required for the sucagdsstmmercialization of Oxecta Tablets.

The market for our opioid product candidates ishlyigcompetitive with many marketed namuse deterrent brand and ger
products and other abuse deterrent product camdidatdevelopment. If Pfizer prices Oxecta inappetely, fails to position Oxecta propel
targets inappropriate physician specialties, oemtise does not provide sufficient promotional suppproduct revenue and our royalties ci
be adversely impacted.

Pfizer's promotional, marketing and sales activities inmazction with Oxecta are subject to various federal state fraud and ab
laws, including, without limitation, the federal #diKickback Statute and the federal False Claimg. Ade federal AntKickback Statut
prohibits persons from knowingly and willfully saolfiing, receiving, offering or paying remuneratiatirectly or indirectly, to induce, or
return for, the purchase or recommendation ofem ibr service reimbursable under a federal heakhmegram. The federal False Claims
imposes liability on any person who, among othéergd, knowingly presents, or causes to be preseatése or fraudulent claim for paym
by a federal healthcare program. If Pfizedctivities are found to be in violation of thdaes or any other federal and state fraud and
laws, Pfizer may be subject to penalties, includiivjj and criminal penalties, damages, fines drdurtailment or restructuring of its activit
with regard to the commercialization of our prodyethich could harm the commercial success of @xantd materially affect our busine
financial condition and results of operations.

Our failure to continue the development of the tlealevelopment stage products terminated by Pfizedar the Pfizer Agreement, or
successfully establish a license agreement withhanmaceutical company for the development and comeraization of such product:
will adversely impact our ability to develop, matkend sell such products and our revenues and besis will suffer.

In July 2012 Pfizer exercised its right to termenttie license to the three products in developnuerthe returned products, under
Pfizer Agreement. The termination of such licenseviges for the return to us of oxycodone hydrodd® with acetaminophen, hydrocod:
bitartrate with acetaminophen and another undisdapioid product. Pursuant to a letter agreemetwéen us and Pfizer dated Septembe
2012, the effective date of such termination wakrated from the 12wonth period provided in the Pfizer Agreement te date of the lett
agreement. As of such date, we have the right weldp the returned products on our own or in pasime with a third party. Our plan 1
developing, manufacturing and commercialize tharretd products includes entering into an agreesieritar to the Pfizer Agreement witl
strategically focused pharmaceutical company. H@nethere can be no assurance that we will be sseftdein entering into such
agreement. Pending any such agreement, we expeohtimue the development of our hydrocodone bétwith acetaminophen product
our own. Although we believe we have sufficienttcassources to fund the development of such proaiidtsubmit a corresponding NDA
the FDA, there can be no assurance that this wilthe case. The continued development of our hypdiare bitartrate with acetaminopl
product and the other returned products may recadiditional financing, which may not be available acceptable terms, or at all. In
absence of available financing, or our failure teccessfully enter into a license agreement withharipaceutical company to develop
commercialize the returned products, we may haviativ the size or scope of, or delay or abandom development of some or all of
returned products, which would adversely impactfmancial condition and results of operations.

We have a history of operating losses and may ratiave profitability sufficient to generate a posi¢ return on shareholdersinvestment
We had a net loss of $9.7 million for the year ehBecember 31, 2012, net income of $10.4 milliantfie year ended December 31, 2

and a net loss of $12.7 million and $15.8 millian the years ended December 31, 2010 and 200%atdésgly. Our future profitability wi
depend on several factors, including:
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« our receipt of royalties relating to our FDA appedvOxecta Tablets, for which we only receive ragalbn sales occurring on ¢
following February 2, 2013, the one year annivgrsdithe first commercial sale of Oxecta Tabli

« our receipt of milestone payments and royaltiestiry to our Aversion Technology products in depebent, including th
products returned by Pfizer, from future licens@ésyhich no assurance can be giv

« the receipt of FDA approval and the successful cencialization by future licensees (if any) of pretiiutilizing our Aversio
Technology and our ability to commercialize our Bdp Technology without infringing the patents attteointellectual proper
rights of third parties; an

« our successful launch and marketing of Nexafed athér products utilizing our Impede Technology, andrket acceptanc
increased demand for and sales of Nexe

We cannot assure you that our Oxecta or Nexafedugte will be successfully commercialized or ourefsion Technology products
development will be successfully developed or bgrayed for commercialization by the FDA.

We recognized revenues of $0, $20.5 million, $3ifion and $3.8 million in the years ended Decem®g&r 2012, 2011, 2010 and 20
respectively, from payments received under theelPfixgreement. However, we have not yet generatgdrayalty revenues from Oxer
product sales. Even if Pfizer succeeds in commigzitig Oxecta, or if we or a licensee succeed iveltgping and commercializing one or m
of our pipeline Aversion Technology products, omié are successful in commercializing our Impedehhelogy products, we expect
continue using cash reserves for the foreseeahlesfuOur expenses may increase in the foreseéahle as a result of continued research
development of our product candidates, including tifree products returned to us by Pfizer underPtiger Agreement, maintaining &
expanding the scope of our intellectual properynmercializing our Nexafed product, and hiring dfiional research and development staff

We will need to generate revenues from direct pcbdales or indirectly from royalties on sales ¢hiave and maintain profitability. If v
cannot successfully commercialize Nexafed, if Rfidees not successfully commercialize Oxecta, owvef or our licensee (if any) can
successfully develop, obtain regulatory approva emmmercialize our products in development, we mok be able to generate such roy
revenues or achieve future profitability. Our faluo achieve or maintain profitability would haaenaterial adverse impact on the market |
of our common stock.

We must rely on current cash reserves, technoldggrsing fees and third party financing to fund ogsions.

Pending the receipt of royalties, if any, under Biizer Agreement or milestone payments and raaltinder similar license agreem:
that we may enter into with other pharmaceuticahganies in the future, of which no assurance cagiyeEn, we must rely on our current ¢
reserves, revenues from sales of Nexafed and plarty- financing to fund operations and product dgwment activities. No assurance cal
given that current cash reserves or revenues frerafeéd product sales will be sufficient to fund ttomtinued operations and developmel
our product candidates until such time as we géaerdditional revenue from the Pfizer Agreementuay similar future license agreeme
Moreover, no assurance can be given that we wiiumeessful in raising additional financing orfufding is obtained, that such funding 1
be sufficient to fund operations until product caades utilizing our Aversion and Impede Technaotésginay be commercialized.
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Our and our licenseesability to market and promote Oxecta and other Asien Technology products by describing the abustedent
features of such products will be determined by #@A approved label for such products.

The commercial success of our Aversion Technolaggycts will depend upon our and our licensedslity to obtain FDA approve
labeling describing such products’ abuse deteffiettres or benefits. Our or our licensdasiure to achieve FDA approval of product labe
containing such information will prevent or subsiality limit our and our licenseesidvertising and promotion of such abuse deteresatufe
in order to differentiate Aversion Technology protiufrom other immediate release opioid productgaining the same active ingredients,
would have a material adverse impact on our busiaed results of operations. The FDA has publitdyes that explicit indications or clai
of abuse deterrence will not be permitted unlesshsimdications or claims are supported by doubledbicontrolled clinical studit
demonstrating an actual reduction in product abdusepatients or drug abusers. Because the cost, dimte practicality of designing a
implementing clinical studies adequate to supprplieit claims of abuse deterrence are prohibitiwe, and Pfizer are not pursuing and t
not conducted the clinical trials necessary toudelan explicit product label claim of abuse detece. Instead, we will rely on certain clin
and laboratory studies to support product labetiegcribing the relative difficulty of abusing orsusing our products and such produetsiis:
deterrent features. However, the extent to whiathsoformation is included in the FDA approved prodlabel is the subject of our and
licenseesdiscussions with, and agreement by, the FDA asqdatie NDA review process for each of our prodtenididates. The outcome
those discussions with the FDA will determine wieetive or our licensees will be able to market awdpcts with labeling that sufficien
differentiates them from other products that ham@garable therapeutic profiles. While the FDA appiblabel for Oxecta includes the res
from a clinical study which evaluated the effectsnasally snorting crushed Oxecta and commerciallpilable oxycodone tablets ¢
limitations on wetting or dissolving Oxecta, it dorot, however, include the results of our labasa&iudies intended to evaluate Oxegta’
potential to limit extraction of oxycodone HCI frodissolved Oxecta Tablets and resist conversiom amt injectable, or IV solution. T
absence of the results of these extraction andggyrstudies in the FDA approved label for Oxecty substantially limit Pfizeg ability tc
differentiate Oxecta from other immediate releasgcodone products, which would have a material esb/@ffect on market acceptanc
Oxecta and on our business and results of opegation

Notwithstanding the FDA approved labeling for Oxecthere can be no assurance that our Aversionnbémly products i
development will receive FDA approved labeling thascribes the abuse deterrent features of suclugio If the FDA does not appr¢
labeling containing such information, we or ouelisees will not be able to promote such producedan their abuse deterrent features,
not be able to differentiate such products fromeoiimmediate release opioid products containingstrae active ingredients, and may nc
able to charge a premium above the price of sunérgiroducts which could materially adversely &ffaer business and results of operations.

Because the FDA closely regulates promotional neseand other promotional activities, even if f2A initially approves produ
labeling that includes a description of the abustement characteristics of our product, as inchee of Oxecta, the FDA may object to ot
our licensees marketing claims and product advertising cammigrhis could lead to the issuance of warning et untitled letter
suspension or withdrawal of Oxecta from the marketalls, fines, disgorgement of money, operati@sfrictions, injunctions or crimir
prosecution, which could harm the commercial susadsour product and materially affect our busindssmncial condition and results
operations.

Our product candidates are unproven and may notdpproved by the FDA.

We are committing a majority of our resources t® development of product candidates utilizing ouesion and Impede Technolog
Notwithstanding the receipt of FDA approval of Ote¢ablets and our marketing of Nexafed, therelmno assurance that any other pra
candidate utilizing our Aversion or Impede Techmids will meet FDAS standards for commercial distribution. Furthezré¢hcan be r
assurance that other product candidates that malg\eloped using Aversion Technology or Impede Tetdgy will achieve the targeted €
points in the required clinical studies or perfoasintended in other pinical and clinical studies or lead to an NDA subsion or filing
acceptance. Our failure to successfully developaatdeve final FDA approval of our product candédain development will have a mate
adverse effect on our financial condition.
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If the FDA disagrees with our determination that dain of our products meet the over-thesunter, or OTC, requirements, once thc
products are commercialized, they may be removexnfthe market; the FDA or the U.S. Federal Trade @mission, or FTC, may obje
to our advertisement and promotion of the extractioharacteristics and benefits of Nexafed.

Drugs that have been deemed safe and effectiveebifDA for use by the general public without a priggion are classified as O°
drug products. Certain OTC drug products may bernsemialized without premarket review by the FDAthke standards set forth in
applicable regulatory monograph are met. An OTC aogoaph provides the marketing conditions for theliapble OTC drug produ
including active ingredients, labeling, and otheneral requirements such as compliance with cGMIP emtablishment registration. A
product which fails to conform to each of the gaheonditions and a monograph is subject to regnfaaction. Further, although the Fl
regulates OTC drug product labeling, the FTC retgslahe advertising and marketing of OTC drug petsluWe believe that Nexafed
classified for OTC sale under an FDA OTC monognapich will allow us to commercialize them withoutlsnitting an NDA or ANDA to th
FDA. We have also determined that, provided we adlethe FDAS requirements for OTC monograph products, inclygiroduct labeling
we can advertise and promote the extraction chenatits and benefits of Nexafed which are supjgoblg our research studies. No assur
can be given, however, that the FDA will agree thiexafed may be sold under the FBATC monograph product regulations or that the
or FTC will not object to our advertisement andrpation of Nexafeds extraction characteristics and benefits. If tizBAFdetermines thi
Nexafed does not conform to the OTC monograph aveffail to meet the general conditions, once comsiakized, the product may
removed from the market and we may face variousrmstincluding, but not limited to, restrictions time marketing or distribution of st
products, warning letters, fines, product seizunejnjunctions or the imposition of civil or crimah penalties. Any of these actions r
materially and adversely affect our financial cdiati and operations. If the FDA requires that wkrsit a NDA or ANDA to obtain marketir
approval for Nexafed, this would result in subs&nadditional costs, suspend the commercializatibiNexafed and require FDA appro
prior to sale, of which no assurance can be pralitfesuch case, the label for Nexafed would bgestilto FDA review and approval and th
can be no assurance that we will be able to maXest@afed with labeling sufficient to differentiate from products that have compare
therapeutic profiles. If we are unable to advertise promote the extraction characteristics of fekawe may be unable to compete \
national brands and pharmacy chain store brands.

Our Aversion and Impede Technology products may hetsuccessful in limiting or impeding abuse or m& upon commercialization.

We are committing a majority of our resources te trevelopment of products utilizing our Aversiordadmpede Technologie
Notwithstanding the receipt of FDA approval of Otedablets and the results of our numerous clindcal laboratory studies for Oxet
Nexafed, and our Aversion and Impede Technologylyets in development, there can be no assuranteOttecta, Nexafed or any otl
product utilizing our Aversion or Impede Technokgwill perform as tested and limit or impede th&ial abuse or misuse of such produc
commercial settings. Moreover, there can be norasse that the postpproval epidemiological study required by the F&#\a condition «
approval of Oxecta will show a reduction in the sequences of abuse and misuse by patients for vidxeuta is prescribed. The failure
Oxecta, Nexafed or other products utilizing our fsien and Impede Technologies to limit or impedtualcabuse or misuse in practice
have a material adverse impact on market accepfansech products and on our financial conditiod aesults of operations.

Relying on third party CROs may result in delays aur pre-clinical, clinical or laboratory testinglf pre-clinical, clinical or laboratory
testing for our product candidates are unsuccessfat delayed, we will be unable to meet our antidipd development ar
commercialization timelines.

To obtain FDA approval to commercially sell andtdisite in the United States any of our prescripowoduct candidates, we or
licensees must submit to the FDA an NDA demonsigatamong other things, that the product candidasafe and effective for its intenc
use. As we do not possess the resources or emipline gpersonnel necessary to conduct such testiegely on CROs for the majority of t
testing with our product candidates. As a resudt,have less control over our development program thwe performed the testing entirely
our own. Third parties may not perform their resgibilities on our anticipated schedule. Delays ur a@levelopment programs co
significantly increase our product developmentsastd delay product commercialization.
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The commencement of clinical trials with our prodcandidates may be delayed for several reasorisgding but not limited to dela
in demonstrating sufficient preinical safety required to obtain regulatory ap@ioto commence a clinical trial, reaching agreetmen
acceptable terms with prospective CROs, clinidal sites and licensees, manufacturing and quaisurance release of a sufficient supply
product candidate for use in our clinical trialslam obtaining institutional review board approwalconduct a clinical trial at a prospec
clinical site. Once a clinical trial has beguniriy be delayed, suspended or terminated by usgotatery authorities due to several fact
including ongoing discussions with regulatory auities regarding the scope or design of our clinidals, a determination by us or regulai
authorities that continuing a trial presents aneasonable health risk to participants, failure ¢mduct clinical trials in accordance w
regulatory requirements, lower than anticipateduiément or retention rate of patients in clinit@ls, inspection of the clinical trial operatic
or trial sites by regulatory authorities, the imitios of a clinical hold by FDA, lack of adequatenfling to continue clinical trials, and
negative or unanticipated results of clinical sial

Clinical trials required by the FDA for commercadproval may not demonstrate safety or efficacguwfproduct candidates. Succ
in pre<linical testing and early clinical trials does rastsure that later clinical trials will be succetsResults of later clinical trials may 1
replicate the results of prior clinical trials apce-clinical testing. Even if the results of our piviopdase Il clinical trials are positive, we ¢
our licensees may have to commit substantial tinteaditional resources to conduct further gieical and clinical studies before we or
licensees can submit NDAs or obtain regulatory apgirfor our product candidates.

Clinical trials are expensive and at times diffictd design and implement, in part because theysabgect to rigorous regulatc
requirements. Further, if participating subjectgatients in clinical studies suffer drugiated adverse reactions during the course of siadh
or if we, our licensees or the FDA believes thatipigating patients are being exposed to unactdptaealth risks, we or our licensees |
suspend the clinical trials. Failure can occur may atage of the trials, and we or our licenseeddc@amncounter problems causing
abandonment of clinical trials or the need to cani@dwlditional clinical studies, relating to a protloandidate.

Even if our clinical trials and laboratory testinge completed as planned, their results may ngiatigommercially viable prodt
label claims. The clinical trial process may faildemonstrate that our product candidates areasafeeffective for their intended use. S
failure may cause us or our licensees to abangwoduct candidate and may delay the developmeothafr product candidates.

We have no commercial manufacturing capacity andyren third-party contract manufacturers to produce commercigantities of ou
products.

We do not have the facilities, equipment or perebnm manufacture commercial quantities of our picigl and therefore must rely
our licensees or other qualified thipasty contract manufactures with appropriate faediand equipment to contract manufacture comsml
guantities of products utilizing our Aversion amdpede Technologies. These licensees and thady contract manufacturers are also su
to current good manufacturing practice or cGMP latipns, which impose extensive procedural and dwmtation requirements. A
performance failure on the part of our licenseesomtract manufacturers could delay commercialiwatif any approved products, depriving
of potential product revenue.

Our drug products, including Nexafed, require pegchigh quality manufacturing. Failure by our caot manufacturers to achie
and maintain high manufacturing standards couldlr@s patient injury or death, product recallsvdthdrawals, delays or failures in testing
delivery, cost overruns, or other problems thaid¢ouaterially adversely affect our business. Cartraanufacturers may encounter difficul
involving production yields, quality control, andality assurance. These manufacturers are subjectgoing periodic unannounced inspec
by the FDA and corresponding state and foreign @igsrto ensure strict compliance with cGMP and o#pplicable government regulatio
however, beyond contractual remedies that may h#adle to us, we do not have control over thirdypananufacturerscompliance with the:
regulations and standards.

If for some reason our contract manufacturers capadorm as agreed, we may be required to replaem. Although we belie

there are a number of potential replacements, wye inaur added costs and delays in identifying andlifying any such replacements.
addition, a new manufacturer would have to be etddcim, or develop substantially equivalent proeedsr, production of our drug candidates
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We or our licensees may not obtain required FDA apyal; the FDA approval process is time-consumingdaexpensive.

The development, testing, manufacturing, markeding sale of pharmaceutical products are subjesttensive federal, state and Ic
regulation in the United States and other count@asisfaction of all regulatory requirements tybig takes years, is dependent upon the
complexity and novelty of the product candidate] amquires the expenditure of substantial resouimesesearch, development and tes
Substantially all of our operations are subjeatdmpliance with FDA regulations. Failure to adher@pplicable FDA regulations by us or
licensees would have a material adverse effect inoperations and financial condition. In addition, the event we are successfu
developing product candidates for distribution aatk in other countries, we would become subjectgalation in such countries. Such fore
regulations and product approval requirements gpeaed to be time consuming and expensive.

We or our licensees may encounter delays or rejgtiluring any stage of the regulatory review grgt@val process based upon
failure of clinical or laboratory data to demonstra&ompliance with, or upon the failure of the prodcandidates to meet, the FRA’
requirements for safety, efficacy and quality; éimolse requirements may become more stringent dobkaioges in regulatory agency polic
the adoption of new regulations. After submissiéralw NDA the FDA may refuse to file the applicatiateny approval of the applicati
require additional testing or data and/or requiostpnarketing testing and surveillance to monitor théety or efficacy of a product. F
instance, the FDA's approval of Oxecta is condiéidron Pfizer conducting a paspproval epidemiological study to assess the actoab
levels and consequences of Oxecta in the market.Prlscription Drug User Fee Act, or PDUFA, setgetstandards for the FDé&review o
NDA'’s. The FDA's timelines described in the PDUFA gnaaare flexible and subject to change based okleast and other potential revii
issues and may delay the F3&'eview of an NDA. Further, the terms of approshny NDA, including the product labeling, may tmere
restrictive than we or our licensees desire andidcaifiect the marketability of our products.

Even if we comply with all the FDA regulatory regerinents, we or our licensees may never obtain aggyl approval for any of o
product candidates in development. For examplepneeiously submitted an NDA to the FDA for an AversTechnology product containi
niacin, intended to provide impediments to oiwegesting the product. Such niacin containing pobduas not approved by the FDA. If we
our licensees fail to obtain regulatory approvalday of our product candidates in developmentwilehave fewer commercialized produ
and correspondingly lower revenues. Even if regmjapproval of our products in development is ress such approval may invol
limitations on the indicated uses or promotionalirals we or our licensees may make for our produststherwise not permit labeling tl
sufficiently differentiates our product candidafesm competitive products with comparable therajpeptofiles but without abuse deterr
features (see risk factor above entitl@bLt and our licensees ability to market and pron@tecta and other Aversion Technology produc
describing the abuse deterrent features of suatupts will be determined by the FDA approved ldbelsuch products”)Such events wou
have a material adverse effect on our operatiodsiaancial condition. We may market certain of puoducts without the prior applicatior
and approval by the FDA. The FDA may subsequerghyire us to withdraw such products and submit NDfor approval prior to re-
marketing.

The FDA also has the authority to revoke or suspeutovals of previously approved products for eatis debar companies ¢
individuals from participating in the drumpproval process, to request recalls of allegediyative products, to seize allegedly violal
products, to obtain injunctions to close manufdantuplants allegedly not operating in conformitytlweurrent cGMP and to stop shipment
allegedly violative products. In the event the FExkes any such action relating to our productsh @ations would have a material adv:
effect on our operations and financial condition.
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We must maintain FDA approval to manufacture clirat supplies of our product candidates at our fatyli failure to maintain complianc
with FDA requirements may prevent or delay the mdacture of our product candidates and costs of méacture may be higher tha
expected.

We have installed the equipment necessary to metnuéaclinical trial supplies of our Aversion aneijede Technology prodt
candidates in tablet formulations at our Culvediana facility. To be used in clinical trials, all our product candidates must be manufact
in conformity with cGMP regulations. All such pradwcandidates must be manufactured, packagedadeted and stored in accordance
cGMPs. Modifications, enhancements or changes inufiaaturing sites of marketed products are, in meingumstances, subject to Fl
approval, which may be subject to a lengthy appboaprocess or which we may be unable to obtaur. Culver, Indiana facility, and those
any thirdparty manufacturers that we or our licensees may ase periodically subject to inspection by theAF&nd other governmen
agencies, and operations at these facilities colohterrupted or halted if the FDA deems sucheéntipns are unsatisfactory. Failure to con
with FDA or other governmental regulations can lesufines, unanticipated compliance expendituresall or seizure of products, total
partial suspension of production or distributiomsgension of FDA review of our product candidatesmination of ongoing resear
disqualification of data for submission to reguigitauthorities, enforcement actions, injunctiond ariminal prosecution.

We develop our products, and manufacture clinicalpplies, at a single location. Any disruption atighfacility could adversely affect o
business and results of operations.

We rely on our Culver, Indiana facility for deveing our product candidates and the manufacturdimital supplies of our produ
candidates. If the Culver, Indiana facility weraerdayed or destroyed, or otherwise subject to digrapit would require substantial ledidae tc
repair or replace. If our Culver facility were affed by a disaster, we would be forced to relyrelgtion CROs and thirgarty contrac
manufacturers for an indefinite period of time.hltigh we believe we possess adequate insuranaiafoage to our property and for
disruption of our business from casualties, sushii@ance may not be sufficient to cover all of oateptial losses and may not continue t
available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. édeer, any disruptions or delays at our Culverjdnd facility could impair our ability -
develop our product candidates utilizing the Avamsor Impede Technologies, which could adversefgcafour business and results
operations.

Our operations are subject to environmental, healthd safety, and other laws and regulations, withish compliance is costly and whic
exposes us to penalties for non-compliance.

Our business, properties and product candidatesudnject to federal, state and local laws and egguis relating to the protection
the environment, natural resources and worker Ine@altl safety and the use, management, storageigpubdl of hazardous substances, v
and other regulated materials. Because we own pedate real property, various environmental lavg® ahay impose liability on us for t
costs of cleaning up and responding to hazardobstances that may have been released on our propefuding releases unknown to
These environmental laws and regulations also cagdire us to pay for environmental remediatiod esponse costs at thipdrty location
where we dispose of or recycle hazardous substambescosts of complying with these various envinental requirements, as they now €
or may be altered in the future, could adverseigcafour financial condition and results of opeyas.

Our failure to successfully establish new licensgraements with pharmaceutical companies for the depment and commercialization
our other products in development may adversely anpur ability to develop, market and sell suchqatucts.

The Pfizer Agreement grants Pfizer an exclusivenge to develop and commercialize Oxecta. We helieat opportunities exist
enter into agreements similar to the Pfizer Agregméth other partners for the commercializationG{ecta outside the Pfizer Territory,
the development and commercialization of our oth@oid analgesic products (including the produetsimed to us by Pfizer under the Pf
Agreement) in the United States and worldwide, fandhe development and commercialization of add#il Aversion Technology and Impe¢
Technology product candidates for other abusednaisdsed drugs, such as tranquilizers, stimulaet$atsres and nasal decongestants il
United States and worldwide. However, there camdassurance that we will be successful in enterig such license agreements in
future. If we are unable to enter into such agreemeour ability to develop and commercialize owduct candidates, and our finan
condition and results of operations, would be askgraffected.
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If our licensees do not satisfy their obligationse will be unable to develop our licensed produahdidates.

As part of our Pfizer Agreement or other futureiamlicense agreements (if any), we do not andl mat have day-tatay control ove
the activities of our licensees with respect to pryduct candidate. If a licensee fails to fulfif obligations under an agreement with us
may be unable to assume the development of theupradndidate covered by that agreement or to emteralternative arrangements w
another third party. In addition, we may encourdelays in the commercialization of the product ¢daig that is the subject of a lice
agreement. Accordingly, our ability to receive aryenue from the product candidates covered by agobements will be dependent on
efforts of our licensee. We could be involved ispites with a licensee, which could lead to delays termination of, our development
commercialization programs and result in time comisig and expensive litigation or arbitration. Indén, any such dispute could dimin
our licensees commitment to us and reduce the resources thegtaldo developing and commercializing our produdtsany license
terminates or breaches its agreement, or othefailseto complete its obligations in a timely manmaur chances of successfully developin
commercializing our product candidates would beemally adversely effected. Additionally, due taethature of the market for our proc
candidates, it may be necessary for us to licethge a significant portion of our product candidato a single company thereby eliminating
opportunity to commercialize other product candidawith other licensees.

If we fail to maintain our license agreement withfi2er, we may have to commercialize Oxecta on owno

Our plan for manufacturing and commercializing Gaetablets currently requires us to maintain otgrise agreement with Pfizer
addition to other customary termination provisiothe Pfizer Agreement provides that Pfizer may teate the Pfizer Agreement at any t
upon written notice to us. If Pfizer elects to terate the Pfizer Agreement, or if we are otherwisable to maintain our existing relations
with Pfizer, we would have to commercialize Oxeataiselves for which we currently have no infrastmue, or alternatively enter into a n
agreement with another pharmaceutical company,le€twno assurance can be given. Our ability to censialize Oxecta on our own
require additional financing, which may not be &aale on acceptable terms, or at all.

The market may not be receptive to products incagimg our Aversion or Impede Technologies

The commercial success of our products will depmmacceptance by health care providers and othatstich products are clinice
useful, coseffective and safe. There can be no assurance dhatnour products utilizing the Aversion or Impetlechnologies would |
accepted by health care providers and others. Eatttat may materially affect market acceptanceusfproduct candidates include but are
limited to:

« the relative advantages and disadvantages of odupts compared to competitive products;

« the relative timing to commercial launch of our gmots compared to competitive products;

« the relative safety and efficacy of our productspared to competitive products;

« the product labeling approved by the FDA for owrdurcts;

« the perception of health care providers of thele i@ helping to prevent abuse and their willinghés prescribe abusieterrer
products to do sc

« the willingness of third party payers to reimbufseour prescription products;

« the willingness of pharmacy chains to stock ouréd®w Technology products; and

« the willingness of consumers to pay for our product

Oxecta and our product candidates, if successtidiyeloped and commercially launched, will compeith Wwoth currently markete
and new products launched in the future by otherpamies. Health care providers may not acceptili@euaainy of our products. Physicians .
other prescribers may not be inclined to prescabe prescription products unless our products detnate commercially viable advanta
over other products currently marketed for the sardications. Pharmacy chains may not be willingtiock our Impede Technology prodt
and pharmacists may not recommend such produaterteumers. Further, consumers may not be willingumchase our products. If
products do not achieve market acceptance, we iayenable to generate significant revenues orregqarofitable.
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If we are not successful in commercializing Nexafadd other Impede Technology products our revenaesl business will suffer.

We commenced the launch and commercial distributibiNexafed in mid@ecember 2012. Nexafed will compete in the hi
competitive market for cold, sinus and allergy pratd generally available to the consumer withoprescription. Many of our competitc
have substantially greater financial and other usses and are able to expend more funds and effart us in marketing their compet
products. Category leading brands are often supgdry regional and national advertising and proomati efforts. Nexafed will compete w
national brands as well as pharmacy store brands ate offered at a lower price. There can be rsurasce that we will succeed
commercializing Nexafed, or that even if commeiz&d, that the pricing of Nexafed will allow us generate significant revenues or pr
Regulations have been enacted in several statecal jurisdictions requiring a doctsrprescription to obtain pseudoephedrine produat
expansion of such restrictions to other jurisdizsiar even nationally will adversely impact ourliépito market Nexafed as an OTC proc
and generate revenue from Nexafed product sales.

If we, our licensees or others identify serious atlse events or deaths relating to any of our prottuonce on the market, we may
required to withdraw our products from the markethich would hinder or preclude our ability to genate revenues.

We or our licensees are required to report to eglevegulatory authorities all serious adverse &vendeaths involving our prodi
candidates or approved products. If we, our licesser others identify such events, regulatory @itiks may withdraw their approvals of si
products; we or our licensees may be requiredftomailate our products; we or our licensees mayehawecall the affected products from
market and may not be able to reintroduce them threanarket; our reputation in the marketplace swfer; and we may become the targe
lawsuits, including class actions suits. Any ofsiievents could harm or prevent sales of the afigatoducts and could materially adver
affect our business and financial condition.

Our revenues may be adversely affected if we faibbtain insurance coverage or adequate reimbursemmfer our products from third-
party payers.

The ability of our licensees to successfully conutadize our products may depend in part on thelabgity of reimbursement for o
prescription products from government health adstiation authorities, private health insurers, atiger thirdparty payers and administratc
including Medicaid and Medicare. We cannot prediet availability of reimbursement for newapproved products utilizing our Avers
Technology. Thirdparty payers and administrators, including statedivid programs and Medicare, are challenging teep charged f
pharmaceutical products. Government and other-ftartly payers increasingly are limiting both coveramd the level of reimbursement
new drugs. Thirgparty insurance coverage may not be available teemta for any of our products candidates. The iooittg efforts o
government and thirgarty payers to contain or reduce the costs oftthealre may limit our commercial opportunity. Ifvggsnment and oth
third-party payers do not provide adequate coverage aimdbursement for any product utilizing our Aversidechnology, health ce
providers may not prescribe them or patients mdy their health care providers to prescribe comgetimoducts with more favorat
reimbursement. In some foreign markets, pricing prdditability of pharmaceutical products are sabj® government control. In the Uni
States, we expect there may be federal and stapogals for similar controls. In addition, we expthat increasing emphasis on managed
in the United States will continue to put pressamethe pricing of pharmaceutical products. Costrmbiinitiatives could decrease the price
we or our licensees charge for any of our prodircthe future. Further, cost control initiativesuteh impair our ability or the ability of o
licensees to commercialize our products and olityabd earn revenues from commercialization.

In both the United States and certain foreign gicigsons, there have been and we expect there asilitinue to be a number
legislative and regulatory changes to the healtle sgstem that could impact our or our licensedslity to sell our products profitably.
particular, in 2010, the Patient Protection AffdildaCare Act, as amended by the Health Care anddfidn Reconciliation Act, collective
the Healthcare Reform Law, was enacted. The Hemkh&eform Law substantially changes the way heafth is financed by bc
governmental and private insurers and significaatfgcts the pharmaceutical industry. Among thevisions of the Healthcare Reform Law
greatest importance to the pharmaceutical indusgythe following:

« An annual, nondeductible fee on any entity that ufactures or imports certain branded prescriptinrgsl and biologic agen
beginning in 2011
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« Anincrease in the minimum rebates a manufacturestpay under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program;

« A new Medicare Part D coverage gap discount prograrder which manufacturers must agree to offep&@ent point-okale
discounts off negotiated prices of applicable brdneys to eligible beneficiaries during their caage gap period, as a condit
for the manufactur’s outpatient drugs to be covered under MedicarePdveginning in 2011

« Extension of manufacturex’Medicaid rebate liability to covered drugs disgeghto individuals who are enrolled in Medic
managed care organizations, effective March 23028ad

« A new Patiencentered Outcomes Research Institute to oversemtifiy priorities in, and conduct comparative atia
effectiveness researc

At this time, it remains uncertain what the fullgact of these provisions will be on the pharmacaltindustry generally or o
business in particular.

Consolidation in the healthcare industry could ledd demands for price concessions or for the exabmsof some suppliers from certa
of our markets, which could have an adverse effentour business, financial condition or results operations.

Because healthcare costs have risen significamtijyerous initiatives and reforms by legislaturegutators and thirgharty payers 1
curb these cost increases have resulted in a tretitk healthcare industry to consolidate produgiptiers and purchasers. As the healtr
industry consolidates, competition among suppliensrovide products to purchasers has become mtaese. This in turn has resulted and
likely continue to result in greater pricing pregsiand the exclusion of certain suppliers fromadrtgnt market segments as group purchi
organizations, and large single accounts contiouese their market power to influence product pgcand purchasing decisions. We ex
that market demand, government regulation, tpady reimbursement policies and societal pressaittgontinue to influence the worldwir
healthcare industry, resulting in further businesesolidations, which may exert further downwardsgsure on the prices of our anticipi
products. This downward pricing pressure may aegispact our business, financial condition omutesof operations. Under our agreen
with Pfizer, Pfizer controls the price of Oxectalanay provide price discounts and price reductianiss discretion. Such price discounts
reductions will reduce the net sales of our licenzeducts and, correspondingly, our royalty paytsi@hany, under the Pfizer Agreement.

Our success depends on our ability to protect autellectual property.

Our success depends on our ability to obtain anidtaia patent protection for products developedizitig our technologies, in tl
United States and in other countries, and to erftihese patents. The patent positions of pharmaaétditms, including us, are gener
uncertain and involve complex legal and factualsgjoas. Notwithstanding our receipt of U.S. Patiiot 7,201,920 and U.S. Patent
7,510,726 from the USPTO encompassing our opiaiduyoets utilizing our Aversion Technology, and UP&tent No. 7,981,439 encompas
certain non-opioid products utilizing our Aversidechnology, there is no assurance that any of aterp claims in our other pending non
provisional and provisional patent applicationsatielg to our technologies will issue or if issuditat any of our existing and future pa
claims will be held valid and enforceable agaifstdtparty infringement or that our products wilbtninfringe any thirdearty patent c
intellectual property. Moreover, any patent claimigting to our technologies may not be sufficigttoad to protect our products. In addit
issued patent claims may be challenged, potentiaifglidated or potentially circumvented. Our patefaims may not afford us protect
against competitors with similar technology or pierthe commercialization of our products withoufringing thirdparty patents or oth
intellectual property rights.

Our success also depends on our not infringingnpatesued to others. We may become aware of gabeidnging to competitors
others that could require us to obtain licensesuth patents or alter our technologies. Obtainua dicenses or altering our technology ct
be time consuming and costly. We may not be ablebtain a license to any technology owned by anged to a third party that we or
licensees require to manufacture or market onearerof our products. Even if we can obtain a liegrike financial and other terms may
disadvantageous.
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Our success also depends on maintaining the canii@diéy of our trade secrets and kndwew. We seek to protect such informatiotr
entering into confidentiality agreements with enygles, potential licensees, raw material supplievstract research organizations, con
manufacturers, consultants and other parties. Thgements may be breached by such parties. Wenatdye able to obtain an adequatt
perhaps, any remedy to such a breach. In additontrade secrets may otherwise become known dandependently developed by 1
competitors. Our inability to protect our intelleat property or to commercialize our products withinfringing thirdparty patents or oth
intellectual property rights would have a mateaidVerse affect on our operations and financial itmmd

We also rely on or intend to rely on our tradematkade names and brand names to distinguish @alupts from the products of
competitors, and have registered or applied tostegimany of these trademarks. However, our trademyaplications may not be approv
Third parties may also oppose our trademark apmica or otherwise challenge our use of the tragksadn the event that our trademarks
successfully challenged, we could be forced toamtbrour product, which could result in loss of loraecognition and could require us
devote resources to advertising and marketing these brands. Further, our competitors may infrioge trademarks, or we may not h
adequate resources to enforce our trademarks.

We may become involved in patent litigation or othetellectual property proceedings relating to odtversion or Impede Technologi
or product candidates which could result in liabiyi for damages or delay or stop our development anchmercialization efforts.

The pharmaceutical industry has been characteriaedsignificant litigation and other proceedings amting patents, pate
applications and other intellectual property rigfitise situations in which we may become partiesuith litigation or proceedings may include:

« litigation or other proceedings we or our licensgapay initiate against third parties to enforce patent rights or oth
intellectual property rights, including the PargdrdV Proceedings described belc

« litigation or other proceedings we or our licensg@fay initiate against third parties seeking tmlidate the patents held by s
third parties or to obtain a judgment that our jpicid do not infringe such third part patents

« litigation or other proceedings third parties majiate against us or our licensee(s) to seek\alidate our patents or to obtai
judgment that third party products do not infrirme patents

« if our competitors file patent applications thatiol technology also claimed by us, we may be fotoguharticipate in interferen
or opposition proceedings to determine the priasftinvention and whether we are entitled to patggitts on such invention; ar

- if third parties initiate litigation claiming thaur products infringe their patent or other intefleal property rights, we will need
defend against such proceedin

The costs of resolving any patent litigation, irtihg the Paragraph IV Proceedings, or other irtelle property proceeding, evel
resolved in our favor, could be substantial. Mahpur potential competitors will be able to sustie cost of such litigation and proceed
more effectively than we can because of their suttistlly greater resources. Uncertainties resulfiogn the initiation and continuation
patent litigation or other intellectual propertyopeedings could have a material adverse effectunrability to compete in the marketpla
Patent litigation, including the Paragraph IV Pextiags, and other intellectual property proceedimgy also consume significant manager
time.
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In the event that a competitor infringes upon oatept or other intellectual property rights, enfogcthose rights may be cos
difficult and time consuming. Even if successfitightion to enforce our intellectual property righor to defend our patents against chall
could be expensive and time-consuming and couldrtliour managemest’attention. We may not have sufficient resourcesriforce ot
intellectual property rights or to defend our patenother intellectual property rights againsthalenge. If we are unsuccessful in enfor
and protecting our intellectual property rights gdtecting our products, it could harm our businds certain circumstances, our licer
Pfizer has the first right to control the enforcemef certain of our patents against third partyimgers. Pfizer may not put adequate resot
or effort into such enforcement actions or otheews! to restrain infringing products. In additian an infringement proceeding, including
Paragraph IV Proceedings, a court may decide thtent of ours is invalid or is unenforceablenmy refuse to stop the other party fi
using the technology at issue on the grounds thatpatents do not cover the technology in questim.adverse result in any litigatic
including the Paragraph IV Proceedings, or defgmseeedings could put one or more of our patentskatof being invalidated or interpre!
narrowly and could put our patent applicationssit of not issuing.

Our technologies or products may be found to igkirtlaims of patents owned by others. If we deteenthat we are, or if we ¢
found to be infringing a patent held by anothemyawre, our suppliers or our licensees might havedek a license to make, use, and se
patented technologies and products. In that caseow suppliers or our licensees might not be tbtEbtain such license on acceptable te
or at all. The failure to obtain a license to ahyrd party technology that may be required wouldterially harm our business, financ
condition and results of operations. If a legalacis brought against us or our licensee(s), waddcncur substantial defense costs, and
such action might not be resolved in our favosu€h a dispute is resolved against us, we may foapay the other party large sums of mc
and use of our technology and the testing, manufiagf, marketing or sale of one or more of our picid could be restricted or prohibit
Even prior to resolution of such a dispute, usewftechnology and the testing, manufacturing, midnk or sale of one or more of our prod
could be restricted or prohibited.

We are aware of certain United States and inteynakipending patent applications owned by thirdiparwith claims potential
encompassing Oxecta and our Aversion products ureldpment. While we do not expect the claims caomdiin such pending pat
applications will issue in their present form, #heran be no assurance that such patent applicatidihaot issue as patents with clai
encompassing one or more of our product candidHtssch patent applications result in valid anfbeceable issued patents, containing cl:
in their current form or otherwise encompassingmoaducts we or our licensees may be required taila license to such patents, should
be available, or alternatively, alter our produstsas to avoid infringing such thighrty patents. If we or our licensees are unablebtain :
license on commercially reasonable terms, or atwadl or our licensees could be restricted or pracefrom commercializing our produc
Additionally, any alterations to our products o dachnologies could be time consuming and costly may not result in technologies
products that are non-infringing or commerciallghie.

We are aware of an issued United States patentdWwpe third party having claims encompassing the of one of our Aversi
inactive ingredients in a controlled release phaeutécal preparation. We are also aware of an dsélrated States patent owned by a t
party having claims encompassing a pharmaceutigggpation containing viscosity producing ingretethat can be drawn into a syril
when dissolved in 10mE’or less of aqueous solution. While we believe th Aversion products do not infringe these pttear that suc
patents are otherwise invalid, there can be norasesa that we or Pfizer will not be sued for inflimg these patents, and if sued, there ci
no assurance that we or Pfizer will prevail in aagh litigation. If we or Pfizer are found to infge either or both of these patents, we or F
may seek a license to use the patented techndliogye are unable to obtain such a license, of wiiohassurance can be given, we or P
may be restricted or prevented from commercializingAversion products.

We are aware of certain issued United States matemied by a third party having claims encompasaipgocess used to manufac
oxycodone HCI of high purity and pharmaceuticalquats resulting therefrom. As required by the FIDXecta contains a similar high pu
oxycodone HCI manufactured by a supplier that is the owner or licensee of such patents. The owafighese patents has filed pa
infringement actions relating to these patentsragaiompanies that have filed abbreviated new dpplications with the FDA for extended-
release versions of oxycodone HCI. To our knowledige patent owner has not initiated any patemtrigément actions against the seller
immediate-release oxycodone HCI products or thgipBers of oxycodone HCI, however, we cannot beeage that these immediateleas
products actually utilize a high purity oxycodoh€e cannot provide assurance that Pfizer or its odgne HCI supplier will not be sued
infringing these patents. In the event of an irfeément action, Pfizer and their oxycodone HCI sigpptould have to either: (a) demonst
that the manufacture of the oxycodone HCI used xedta does not infringe the patent claims, (b) destrate the patents are invalic
unenforceable, or (c) enter into a license withghtent owner. If Pfizer or their oxycodone HCI gligr is unable to demonstrate the foregc
or obtain a license to these patients, Pfizer neaseluired or choose to withdraw Oxecta from theketa
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We are aware of a certain issued United Statesypatened by a third party having claims similaraior second generation Impe
Technology directed to ingredient amounts thatggmeerally less than the amounts used in our teoggoMhile we believe our technolc
does not infringe this patent, we cannot providaieence that we will not be sued under such pateifitsued, that we will prevail in any st
suit.

We cannot assure you that our technologies, preduuat/or actions in developing our products wilt mdringe thirdparty patent:
Our failure to avoid infringing thirgbarty patents and intellectual property rightshie tlevelopment and commercialization of our prcg
would have a material adverse affect on our opmmatand financial condition.

Generic manufacturers are using litigation and retatory means to seek approval for generic versiafi¥xecta, which could cause o
and our licensee’s sales to suffer.

Under the HatchWaxman Act, the FDA can approve an ANDA for a geneersion of a branded drug and what is refermedd
Section 505(b)(2) NDA, for a branded variation of existing branded drug, without requiring such liggpt to undertake the full clinic
testing necessary to obtain approval to marketvadreg. An ANDA applicant usually needs to only subdata demonstrating that its proc
has the same active ingredient(s) and is bioeceitdb the branded product, in addition to any deigessary to establish that any differen
strength, dosage form, inactive ingredients, oivdey mechanism does not result in different safatyefficacy profiles, as compared to
reference drug.

The Hatchwaxman Act requires an applicant for a drug thidresces one of our branded drugs to notify useif tapplication if the
assert in their application that the patents weeHssted in the Orange Book will not be infringedatherwise are invalid or unenforceabls
Paragraph IV Certification). Upon receipt of thistine we have 45 days to bring a patent infringenseit in federal district court against s
applicant. If such a suit is commenced, the FDgeigerally prohibited from granting approval of #&&DA or Section 505(b)(2) NDA until tt
earliest of 30 months from the date the FDA acakpie application for filing, the conclusion ofigiation in the generig' favor or expiration «
the patent(s). If the litigation is resolved in éaof the applicant or the challenged patent expitering the 30nonth stay period, the stay
lifted and the FDA may thereafter approve the apgpion based on the standards for approval of ANBAd Section 505(b)(2) ND/
Frequently, the unpredictable nature and significasts of patent litigation leads the parties dtils to remove this uncertainty. Settlen
agreements between branded companies and genplicaaps may allow, among other things, a genemeipct to enter the market prior to
expiration of any or all of the applicable pateotwering the branded product, either through theduction of an authorized generic ot
providing a license to the applicant for the patentbject to the litigation.

On September 20, 2012, we announced that we hatseglca Paragraph IV Certification Notice underl2$6.C. 355(j) (a Paragra
IV Notice) from a generic sponsor of an ANDA foganeric drug listing Oxecta as the reference ligied). Since such date, we have rece
similar Paragraph IV Notices from three other genpharmaceutical companies that have filed ANDi&8Hg Oxecta as the reference d
The Paragraph IV Notices refer to our U.S. Patemnbers 7,201,920, 7,510,726 and 7,981,439, whielkercour Aversion Technology a
Oxecta. The Paragraph IV Notices state that eankriggesponsor believes that such patents are thvatienforceable or not infringed. Pfi
has advised us that it will not exercise its fiight under our license agreement to control thiereement of our patents licensed to Pfize
Oxecta against these generic sponsors. As a resudctober 31, 2012, we initiated suit againsheafdWatson Laboratories, IncFlorida, Pa
Pharmaceutical, Inc., Impax Laboratories, Inc. &ahdoz Inc. in the United States District Court floe District of Delaware allegil
infringement of our U.S. Patent No. 7,510,726 tisiethe FDAS Orange Book. The commencement of such litiggtimhibits the FDA fror
granting approval of the filed ANDAs until the gast of 30 months from the date the FDA acceptedafiplication for filing, or the conclusi
of litigation. The above actions are referred taohes” Paragraph IV Proceeding$
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Litigation is inherently uncertain and we cannoegict the outcome of the Paragraph IV Proceediffgany of these genei
companies prevails its respective lawsuit and s &bobtain FDA approval of its product, it mayddele to launch its generic version of Ox
prior to the expiration of our patents in 2025. Aubhally, it is possible that other generic maraitaers may also seek to launch a gel
version of Oxecta and challenge our patents. Angrdenation in the Paragraph IV Proceedings that matents covering our Aversi
Technology and Oxecta are invalid or unenforceaiblayhole or in part, or that the products covebgdgeneric sponsorsANDAs do no
infringe our patents, could have a material advaffeet on our operations and financial condition.

We may be exposed to product liability claims andymot be able to obtain or maintain adequate praetiiiability insurance.

Our business exposes us to potential product iialyisks, which are inherent in the testing, mamtifiring, marketing and sale
pharmaceutical products. Product liability claimigint be made by patients, or health care providexghers that sell or consume our prodi
These claims may be made even with respect to fhiashicts that possess regulatory approval for ceroial sale. We are currently cove
by clinical trial product liability insurance on @daimsimade basis and for product liability insurance cimge our sale and distribution
Nexafed. This coverage may not be adequate to @weproduct liability claims. Product liability eerage is expensive. In the future, we
not be able to maintain such product liability ireswce at a reasonable cost or in sufficient amounfsotect us against losses due to prc
liability claims. Any claims that are not covered jproduct liability insurance could have a mategdverse effect on our business, finar
condition and results of operations.

The pharmaceutical industry is characterized bgueat litigation. Those companies with significfinancial resources will be bet
able to bring and defend any such litigation. Neuaance can be given that we would not becomewdoin future litigation, in addition to t
ongoing Reglan/Metoclopramide mass tort litigat@tiscussed below under “ltem 3. Legal Proceedingsich litigation may have matel
adverse consequences to our financial conditiorresults of operations.

We face significant competition which may result athers developing or commercializing products bef@r more successfully than \
do.

Our products and technologies will, if marketednpete to varying degrees against both brand andrigeproducts offering simil.
therapeutic benefits and being developed and nedkey small and large pharmaceutical (for presiompproducts) and consumer packe
goods (for OTC products) companies. Many of our petitors have substantially greater financial atiteoresources and are able to ex|
more funds and effort than us in research, devedmprand commercialization of their competitive tealogies and products. Prescript
generic products and OTC store brand productsofféir cost savings to third party payers and/orsconers that will create pricing pressure
our products. Also, these competitors may have bstantial sales volume advantage over our prodwbish may result in our costs
manufacturing being higher than our competitassts. If our products are unable to capture aniahtaia market share, we or our licens
may not achieve significant product revenues andinancial condition and results of operationsl Wwé materially adversely affected.

We believe potential competitors may be developp@pid abuse deterrent technologies and produetsh $otential competitc
include, but may not be limited to, Pain Therapesjtin collaboration with Pfizer, Purdue Pharmalaitic Pharmaceuticals, Egalet
KemPharm and Collegium Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Thesepanies appear to be focusing their developmiéoitt® on ER Opioid Produc
except for Atlantic Pharmaceuticals, while the migjoof our Aversion Technology opioid analgesioguct candidates under developmen
IR Opioid Products. Pfizer, our partner in commaizing Oxecta, is also developing and/or marketiig) Opioid Products, other analge
products and noanalgesic products, all of which will compete favdlopment and commercialization resources withppaducts, which me
delay development or adversely impact the salespproducts.
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Our Impede Technology products containing PSEuitiolg Nexafed, will compete in the highly compettimarket for cold, sinus a
allergy products generally available to the consumithout a prescription. Some of our competitordl wave multiple consumer prodt
offerings both within and outside the cold, allerggd sinus category providing them with substariBakrage in dealing with a higt
consolidated pharmacy distribution network. The peting products may have well established brandesaand may be supported by nati
or regional advertising. Nexafed will compete dilgavith Johnson & Johnson’s Sudafedi®and as well as generic formulations manufact
by Perrigo Company and others.

We are concentrating a substantial majority of effiorts and resources on developing product catekdatilizing our Aversion ar
Impede Technologies. The commercial success ofugteditilizing such technologies will depend, irgkapart, on the intensity of competiti
FDA approved product labeling for our products canagl to competitive products, and the relativertgmind sequence for commercial lat
of new products by other companies developing, etarg, selling and distributing products that cotepwith the products utilizing o
Aversion and Impede Technologies. Alternative tetbgies and nompioid products are being developed to improveemlace the use
opioid analgesics. In the event that such alteraatio opioid analgesics are widely adopted, thenmarket for products utilizing our Avers
and Impede Technologies may be substantially deetetinus reducing our ability to generate futurdifsr.

Key personnel are critical to our business and aurccess depends on our ability to retain them.

We are dependent on our management and sciemt#in,tincluding Robert Jones, our President andfE&xiecutive Officer, Peter ,
Clemens, our Chief Financial Officer, and Albert BYzeczko, Ph.D., our Vice President of TechnicHaiks. We may not be able to attract
retain personnel on acceptable terms given the ettigm for such personnel among biotechnology rpteeeutical and healthcare compat
universities and non-profit research institutiontile we have employment agreements with certaipleyees, all of our employees areval-
employees who may terminate their employment attemg. We do not have key personnel insurance groéour officers or employees. T
loss of any of our key personnel, or the inabitdyattract and retain such personnel, may sigmiflgadelay or prevent the achievement of
product and technology development and businegtigs and could materially adversely affect ausibess, financial condition and res
of operations.

Our products are subject to regulation by the U.Brug Enforcement Administration, or DEA, and suchegulation may affect th
development and sale of our products

The DEA regulates certain finished drug products$ active pharmaceutical ingredients, includingaierbpioid active pharmaceuti
ingredients and pseudoephedrine HCI that are awedain our products. Consequently, their manufacttesearch, shipment, storage, sale
use are subject to a high degree of regulatiorthEtmore, the amount of active ingredients we daaio for our clinical trials is limited by tl
DEA and our quota may not be sufficient to complgieical trials. There is a risk that DEA regutats may interfere with the supply of
products used in our clinical trials.

In addition, we and our contract manufacturers saangiect to ongoing DEA regulatory obligations, imtihg, among other thing
annual registration renewal, security, recordkegptheft and loss reporting, periodic inspectiord amnual quota allotments for the |
material for commercial production of our productbe DEA, and some states, conduct periodic ingpesiof registered establishments
handle controlled substances. Facilities that condesearch, manufacture, store, distribute, imporéxport controlled substances mus
registered to perform these activities and havestgwuirity, control and inventory mechanisms requivg the DEA to prevent drug loss
diversion. Failure to maintain compliance, partely non€ompliance resulting in loss or diversion, can lteisuregulatory action that cot
have a material adverse effect on our businessltsesf operations, financial condition and progpe¢he DEA may seek civil penalties, rel
to renew necessary registrations, or initiate pedo®gs to revoke those registrations. In certaiouenstances, violations could lead to crim
proceedings.

Individual states also have controlled substanaes.l Though state controlled substances laws offeror federal law, because -
states are separate jurisdictions, they may segharsthedule drugs, as well. While some statesnaatioally schedule a drug when the C
does so, in other states there has to be a rulegaki a legislative action. State scheduling makydeommercial sale of any control
substance drug product for which we obtain FDA apal and adverse scheduling could have a matafiarae effect on the attractivenes
such product. We or our licensees must also olsmrarate state registrations in order to be abtbtain, handle, and distribute contro
substances for clinical trials or commercial sale] failure to meet applicable regulatory requireteeould lead to enforcement and sanc
from the states in addition to those from the DEAtherwise arising under federal law.
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Prior ownership changes limit our ability to use otax net operating loss carryforwards.

Significant equity restructuring often results in lnternal Revenue Section 382 ownership changelithids the future use of N
Operating Loss, or NOL, carryforwards and otheratixbutes. We have determined that an ownerdimge (as defined by Section 382 of
Internal Revenue Code) did occur as a result dfuesiring that occurred in 2004. Neither the antoofhour NOL carryforwards nor tl
amount of limitation of such carryforwards claim@dus have been audited or otherwise validatedhéyriternal Revenue Service, which cc
challenge the amount we have calculated. The rétiog and measurement of our tax benefit includsimates and judgment by
management, which includes subjectivity. Changesstimates may create volatility in our tax ratduture periods based on new informa
about particular tax positions that may cause mamagt to change its estimates.

Risks Relating to our Common Stock
Our quarterly results of operations will fluctuateggnd these fluctuations could cause our stock pricedecline.

Our quarterly and annual operating results ardylite@fluctuate in the future. These fluctuatiomauld cause our stock price to decl
The nature of our business involves variable factsuch as the timing of launch and market acceptahour products, and the timing of
research, development and regulatory submissionsupfproducts in development that could cause qarating results to fluctuate. T
forecasting of the timing and amount of sales afoeducts is difficult due to market uncertaintydathe uncertainty inherent in seeking F
and other necessary approvals for our product date. As a result, in some future quarters orsyear clinical, financial or operating resi
may not meet the expectations of securities arafrsd investors which could result in a declinthiprice of our stock.

Volatility in stock prices of other companies magrdribute to volatility in our stock price.

The market price of our common stock, like the reanrice for securities of pharmaceutical and libtm®logy companies, h
historically been highly volatile. The stock markeam time to time experiences significant priced arolume fluctuations unrelated to
operating performance of particular companies. dfactsuch as fluctuations in our operating resdlifjre sales of our common stc
announcements of the timing and amount of prodaledss announcements of the status of developmentioproducts, announcements
technological innovations or new therapeutic praslly us or our competitors, announcements regamhtaborative agreements, labora
or clinical trial results, government regulatiorpA determinations on the approval of a product adate¢ NDA submission, development:
patent or other proprietary rights, public concamto the safety of drugs developed by us or otheranges in reimbursement polic
comments made by securities analysts and generket@onditions may have a substantial effect ennttarket price of our common stock
the past, following periods of volatility in the nkat price of a compang’securities, securities class action litigatiod ahareholder derivati
litigation has often been instituted. A securit@ass action suit or shareholder derivative sudirmgf us could result in substantial cc
potential liabilities and the diversion of manageth® attention and resources and result in a matadiaérse affect on our financial condit
and results of operations.

Our stock price has been volatile and there may betan active, liquid trading market for our commatock.

Our stock price has experienced significant prind solume fluctuations and may continue to expegewrolatility in the future
Factors that may have a material impact on theepgsfcour common stock, in addition to the otheuéssdescribed herein, include the lat
and commercial success of Oxecta and Nexafed,tsesubr delays in our prelinical and clinical studies, any delays in, oitige to receiv
FDA approval of our product candidates, the entrio icollaboration or license agreements relatingotw products in developme
announcements of technological innovations or nemraercial products by us or others, developmentsaients and other proprietary ric
by us or others, future sales of our common stocleXisting stockholders, regulatory developmentgtmnges in regulatory guidance,
departure of our officers, directors or key empksjeand period-tperiod fluctuations in our financial results. Als@u may not be able to s
your shares at the best market price if tradingun stock is not active or if the volume is low.€Fé is no assurance that an active tre
market for our common stock will be maintained ba NASDAQ Capital Market.
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The National Association of Securities Dealers,,lnc NASD, and the Securities and Exchange Comamser SEC, have adopi
rules relating to the listing of publicly tradeask. If we were unable to continue to comply witlels rules, we could be delisted from trac
on the NASDAQ Capital Market and thereafter tradimgur common stock, if any, would be conductedtigh the Over-th&€ounter Bulletil
Board of the NASD. As a consequence of such degjstin investor would likely find it more difficuld dispose of, or to obtain quotations ¢
the price of, our common stock. Delisting of ountoon stock from the NASDAQ Capital Market couldoatesult in lower prices per share
our common stock than would otherwise prevail.

We do not have a history of paying dividends on @ammon stock.

Historically we have not declared and paid any adistdends on our common stock. We intend to retdirof our earnings for tt
foreseeable future to finance the operation anémsipn of our business. As a result, you may oedgive a return on your investment in
common stock if the market price of our common lstoacreases.

Because Our Principal Shareholders Control A Largeercentage Of Our Voting Power, Other Stockholdev&ting Power May Be
Limited

Our principal shareholders, Galen Partners lll, bRl its affiliates, Care Capital Investments IR &nd its affiliate and Ess
Woodlands Health Ventures V, beneficially own apimrmately 29.8%, 23.0% and 22.2%, respectively, of outstanding common stc
(calculated in accordance with Rule 13deromulgated under the Securities Exchange Actl@84, as amended). Accordingly, th
shareholders, individually or if they were to astaagroup or vote in the same manner, may be ahl&ltence the outcome of shareho
votes, including the adoption or amendment of miovis in our Certificate of Incorporation or Bgws and the approval of mergers and ¢
significant corporate transactions, including aesaf substantially all of our assets. These shdden® may make decisions that are adver
other shareholders' interests. This ownership adraton may also adversely affect the market pofceur common stock.

Any future sale of a substantial number of sharescluded in our current registration statement coultkpress the trading price of o
stock, lower our value and make it more difficulbif us to raise capital.

In accordance with the terms of the Securities Ifase Agreement dated August 20, 2007 between uthandvestors named there
we filed a registration statement with and declaeffdctive by the SEC, to register the shares geduin our Units issued pursuant to
Securities Purchase Agreement, including sharesriyidg warrants included in the Units. In additigrursuant to the exercise of previol
granted piggyback registration rights, each of Gdbartners Ill, L.P., Galen Partners InternatidialL.P., Galen Employee Fund IlI, L.|
Care Capital Investments Il, LP, Care Capital Gdfghinvestments Il, LP and Essex Woodlands Heaéthtites V, L.P. have exercised tl
piggyback registration rights to include an aggtegef 26,584,016 shares in such registration stemAs a result, 34,243,273 sh
(representing approximately 65% of our shares antihg on a fully-diluted basisiacluding all derivative securities, whether or watrently
exercisable) are available for resale by sellimecldtolders under the registration statement. If samn all of the shares included in s
registration statement are sold by our affiliatesl @thers it may have the effect of depressingtthding price of our common stock.
addition, such sales could lower our value and nitakere difficult for us to raise capital if neetim the future.
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Future sales of our common stock in the public matkby our significant stockholders or other insidecould lower our share price.

Sales of substantial amounts of our common stodkeénpublic market, or the perception that the salauld occur, could cause
market price of our common stocks to decline anddtonaterially impair our future ability to raisemital through offerings of our comm
stock. As of December 31, 2012, our directors, ettee officers, Galen Partners 1, L.P. and itfiliates, Care Capital Investments I, LP .
its affiliate, and Essex Woodlands Health Ventwed .P. owned an aggregate of approximately 73%wf common stock, or 33,507,(
shares. They will be able to sell these sharesruRdke 144 of the Securities Act, subject to refioins in the case of shares held by per
deemed to be our affiliates, or pursuant to ouisteggion statement declared effective by the SEGIovember 20, 2007.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

The Company has received no written comments ragapgriodic or current reports from the staff loé tSEC that were issued 180
days or more preceding the end of its 2012 fiseal yhat remain unresolved.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We lease from an unaffiliated Lessor, approximalieB00 square feet of administrative office spac@lé N. North Court, Suite 12
Palatine, lllinois 60067. The lease agreement héerra expiring March 31, 2014. The lease agreerpeoxides for rent, property tax
common area maintenance, and janitorial servicemnoannualized basis of approximately $25,080year. We utilize this lease space for
administrative, marketing and business developruntions.

We conduct research, development, laboratory, deweént scale and NDA submission batch scale matuifiag and other activitit
relating to developing product candidates usingr8iom and Impede Technologies at the facility wendacated at 16235 State Road
Culver, Indiana. At this location, our wholtywned subsidiary Acura Pharmaceutical Technolodies, is a 25,000 square foot facility w
7,000 square feet of warehouse, 8,000 square feetoufacturing space, 4,000 square feet of rebesmd development labs and 6,000 sg
feet of administrative and storage space. Theitiadil located on 28 acres of land.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Paragraph IV ANDA Litigation

On or about September 17, 2012, we believe the FiDgknally changed the status of Oxecta to be densd a Reference Listed Dr
or RLD. An RLD is the standard to which all geneviersions must be shown to be bioequivalent andug dompany seeking approva
market a generic equivalent must refer to the RBR.designating Oxecta as an RLD, the FDA was altbwe accept ANDAs referenci
Oxecta.

On September 20, 2012, we announced that we hatseglca Paragraph IV Certification Notice underl2$.C. 355(j) (a Paragra
IV Notice) from a generic sponsor of an ANDA foganeric drug listing Oxecta as the reference lisien). Since such date, we have rece
similar Paragraph IV Notices from three other genpharmaceutical companies that have filed AND&SHg Oxecta as the reference d
The Paragraph IV Notices refer to our U.S. Patemibers 7,201,920, 7,510,726 and 7,981,439, whiglercour Aversion Technology a
Oxecta. The Paragraph IV Notices state that eankriggesponsor believes that such patents are thvatienforceable or not infringed. Pfi
has advised us that they will not exercise thedt fight under the Pfizer Agreement to control éméorcement of our patents licensed to P
for Oxecta against these generic sponsors. Asudtres October 31, 2012, we initiated suit agaeesth of Watson Laboratories, IncFleride
(Watson), Par Pharmaceutical, Inc., Impax Laboregoinc. and Sandoz Inc. in the United Statesridis€Court for the District of Delawa
alleging infringement of our U.S. Patent No. 7,59D8, listed in the FDA Orange Book. The commencement of such litiggtiahibits th
FDA from granting approval of the filed ANDAs untiie earliest of 30 months from the date the FDéepted the application for filing, or 1
conclusion of litigation.
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On January 2, 2013, our motion to dismiss the agdinst Watson on the grounds that Watson had adeitsl ANDA from
Paragraph IV certification to Paragraph Ill, whiadicated its intent not to market its product dvance of our patents expiring, was acce
by the Court.

Litigation is inherently uncertain and we cannatgict the outcome of these infringement actionsinl§j of these generic compar
prevails its respective lawsuit and is able to wbEDA approval of its product, it may be able &mhch its generic version of Oxecta pric
the expiration of our patents in 2025. Additionailyis possible that other generic manufactureay mlso seek to launch a generic versic
Oxecta and challenge our patents. Any determindtiotihese infringement actions that our patentsedag our Aversion Technology a
Oxecta are invalid or unenforceable, in whole opamt, or that the products covered by generic spaANDAS do not infringe our pater
could have a material adverse affect on our opgeratand financial condition.

Citizen’s Petition filing with FDA

By designating Oxecta as an RLD, we believe the Fias8 acknowledged that Oxecta contains unique piepand/or a unique lal
that is different from other FDA approved immedistécase oxycodone HCI tablets that do not conthimsea resistant characteristics.
required by the Food and Drug Administration Safetg Innovation Act of July 2012, the FDA publisifed comment a draft guidance on
development of abusdeterrent drug products in January 2013. We beliegeANDA applicants that refer to Oxecta as an Rl have tc
have substantially equivalent, if not identicalusé deterrent characteristics to be considerechéyFDA as therapeutically equivalen
Oxecta. There can be no assurance, however, thatFDrely on such guidance for ANDA applicants.

On September 21, 2012, Pfizer, as licensee of aerdlon Technology used in Oxecta under the Pzgeement, filed a Citizer’
Petition with the FDA requesting that the FDA: ¢&frain from permitting an ANDA applicant to relyndxecta as a reference listed ¢
unless the ANDA applicant demonstrates that itslpco uses the same inactive ingredients as tho8éeta; (ii) require an ANDA applice
seeking approval of a product that relies on Oxastghe reference listed drug and uses inactiveedtients different from those in Oxect:
submit an NDA under Section 505(b)(2) of the Feldeoad, Drug and Cosmetics Act; and (iii) refrainorh rating a product as therapeutic
equivalent to Oxecta unless it has the same imadtigredients as Oxecta. On February 15, 2013 tha #enied without comment tt
Citizen’s Petition.

Reglar®/Metoclopramide Litigation

Halsey Drug Company, as predecessor to us, hasrzerad along with numerous other companies asendeaiit in cases filed
three separate state coordinated litigations pendim Pennsylvania, New Jersey and California, retbpey captioned In r
Reglan®/Metoclopramide Mass Tort Litigation, Phiéfghia County Court of Common Pleas, January T@0i0, No. 01997; In re: Reglan
Litigation, Superior Court of New Jersey, Law Diwis, Atlantic County, Case No. 289, Master Docked. NATL-L-3865-10; ant
Reglan®Metoclopramide Cases, Superior Court of Califorr8Ban Francisco County, Judicial Council CoordimatiRroceeding No. 463
Superior Court No.: CJC-1004631. In this product liability litigation againsumerous pharmaceutical product manufacturersdatdbutors
including us, plaintiffs claim injuries from thaise of the Reglan brand of metoclopramide and gemeatoclopramide.

In the Pennsylvania state court mass tort procgediner 200 lawsuits have been filed against us taldey Drug Company alleging t
plaintiffs developed neurological disorders as sulteof their use of the Reglan brand and/or generétoclopramide. Plaintiffs have fil
approximately 150 lawsuits against us, but haveesetess than 50 individual lawsuits upon us in e Jersey action. In the Califor
action, we were not served with any complaintsiuhé Spring of 2011 when a single complaint inahgdover 400 plaintiffs was served.
date, Acura has not been served with any metoalaige lawsuits in jurisdictions other than Philadedy New Jersey and California s
courts.
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In the lawsuits filed to date, plaintiffs have moinfirmed they ingested any of the generic metaampde manufactured by us. We discontir
manufacture and distribution of generic metoclopdammore than 15 years ago. In addition, we beltbeeJune 23, 2011 decision by the |
Supreme Court ifPLIVA v. Mensing (“Mensinglecision”)holding that state tort law failure to warn claiagainst generic drug companies
pre-empted by the 1984 Hatdllaxman Act Amendments and federal drug regulatwifisassist us in favorably resolving these cas®s.hav
consistently maintained the position that thesemdaare without merit and intend to vigorously deféhese actions.

In New Jersey, Generic Defendants, including Acfitag dispositive motions based on thkensingdecision, which the Court granted wit
limited exception. In June 2012, the New Jersey tourt dismissed Acura with prejudice.

In Philadelphia, and California, Generic Defendaimtsluding Acura, also filed dispositive motionased on thélensingdecision.

On November 18, 2011, the Philadelphia trial colertied Generic Defendaniispositive motion. In December 2011, the Generéeddant
appealed this rulingOn April 13, 2012, all trial court proceedings westayed pending decisions by the Pennsylvania Eppetourts. O
November 28, 2012,he Pennsylvania Superior Court heard the appedi@ieargumentA decision on this appeal should be issued latis
year and a further appeal to the Pennsylvania &upreourt likely will follow. This appeal processestually could result in dismissal of all
the Philadelphia cases against all generic deféadiacluding Acura, although there can be no asgerén this regard. Legal fees related to
matter are currently covered by our insurance earri

In California, the trial court issued an April 12012 ruling (confirmed in a May 25, 2012 Order) yieg Generic Defendantslispositive
preemption motions. The Generics Defendaapgieals from this order were denied by the Califoappellate courts. Therefore, plaintiffs
now permitted to proceed with their lawsuits inchglstate law claims based on (1) failing to comioate warnings to physicians throt
“Dear Doctor” letters; (2) failure to update labeling to adoparu labeling changes; and (3) failure to withdraameyic products from tl
market. Despite its refusal to grant the demurrenotion to strike, the California trial court ackmledged the preemptive effect Mensingsc
that any claim that would render the generic defendants in viotatf federal law if they are found responsible emd state law cause
action, would not be permissibldNonetheless, plaintiffs have not confirmed theyestgd any of the generic metoclopramide manufadttoy
us. Therefore, we expect the number of plaintififyywossible claims to be reduced voluntarily ombgtion practiceAction will be taken in a
effort to dismiss Acura from these cases, althotlglte can be no assurance in this regard. As atgnti@ loss is neither probable |
estimable, we have not accrued for any potentiss$ Ieelated to this matter as of December 31, 2D&g8al fees related to this matter
currently covered by our insurance carrier.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISLCOSURES
Not Applicable.
PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELA TED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market and Market Prices of Common Sto

Set forth below for the periods indicated are tightand low sales prices for trading in our comnstock on the NASDAQ Capit
Market as reported by the NASDAQ Capital Market.
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Period Sale Price:

High Low

2011 Fiscal Yea

First Quartel $ 36z $ 2.91

Second Quarte 6.8( 3.1¢€

Third Quartel 4.1C 2.2¢

Fourth Quarte 5.4¢ 2.97
2012 Fiscal Yea

First Quartel $ 42 % 3.1z

Second Quarte 3.5¢€ 2.5(C

Third Quartel 3.2¢ 1.4C

Fourth Quarte 4.5C 1.0¢€
2013 Fiscal Yea

First Quarter (through January 31, 20 $ 271 $ 1.81

Holders

There were approximately 600 holders of recordwf@mmon stock on February 28, 2013. This numi@never, does not refle
the ultimate number of beneficial holders of oumoaon stock.

Dividend Policy

The payment of cash dividends is subject to therélimn of our Board of Directors and is dependgn many factors, including c
earnings, our capital needs and our general fiahoondition. Historically we have not paid any lcaévidends.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Comensation Plans

Reference is made to the Company’s Proxy Statefoeits 2013 Annual Meeting of Shareholders untierd¢aption Compensation «
Executive Officers and DirectorsRestricted Stock Unit Award Plan; and Securitieshdzed for Issuance under Equity Compens:i
Plans”.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected consolidated financial data presebédolw for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2PQ10, 2009 and 2008 :
derived from our audited Consolidated Financiateteents. The Consolidated Financial Statements Be@ember 31, 2012 and 2011 anc
each of the years in the thrgear period ended December 31, 2012, and the eefheteon, are included elsewhere in this Reptie. Selecte
financial information presented for our 2009 an@&@perations and for our 2010, 2009 and 2008 balaheets are derived from our auc
Consolidated Financial Statements not presentéusrReport.

The information set forth below is qualified by eefnce to, and should be read in conjunction wilie, Consolidated Financ
Statements and related notes thereto included k&sewin this Report and "ltem 7. Management's Bisicn and Analysis of Financ
Condition and Results of Operations".

OPERATING DATA (in thousands) except per share 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
Revenues $ — $ 20,46¢ $ 3,311 $ 3,83 $ 44,43
Operating expenses:

Research and developméht 3,72¢ 4,037 7,177 5,67¢ 14,32;

Selling, general and administrati( 6,01: 5,89¢ 8,85¢ 11,66: 9,13¢
Interest expense — — — — —
Interest income 79 32 42 147 78C
Other (expense) income (8) (34) (14) ©) 3
(Loss) income before income tax (9,66¢) 10,53 (12,696 (13,356 21,75¢
Income tax expense (benefit) — 147 11 2,47¢ 7,28¢
Net (loss) income applicable to common stockhol (9,669 $ 10,38t $ (12,707 $ (15,839 $ 14,47¢
(Loss) earnings per share: Basic $ 0.20 $ 0.2: $ 0.27) $ (0.39) $ 0.3z
(Loss) earnings per share: Diluted $ (0.20 $ 0.2z $ (0.279) $ (0.39) $ 0.2¢

Weighted average shares used in computing netnegsr

(loss) per share: Basic 47,52 47,49¢ 47,02¢ 45,93: 45,67¢
Weighted average shares used in computing netregs

(loss) per share: Diluted 47,52: 48,00 47,02¢ 45,93: 49,41¢
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(1) Includes stock-based compensation expenseppbrimately $400, $500, $1,700, $1,900 and $60¢éars 2012, 2011, 2010, 2009 and

2008, respectively.
(2) Includes stock-based compensation expenseppbgimately $1,300, $1,900, $5,100, $7,300 and®3Bf8r years 2012, 2011, 2010, 2009

and 2008, respectively.

BALANCE SHEET DATA

(in thousands 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Working capital $ 26,57: $ 35,59¢ $ 23,28¢ % 28,75( $ 35,99
Total assets 29,05« 37,17: 25,49: 31,917 42,96
Total liabilities 1,42¢ 53C 1,152 2,007 5,897
Accumulated deficit (335,21) (325,54) (335,929 (323,22) (307,389
Stockholders' equity $ 27,63( $ 36,64: $ 2434, % 29,91( $ 37,06¢

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This discussion and analysis should be read inucatipn with our financial statements and accompanyotes included elsewhere
this Report. Operating results are not necessarilicative of results that may occur in the futperiods. Certain statements in this Re
under this Item 7, Item 1, "Business", Item 1A, sSRFactors” and elsewhere in this Report constititevarddooking statements” within tl
meaning of the Private Securities Litigation RefoAnt of 1995. Such forwartboking statements involve known and unknown r
uncertainties and other factors which may causeaotual results, performance or achievements arsitng results, to be materially differ
from any future results, performance, or achievamerpressed or implied by such forwdmdking statements. See page 1 of this Report |
the caption “Forward-Looking Statements” for a dggion of the most significant of such factors.

Company Overview

We are a specialty pharmaceutical company engagttkiresearch, development and commercializafiegechnologies and produ
intended to address medication abuse and misuséawsediscovered and developed two proprietaryntglolgies. Our Aversion&echnolog
is a mixture of inactive ingredients incorporatatbipharmaceutical tablets and capsules intendaddeess some common methods of prc
tampering associated with opioid abuse. Pfizerdroxecta® ¢xycodone HCI) tablets, Cll is the first approvet anarketed product utilizii
Aversion and is commercialized under an October72@nse agreement, or Pfizer Agreement, with lasisliary of Pfizer. We have al
developed our Impede™ Technology which is a contlinaf inactive ingredients that prevent the estien of pseudoephedrine from tab
and disrupt the direct conversion of pseudoephedrom tablets into methamphetamine. We have laeshdtexafed® §seudoephedrine HC
tablets formulated with our Impede Technology.
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We have 7 additional opioid products utilizing Asien in various stages of development. Pursuarmt 8eptember 24, 2012 le
agreement with Pfizer, all rights to these develeptstage opioid products have reverted back to us.rdtgdlone bitartrate wi
acetaminophen, or hydrocodone/acetaminophen, isnih& advanced opioid product in development amdpttimary focus of our opio
development efforts. Hydrocodone/acetaminopheihasniost widely prescribed and often abused opicddiyct in the United States. Pfi
previously completed a clinical study demonstrating hydrocodone/acetaminophen product is bioetprivdo its reference listed drug. '
filed an Investigation New Drug application, or INDith the Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, Becember 20, 2012. We expect
the development program for our hydrocodone/acetaptien product and our other Aversion opioid pre¢siutdevelopment will be consist
with that of Oxecta. We anticipate submitting a @)&) New Drug Application, or NDA, with the FDAof our hydrocodone/acetaminopl
product in the first half of 2014.

We launched Nexafed commercially in nidddcember 2012 into the $1 billion United Statesrdkie counter, or OTC, market for ¢
and allergy products. Nexafed was demonstrateddlinical study to meet the FDA Guideline standaimsbioequivalence to the referel
drug Sudafed®narketed by Johnson & Johnson Corporation. We igatie developing line extensions for our Nexafethéhise to capitali:
on the many different combination offerings in tB&C cold/allergy market. We also have been workinghe next generation of our Impu
Technology in order to further improve our Nexafehchise.

We also have discovered an eastgge technology which, in proof of concept labamatests, demonstrates the ability to limit
release of the active ingredient from tablets wimerltiple tablets are consumed simultaneously.

Company’s Present Financial Condition

At December 31, 2012, we had cash, cash equivaetsnarketable securities of $27.4 million comdame$35.7 million of cash a
cash equivalents at December 31, 2011. We had mgdapital of $26.6 million at December 31, 201tnpared to working capital of $3!
million at December 31, 2011. We had an accumuldtditit of approximately $335.2 million and $32518llion at December 31, 2012 ¢
December 31, 2011, respectively. We had a loss tiperations of $9.7 million and a net loss of $@illion for the year ended December
2012, compared to income from operations of $10il6om and net income of $10.4 million for the yeanded December 31, 2011. As
January 31, 2013 we had cash, cash equivalentharicetable securities of approximately $25.5 miillio

During the year ended December 31, 2012, we rezednjross product sales of $6 thousand derived fharsale of our Nexaf
Tablets to two regional wholesalers which were cletaty offset by a return goods reserve until dednfom Nexafed is established. During
year ended December 31, 2011, we recognized resesfu0.5 million derived from the amortized portiof the $30.0 million upfront ca
payment received from PfizerKing Pharmaceuticals subsidiary in December 286d,a $20.0 million milestone fee paid by Pfizeder th
Pfizer Agreement relating to FDA approval of the Albr Oxecta. During the year ended December 3102We recognized revenues of §
million derived from the $1.1 million amortized pion of the $30.0 million upfront cash payment iiged from Pfizers King Pharmaceutic
subsidiary in December 2007 and $2.2 million famteursement of research and development expensédxiecta Tablets. We have ye
generate any royalty revenues from Pfigesale of Oxecta Tablets. To fund our continuedatpms, we expect to rely on our current «
resources, additional payments that may be maderuiRfizer Agreement and under future license ages¢snwith other pharmaceuti
company partners, of which there can be no asserraiagbtaining, and revenues from our commercitibneof our Nexafed Tablets. Our ci
requirements for operating activities may increiasthe future as we continue to conduct plieical studies and clinical trials for our prod
candidates, maintain, defend, and expand the smoper intellectual property, including the prosteon of the Paragraph IV Proceedings,
additional personnel, commercialize our Nexafedl@bor invest in other areas.

Our losses have resulted principally from costaiired in connection with research and developmetiviies, salaries and ott
personnel-related costs and general corporate sgpeResearch and development activities includes @d preelinical studies, clinical trial
and clinical trial product supplies associated watir product candidates. Salaries and other peedoatated costs include non-cash, stocl
based compensation associated with stock opticthsestricted stock units granted to employees amdemployee directors.
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Results of Operations for the Years Ended DecemRir2012 and 201

December 3:
2012 2011 Change
$00C's $00C's Percen
Revenue:
Program fee revent — 46€ (46€) (200
Milestone revenu — 20,00( (20,000 (200
Total revenue — 20,46¢ (20,46¢) (100
Operating expense
Research and developme 3,72¢ 4,03 (311) (8
Selling, general and administrati 6,01z 5,89¢ 11¢ 2
Total operating expens: 9,73¢ 9,93 (193) ()
Income (loss) from operatiol (9,739 10,53¢ (20,277) (192
Other income (expens
Interest income 79 32 47 147
Other expens (8 (39 26 76
Total other income (expens 71 2 73 3,65(
Income (loss) before income t (9,669 10,53: (20,200 (192
Income tax expens — 147 (147) (200
Net income (loss (9,669 10,38t (20,057 (199

Revenue

In 2012 we recorded $6.0 thousand from gross pitosiales of Nexafed from two regional wholesalersciviwe completely offs:
with a returned goods reserve . This comparesvientees in 2011 of $20.5 million all from the PfiZggreement comprised of a $20.0 mill
milestone payment for achieving the FDA approvaDagEcta and the amortization of the final amounthefinitial upfront fee received back
2007.

Operating Expenses

Research and development expense during 2012 akid\#8re primarily for product candidates utilizingr Aversion and Impe:
Technologies, including costs of preclinical stdielinical trials, clinical supplies and relatesrhulation and design costs, salaries and
personnel related expenses, and facility costdudied in the 2012 and 2011 results are non-cagtk-sl@sed compensation charges of
million and $0.5 million, respectively, associatadth the grant of stock options and restricted stomits. Excluding the stockase:
compensation expense, in 2012 there was a $0.@milkcrease in development expenses compared.fo 20

Marketing expenses during 2012 and 2011 consisfetharket research studies on our Impede Technol@yy. general ar
administrative expenses primarily consisted of llegadit and other professional fees, corporataransce, and payroll. Included in the 2012
2011 results are non-cash stdised compensation charges of $1.3 million and #li®n, respectively, associated with the grahstck
options and restricted stock units. Excluding tteelsbased compensation expense, in 2012 there wasmage of $0.7 million in marketir
general and administrative expenses compared tb @marily attributable to Nexafed development anomotion.

Other Income (Expense)
In the fourth quarter of 2012 the Company amentiethvestment policy allowing greater flexibility investment selections. As st

some investments were shifted from lower yieldingney market funds to high grade corporate bonddtneg in significant improvement
interest income over the prior year.
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Net Income (Loss

The net loss of $9.7 million for 2012 includes remléral or state income tax benefit provisions duertcertainty of their futu
utilization. In 2011, the Company was able to mélexisting net operating loss carryforwards teeifthe majority of its 2011 federal and <
income taxes. The income tax expense for 2011ngpdsed of federal alternative minimum taxes ad aglstate income taxes totaling 4
million. The Company has maintained a full valuatimllowance on its deferred tax asset due to ttoertminty of future utilization of tt
Company’s net operating losses.

Results of Operations for the Years Ended DecemRir2011 and 201

December 3.
2011 2010 Change
$00Cs $00C's Percen
Revenue:
Program fee revent 46€ 1,08¢ (622) (57
Collaboration fee revent — 2,23: (2,237) (100)
Milestone revenu 20,00( — 20,00( —
Total revenus 20,46¢ 3,311 17,15t 51¢
Operating expense¢
Research and developme 4,03 7,171 (3,140 (44
Selling, general and administrati 5,89¢ 8,85¢ (2,967) (33
Total operating expens 9,93 16,03t (6,109 (38)
Income (loss) from operatiol 10,53¢ (12,729 23,25¢ 182
Other income (expens
Interest income 32 12 20 167
Other expens (39 (24 (20) (142)
Total other income (expens 2 28 (30 (107)
Income (loss) before income t 10,53: (12,69¢) 23,22¢ 182
Income tax expens 147 11 13€ 1,23¢
Net income (loss 10,38t (12,707 23,09: 182

Revenue

In December 2007, Pfizer paid us a $30.0 millioframt fee in connection with the closing of the Zefi Agreement. Program !
revenue recognized during 2011 from amortizing tipBont fee was $0.5 million compared to $1.1 imillin 2010. We have assigned an e
portion of the program fee revenue to each of thpemduct candidates identified under the Pfizer ekdgnent. We have completed
development activities on all 3 product candidatelly amortized the portion of the upfront fee fwvo product candidates in 2008, and f
amortized the portion of the upfront fee for thedtproduct candidate in 2011. We had milestonemnee of $20.0 million and $0 in 2011 i
2010, respectively.

In 2011 we incurred no development or regulatorgemses relating to the licensed products pursuatite Pfizer Agreement, a

therefore recognized no collaboration revenue fmhsyear. We do not expect collaboration revenamfPfizer in 2012. The Company |
collaboration revenue of $2.2 million for 2010.
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Operating Expenses

Research and development expense during 2011 &k@v2€re primarily for product candidates utilizingr Aversion and Impei
Technologies, including costs of preclinical stgdlielinical trials, clinical supplies and relatemrhulation and design costs, salaries and
personnel related expenses, and facility costdudied in the 2011 and 2010 results are non-castk-st@sed compensation charges of
million and $1.7 million, respectively, associatedth the grant of stock options and restricted tamits. Excluding the stockase:
compensation expense, in 2011 there was a $2.@omillecrease in development expenses compared1® @Omarily attributable to
reduction in development activities for our Aversibechnology product candidates.

Marketing expenses during 2011 and 2010 considtethdket research studies on our Aversion and Irapezthnologies. Our gene
and administrative expenses primarily consistele@dl, audit and other professional fees, corpdresigrance, and payroll. Included in the 2
and 2010 results are non-cash stbeked compensation charges of $1.9 million and &8llion, respectively, associated with the graf
stock options and restricted stock units. Excludimg stockbased compensation expense, in 2011 there wascezage of $0.2 million
marketing, general and administrative expenses aozdpo 2010.

Other Income (Expense)

During 2011 and 2010, we had no debt and cash edsceeceived pursuant to the Pfizer Agreement weested in U.S. Treast
Bills and money market funds in accordance with ithestment policy approved by our Board of Direstaesulting in minimal intere
income in 2011 and 2010 due to the prevailing lamnable, market rates of interest.

Net Income (Loss

In 2011, the Company was able to utilize existietj @perating loss carryforwards to offset the migjasf its 2011 federal and st:
income taxes. The income tax expense is comprittxtieral alternative minimum taxes as well asesbatome taxes totaling $0.1 million. 1
Company has maintained a full valuation allowanndte deferred tax asset due to the uncertaintiutofre utilization of the Company’'ne
operating losses. The net loss of $12.7 millionZ640 includes no federal or state income tax bepedvisions due to uncertainty of th
future utilization. A state tax expense was recdrie the Company’s subsidiary operations appoetibto one state jurisdiction.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

At December 31, 2012, we had cash, cash equivaeatsnarketable securities of $27.4 million comgane$35.7 million in cash a
cash equivalents at December 31, 2011. We had mgdapital of $26.6 million at December 31, 201thpared to $35.6 million at Decem
31, 2011. Our investing activities in 2012 and 20&te less than $0.2 million due to capital expemds.

At January 31, 2013, we had cash, cash equivatamtsmarketable securities of approximately $25.5iani We estimate that su
cash reserves will be sufficient to fund the depslent of Aversion Technology and Impede Technolpgyduct candidates, and rele
operating expenses at least through the next 12hmon

Pending our receipt of royalty payments from Pfirdated to Oxecta, other milestone and royaltynpayts under similar licen
agreements anticipated to be negotiated and exkuite other pharmaceutical company partners, awdnues from the commercializatior
our Nexafed tablets, we must rely on our curresha@serves, including interest income from theatment of our cash reserves, to func
development of our Aversion Technology, Impede hebtbgy and related administrative and operatingeesps. Our future sources
revenue, if any, will be derived from royalties endhe Pfizer Agreement and milestone payments ragdlties under similar licen
agreements with other pharmaceutical company partfe which there can be no assurance, and fr@rcommercialization of our Nexa
tablets.
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The amount and timing of our future cash requiremeiill depend on regulatory and market acceptarfieir product candidates ¢
the resources we devote to the development and eotiatization of our product candidates.

The following table presents our expected cash jgaysnon contractual obligations outstanding asexfdinber 31, 2012:

Payments due by period (in thousar

Less than 1-3 3-5 More than

Total 1 year years years 5 years
Operating lease $ 31 % 25 $ 6 9 — $ —
Contract manufacturin 17¢ 17¢ — — —
Clinical studies 1,527 1,527 — — —
Employment agreemen 60z 60z — — —
Total $ 2,33¢ $ 2,33 $ 6 $ — $ —

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not engage in transactions or arrangemettitsunconsolidated or other special purpose entities
Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of our financial statements in etaoce with United States generally accepted adoauprinciples requires us
make estimates and assumptions that affect thatezbamounts of assets, liabilities, revenues aqebrses in our financial statements
accompanying notes. We evaluate our estimates oongoing basis, including those estimates relateddntract agreements, rese:
collaborations and investments. We base our essra historical experience and various other agsans that we believe to be reason
under the circumstances, the results of which fiivenbasis for making judgments about the carryialges of assets and liabilities that are
readily apparent from other sources. Actual resulty differ from these estimates under differerstuagptions or conditions. The followi
items in our financial statements require significastimates and judgments:

Revenue Recognition, Deferred Program Fee Revemdi€allaboration Revent

Revenue is generally realized or realizable andezhwhen there is persuasive evidence an arranganxists, delivery has occuri
or services rendered, the price is fixed and deterinte, and collection is reasonably assured. Thmgany records revenue from its Nex:
product sales when the price is fixed and deterbdnat the date of sale, title and risk of owngrdve been transferred to the customer
returns can be reasonably estimated.

Nexafed was launched in the fourth quarter of 20l Company sells Nexafed in the United Statewtolesale pharmaceutis
distributors subject to the right of return for aripd of up to six months after the product exporat Nexafed currently has a shelf life
twentyfour months from the date of manufacture. Givenlitmited sales history of Nexafed, the Company entlly cannot reliably estime
expected returns of the product at the time ofraleipt. Accordingly, the Company defers recognitiomewvenue on the product shipment
Nexafed until the right of return no longer existsadequate history and information is availablestbmate product return

In connection with Pfizer Agreement, we recognizagpam fee revenue, collaboration revenue and toihesrevenue.

Program fee revenue is derived from amortized upfpayments, such as the $30.0 million upfront payinfrom Pfizer received
December 2007, and license fees, such as the #Bidnnoption exercise fee paid by PfizerKing subsidiary to us in each of May 2008
December 2008 upon the exercise of its optioncenke a third and fourth opioid analgesic prodaodiate under the Pfizer Agreement.
have assigned an equal portion of Pfize$30.0 million upfront payment to each of threedurct candidates identified in the Pfizer Agreer
and recognize the upfront payment as program feentee ratably over our estimate of the developnpeniod for each identified prodt
candidate. We recognized $0, $0.5, $1.1 milliod,1$million and $21.9 million of this program feevenue in 2012, 2011, 2010, 2009
2008, respectively. We do not expect any furthegmm fee revenue from Pfizer.
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Collaboration revenue is derived from reimbursemeihntlevelopment expenses, which are invoiced quwrte arrears, and a
recognized when costs are incurred pursuant t®tizer Agreement. The ongoing research and dewaop services being provided to Pfi
under the collaboration are priced at fair valusdohupon the reimbursement of expenses incurresthgnt to the collaboration with Pfizer. '
recognized $0, $0, $2.2 million, $0.8 million antil$s million of collaboration revenue in 2012, 202010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
do not expect any further collaboration revenuenfiefizer.

Milestone revenue is contingent upon the achievéroéoertain predefined events in the development of Oxecta Tal@ats othe
product candidates licensed to Pfizer under theePfA\greement. Milestone payments from Pfizer aomgnized as revenue upon achievel
of the “at risk” milestone events, which represent the culminatibthe earnings process related to that milestonéestibne payments ¢
triggered either by the results of our research @enklopment efforts or by events external to ushsas regulatory approval to mark
product. As such, the milestones are substantaliysk at the inception of the Pfizer Agreememt he amounts of the payments assii
thereto are commensurate with the milestone actiidneaddition, upon the achievement of a milestewent, we have no future performa
obligations related to that milestone payment. Badbkstone payment is non-refundable and oceditable when made. In June 2008, P
paid us a $5.0 million milestone payment for sushidly achieving the primary endpoints in our piloPhase Il study, AP-ADEO5 fol
Aversion oxycodone HCI with Niacin Tablets. In JW@1, Pfizer paid us a $20.0 million milestone rfiglating to the receipt of FDA appro
of the NDA for Oxecta. Under the Pfizer Agreemem, remain eligible to receive milestone paymentdlie achievement of certain net s
level of Oxecta and a regulatory milestone foraperoval of Oxecta in another territory. There bamno assurance, however, that Pfizer
achieve these milestones.

Research and Developme

Research and Development, or R&D, expenses inéhidenal R&D activities, external CRO services dhelir clinical research site
and other activities. Internal R&D activity expessinclude facility overhead, equipment and facilitaintenance and repairs, labora
supplies, pre-clinical laboratory experiments, éeftion, salaries, benefits, and shhased compensation expenses. CRO activity exf.
include preclinical laboratory experiments and ichh trial studies. Other activity expenses includgulatory consulting, and regulatory le
counsel. Internal R&D activities and other activitypenses are charged to operations as incurrednaite payments to the CRO's base
agreed upon terms and may include payments in advainthe study starting date. We review and acGiR® expenses and clinical trial sti
expenses based on services performed and relyagionates of those costs applicable to the stagerapletion of a study as provided by
CRO. Accrued CRO costs are subject to revisionsuad studies progress to completion. Revisionschagged to expense in the periol
which the facts that give rise to the revision beedknown. We have entered into several cancelaBl® @rrangements and our obligati
under these arrangements were approximately $082@and $133,000 at December 31, 2012 and 201deateeely, for services to be incur
as subjects are enrolled and progress throughulees.

Income Taxe

We account for income taxes under the liability moet Under this method, deferred income tax assadsliabilities are determin
based on differences between financial reportirgdjianome tax basis of assets and liabilities amdnaeasured using the enacted incom
rates and laws that will be in effect when theeatighces are expected to reverse. Additionallyppetating loss and tax credit carryforwards
reported as deferred income tax assets. The r8aiizaf deferred income tax assets is dependem @ygore earnings. A valuation allowal
against deferred income tax assets is requirdobged on the weight of available evidence, it igarlikely than not that some or all of
deferred income tax assets may not be realizedaldecwe realized taxable income in 2011 we were #blutilize a portion of our r
operating loss carryforwards. At December 31, 2A10®% of the remaining deferred income tax asset®ffiset by a valuation allowance «
to uncertainties with respect to future utilizatiminet operating loss carryforwards. We recordjdsiments by way of increase of $2.5 mil
to the deferred income tax asset valuation allowahaing 2009. This adjustment recognized a $2lbomitax expense from income taxe:
our income for 2009. If in the future it is deten@d that amounts of our deferred income tax assetsd likely be realized, the valuati
allowance would be reduced in the period in whigbhsdetermination is made and a benefit from incaaxes in such period would
recognized.
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Stock Compensation

Compensation cost related to stdmsed payment transactions is measured basedrovafae of the equity or liability instrume
issued. For purposes of estimating the fair valueazh stock option unit on the date of grant, wikzad the Black-Scholes optigpricing
model. The Blackscholes option valuation model was developed ferinsestimating the fair value of traded optionkjala have no vestir
restrictions and are fully transferable. In addifi@ption valuation models require the input oftitygsubjective assumptions including
expected volatility factor of the market price afraommon stock (as determined by reviewing itsohisal public market closing prices). (
accounting for stock-based compensation for resttistock units, or RSUSs, is based on thevalue method. The fair value of the RSUSs is
market price of our common stock on the date offgiass its exercise cost.

Capital Expenditures

Our capital expenditures during 2012, 2011 and 204 $147,000, $132,000 and $41,000, respecti@pital expenditures in ec
such year were primarily attributable to the pusehaf scientific equipment and improvements toGbéver, Indiana facility.

Impact of Inflation

We believe that inflation did not have a matenwapact on our operations for the periods reported.
ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK

Some of the securities that we invest in may bgestito market risk. Our primary objective in owsb management activities is
preserve principal while at the same time maxingzimcome we receive from our investments. A chaingie prevailing interest rates n
cause the principal amount of our investments uotflate. We have no holdings of derivative finaheiad commodity instruments. As

December 31, 2012, our investments consisted qfocate bonds, exchangeded funds and another security instrument imvgsh U.S
Treasuries, U.S. agency securities and agency agetgacked securities.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The consolidated financial statements of Acura Rlaaeuticals, Inc. and Subsidiary and the Repatieindependent Registered
Public Accounting Firm thereon, to be filed pursuianitem 8 are included in Item 15.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedurd& have conducted an evaluation, under the supamvénd with the participatic
of our management, including our Chief Executivdic@f and Chief Financial Officer of the effectivess of the design and operation of
disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to &hgd Act Rule 1345(e). Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Exeeudfficer and Chie

Financial Officer concluded that our disclosuretecols and procedures are effective in timely ahgrtihem to material information relating
the Company (including our subsidiary) requiretbéaincluded in our periodic Securities and Excha@gmmission filings.
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Management’'s Report on Internal Control Over Finah&eporting. Our management is responsible for establishigraaintaining
adequate internal control over financial reportimigternal control over financial reporting is defth in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15b(f)
promulgated under the Exchange Act as a procesgnaésd by, or under the supervision of, our ppatiexecutive and principal financ
officers and effected by our board of directorshagement and other personnel, to provide reasoressigrance regarding the reliability
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordante generally accepted accounting princi
and includes those policies and procedures that:

« Pertain to the maintenance of records that in regge detail accurately and fairly reflect the sactions and disposition
our assets

« Provide reasonable assurance that transactionseaoeded as necessary to permit preparation ohdiah statements
accordance with generally accepted accounting iptes; and that our receipts and expenditures aimegbmade only |
accordance with authorizations of our managemeshdinectors; an

» Provide reasonable assurance regarding preventitimely detection of unauthorized acquisition, wsedisposition of ot
assets that could have a material effect on ttanéiral statement:

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @étisstatements. Therefore, e
those systems determined to be effective can peosidy reasonable assurance with respect to finhatatement preparation and presente
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectivemds future periods are subject to the risk thattrmds may become inadequate becau:
changes in conditions, or that the degree of campé with the policies or procedures may detemorat

Our management assessed the effectiveness of teunah control over financial reporting as of Detemn31, 2012. In making tt
assessment, management used the criteria setbiprthe Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of Tneadway Commission (COSO)
Internal Control -Integrated Framework. Based on our assessment,gaaent believes that, as of December 31, 2012jnb&mal contrc
over financial reporting is effective based on thosteria.

The Companys independent registered public accounting firm natsrequired to and did not express an opiniotheneffectivene:
of the Company’s internal control over financigboeting.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial RepodirnThere was no change in our internal control ovearitial reporting th
occurred during the Fourth Quarter 2012 that mallgraffected, or is reasonably likely to mategadiffect, our internal control over financ
reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

Not Applicable.
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PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORAT E GOVERNANCE
Reference is made to 2013 Proxy Statement to ée Wilith the SEC on or about March 11, 2013 witlpees to Directors, Executi
Officers and Corporate Governance, which is incoafesl herein by reference and made a part hereesponse to the information requirec
Item 10.
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Reference is made to our 2013 Proxy Statement téildmk with the SEC on or about March 11, 2013 wiéspect to Executi
Compensation, which is incorporated herein by eafee and made a part hereof in response to theriafmn required by Item 11.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Reference is made to our 2013 Proxy Statement fidoewith the SEC on or about March11, 2013 witkpect to the to the secu
ownership of certain beneficial owners and manageraed related stockholder matters, which is inomajed herein by reference and ma
part hereof in response to the information requingdtem 12.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Reference is made to our 2013 Proxy Statement téildae with the SEC on or about March 11, 2013 widspect to certa
relationships and related transactions and diret#pendence, which is incorporated herein by reéereand made a part hereof in respon
the information required by Item 13.
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Reference is made to our 2013 Proxy Statement tildzbwith the SEC on or about March 11, 2013 wiéspect to auditor fe¢
which is incorporated herein by reference and nzapart in response to the information requiredtbégnl14.

PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) The following documents are filed as part @ tieport:
1. All Financial Statements: See Index to Financiat&nent

2. Financial Statement Schedules: N
3. Exhibits: See Index to Exhib
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this repot
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theoeduly authorized.

Date: February 28, 201 ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By /s/ ROBERT B. JONE:
Robert B. Jones
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, this report has been signed belpihe following persons on behalf of
registrant and in the capacities and on the dattisdted.

Signature Title(s) Date
/s/Robert B. Jone President, Chief Executive Officer and Director February 28. 207
Robert B. Jone (Principal Executive Officer) y <o,
/s/Peter A. Clemer Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Peter A. Clemen (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) February 28, 201
/s/William G. Skelly .
William G. Skelly Director February 28, 201
/s/Bruce F Wesso .
Bruce E Wesso Director February 28, 201
/s/Richard J. Markhat .
Richard 3. Markhar Director February 28, 201
[simmanuel Thang‘ara Director February 28, 201
Immanuel Thangar:
[siGeorge K. Ros Director February 28, 201

George K. Ros
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Shareholders
Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Palatine, lllinois

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of Acura Pharmaceuticals Inc. as of Deeerdl, 2012 and 2011 and
related consolidated statements of operations antprehensive income (loss), stockholdeguity, and cash flows for each of the three y
in the period ended December 31, 2012. These fiabstatements are the responsibility of the Comgmmanagement. Our responsibility i
express an opinion on these financial statemerssdoan our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversightuBiogUnited States). Those stand.
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtaasonable assurance about whether the finastééments are free of mate
misstatement. The Company is not required to hasewere we engaged to perform, an audit of itsrivdl control over financial reportir
Our audits included consideration of internal cohtver financial reporting as a basis for desigrandit procedures that are appropriate il
circumstances, but not for the purpose of exprgsamopinion on the effectiveness of the Compsaiyternal control over financial reportii
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An autiibancludes examining, on a test basis, evidenpparting the amounts and disclosure
the financial statements, assessing the accouptingiples used and significant estimates made bypagement, as well as evaluating
overall financial statement presentation. We belithat our audits provide a reasonable basis foopimion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetserferred to above present fairly, in all materé&spects, the financial position of Ac
Pharmaceuticals Inc. at December 31, 2012 and 20l the results of its operations and its cashdlfor each of the three years in the pe
ended December 31, 2012 conformity with accounting principles generadlgcepted in the United States of America.

/s/ BDO USA, LLP

Chicago, lllinois
March 4, 2013
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
DECEMBER 31, 2012 and 2011
(in thousands except par value)

Assets
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel
Marketable securitie
Finished goods inventory, n
Income taxes refundab
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total current asse
Property, plant and equipment, |
Other assets

Total assets

Liabilities and Stockholde’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accrued expense
Other current liabilities

Total current liabilities
Other liabilities
Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies (Note
Stockholder Equity:
Common stock: $.01 par value per shares; 100,08@s authorized, 45,867 and 45,320 shares
issued and outstanding in 2012 and 2011, respéc
Additional paic-in capital
Accumulated defici
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financaé®ents.
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2012 2011
747¢  $ 35,68t
19,94¢ -
21¢ -
43 152
307 291
27,99 36,12
1,052 1,044
11 -
29,05: $ 37,17
994 $ 53
417 477
12 -
1,41¢ 53C
5 -
1,42¢ 53C
45¢ 452
362,42 361,73
(335,21) (325,54))
(40 .
27,63( 36,64
29,05 $ 37,17




ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPRENES IVE INCOME (LOSS)
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010
(in thousands except per share amounts)

2012 2011 2010
Revenues
Program fee revent $ - % 46€ 3 1,08¢
Collaboration revenu - - 2,22:
Milestone revenue - 20,00( -
Total revenues - 20,46¢ 3,311
Operating expense
Research and developmt 3,72¢ 4,03 7,171
Selling, general and administrative 6,01: 5,89¢ 8,85¢
Total operating expenses 9,73¢ 9,932 16,03¢
Operating income (loss) (9,739 10,53¢ (12,729
Non-operating income (expens:
Interest incomt 79 32 42
Other expense, net (8) (34) (14)
Total other income (expense), net 71 (2) 28
Income (loss) before income tax (9,669 10,53: (12,69¢)
Provision for income taxes - 147 11
Net income (loss) $ (9,66¢) $ 10,38: $ (12,707
Other comprehensive income (los
Unrealized gains (losses) on securities (40) - -
Total other comprehensive income (loss) (40) - -
Comprehensive income (loss) $ (9,709 $ 10,38 $ (12,707
Earnings (loss) per shal
Basic $ 020 $ 02z $ (0.279)
Diluted $ (020 $ 02: $ (0.27)
Weighted average shares outstand
Basic 47,52 47,49¢ 47,02¢
Diluted 47,52 48,001 47,02¢

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financidé®ents.
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010

Balance at Dec. 31, 20(

Comprehensive loss: net loss for the year ended le@01(
Shar-based compensatic

Issuance of common stock for cashless exerciseafwnts
Issuance of common stock for exercise of war

Balance at Dec. 31, 20:

Comprehensive income: net income for the year efaed 31, 201:
Shar-based compensatic

Net distribution of common stock pursuant to restd stock uni
award plar

Common shares withheld for withholding taxes ortritiistion of
restricted stock unit

Net issuance of common stock pursuant to cashiessise of stocl
options

Common shares withheld for withholding taxes orhtzss exercise o
stock options

Issuance of common stock for exercise of stockoog
Issuance of common stock for exercise of warr
Balance at Dec. 31, 20:

Net loss

Other comprehensive income (lo

Sharebased compensatic

Net distribution of common stock pursuant to restd stock uni
award plar

Common shares withheld for withholding taxes otritigtion of
restricted stock unit

Net issuance of common stock pursuant to cashiessise of stocl
options

Common shares withheld for withholding taxes orhiess exercise (
stock options

Issuance of common stock for exercise of stocloogti
Balance at Dec. 31, 20:

(in thousands)

Accumulated

Additional Other
Common Stocl Paic-in Accumulate: Comprehensiy
Shares $ Amount Capital Deficit Income (Loss Total

43,72¢ $ 437 $ 352,69 $ (32322) $ = $  29,9U
- - - (12,707 - (12,707
- - 6,74¢ - - 6,74¢
43 1 (1) - - -
12z 1 391 - - 392
43,89: $ 43¢ $ 359,83( $ (33592) $ - $ 2434
- - - 10,38t - 10,38t
- - 2,45¢ - - 2,45¢
82¢ 8 (€)] - - -
(28¢) ®) (945) - - (94¢)
611 6 (6) - - -
(22¢) 2 (884) - - (886)
167 2 21F - - 217
33€ 3 1,07¢ - - 1,07¢
45,32( $ 45¢ $ 361,73 $ (32554) 3 - $ 36,64:
- - - (9,66¢) - (9,66¢)
- - - - (40) (40
- - 1,73: - - 1,73%
827 8 (@) - - 1
(296 2 (1,039 - - (1,039
14 - - - - -
®) - (19 - - (19
7 - 9 - - 9
45,86" $ 45¢ $ 362,42 $ (33521) $ (400 $ 27,63

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financidé®ents.
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010

(in thousands)

2012 2011 2010
Cash Flows from Operating Activitie
Net income (loss $ (9,669 $ 10,38t % (12,707
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to reshc(used in) provided by operating
activities:
Depreciation and amortizatic 131 131 13t
Shar-based compensatic 1,73% 2,45¢ 6,74¢€
Loss on asset dispos: 8 8 14
Changes in assets and liabilit
Inventories, ne (219 - -
Collaboration revenue receivat - 12¢ 231
Income taxes refundab 11C (147)
Prepaid expenses and other current a: (16) (33 (37
Accounts payabl 941 53 -
Accrued expense (64) (209 22¢
Deferred program fee reven - (46€) (1,089
Other assets and liabilitit 6 - -
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities (7,03¢) 12,31: (6,480
Cash Flows from Investing Activitie
Purchases of marketable securi (20,30¢) - -
Proceeds from sale of marketable secur 32C - -
Additions to property, plant and equipm (147) (131) (42)
Net cash used in investing activities (20,137 (137) (42)
Cash Flows from Financing Activitie
Proceeds from exercise of stock optis 9 217 -
Proceeds from distribution of restricted stock si 1 5 -
Proceeds from warrant exerc - 1,07¢ 392
Statutory minimum withholding taxes paid on thetritisition of common stock
pursuant to restricted stock unit plan and exeraissock options (1,04¢) (1,839 -
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (1,03¢) (5417) 39z
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equiy (28,209 11,64( (6,129
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 35,68t 24,04¢ 30,17
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 7,47¢€ $ 35,68¢ $ 24,04¢
Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Informat
Cash paid during the year fc
Interest $ - 3 26 % -
Income taxes, net of refun $ (108) $ 284 % 20

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financié®ents.
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010

Supplemental disclosures of noncash investing mvah€ing activities (amounts presented are roundélde nearest thousand):

Year ended December 31, 2012

1.

829 shares of common stock were distributed putsieaour Restricted Stock Unit Plan utilizing varfocashless exercise features o
plan and after withholding 2 shares for $7 in elsercosts and withholding 296 shares for $1.0 anilin statutory minimum payroll tax:
531 shares of common stock were issi

Options to purchase 24 shares of common stock @erecised utilizing various cashless exercise featof the plan and after withhold
10 shares for $31 in exercise costs and withhol8irsipares for $15 in statutory minimum payroll &x@ shares of common stock w
issued.

Year ended December 31, 2011

1.

829 shares of common stock were distributed putsttanur RSU Plan utilizing various cashless exsardeatures of the plan and a
withholding 1 shares for $3 in exercise costs aithhelding 288 shares for $948 in statutory minimpayroll taxes, 540 shares
common stock were issue

Options to purchase 935 shares of common stock wreecised utilizing various cashless exerciseufeat of the plan and af
withholding 324 shares for $1.3 million in exercisests and withholding 228 shares for $886 in saguminimum payroll taxes, 3!
shares of common stock were isst

Year ended December 31, 2010

1.

Warrants to purchase 65 shares of common stock exeneised in cashless exercise transactions irggult the net issuance of 43 sh
of common stocl

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financaé®ents.
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010

NOTE 1 - DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a New York corporatiand its subsidiary (the “Company”, “We”, or “Olris a specialty pharmaceuti
company engaged in the research, development anthercialization of technologies and products inezhtb address medication abuse
misuse. We have discovered and developed two mtapyi technologies. Our Aversion®echnology is a mixture of inactive ingredie
incorporated into pharmaceutical tablets and cagssintended to address some common methods of girtatapering associated with opi
abuse. Pfizer Inc.’'s Oxecta®xycodone HCI) tablets, Cll is the first approvet anarketed product utilizing Aversion and is comeiadizec
under a license agreement we have with a subsid@&Bfizer, or the Pfizer Agreement. We have alswetbped our Impede™ Technolc
which is a combination of inactive ingredients thatvent the extraction of pseudoephedrine frontetatand disrupt the direct conversiol
pseudoephedrine from tablets into methamphetanhintate December 2012 we launched in the UnitedeStalexafed® gseudoephedrii
HC1) tablets formulated with our Impede Technology.

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation
The Companys consolidated financial statements are prepareddnrdance with accounting principles generalyeated in the United Sta
of America (“GAAP”). The consolidated financial sments include the accounts of its whallyned subsidiary, Acura Pharmaceu!
Technologies Inc., after elimination of intercompatcounts and transactions.

Use of Estimates
Management is required to make certain estimatdsagsumptions in order to prepare consolidatechdiah statements in conformity w
GAAP. Such estimates and assumptions affect therteh amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues expinses and disclosure of contin
assets and liabilities in the consolidated finanstatements and accompanying nota&stual results could differ from those estims
Management periodically evaluates estimates usetidnpreparation of the consolidated financialestants for continued reasonabler
Appropriate adjustments, if any, to the estimateduare made prospectively based on such perigdiaations.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers cash and cash equivalentxhiade cash in banks, U.S. Treasury Bills and ngomarket funds. The Compa
considers all highly liquid investments with angimial maturity of three months or less to be caghiwalentsOur cash and cash equivalents
governed by our investment policy as approved hyBnard of Directors. The carrying amount of casd aash equivalents approximate:
fair value due to its short-term nature.

Fair Value of Other Financial Instruments
The Companys financial instruments consist primarily of castll @ash equivalents, marketable securities, ace@and other receivables, :
trade accounts payable. The carrying amounts dfetfmancial instruments, other than marketableurstées, are representative of tt
respective fair values due to their relatively soaturities. As discussed below, marketable stesrare recorded at fair value.

Marketable Securities

The Companys marketable securities primarily consist of cogperbonds and other instruments that invest in Ur8asury, U.S. agen
securities and agency mortgage-backed secur@iesmarketable securities are governed by our invest policy as approved by our Boart
Directors. The Company’s marketable securitiesciassified as available-farale and are recorded at fair value, based upotedunarke
prices or net asset value. Unrealized temporarysaients to fair value are included in a separataponent of stockholdergquity a
unrealized gains and losses and reported as a ecmmnpof accumulated other comprehensive incomes)(ld& gains or losses on marketi
securities are realized until shares are sold dedine in fair value is determined to be othemttemporary. If a decline in fair value
determined to be other-than-temporary, an impaitrobarge is recorded and a new cost basis in tresiment is established.
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Concentration of Credit Risk
We invest our excess cash in accordance with thestment policy approved by our Board of Directtivat seeks a combination of b
liquidity and safety of principal, such as investitsein instruments issued by the United Statesmmorent and high grade corporate bonds.

Our accounts receivable arise from our productssak Nexafed®and represents amounts due from wholesalers irhéladth care ar
pharmaceuticals industries. The Company has peéfdrancredit evaluation of its customers and mayntaai an allowance for potentia
uncollectable accounts. We have not experiencedi@ses on uncollectable accounts due to the renanket launch of Nexafed@te ir
December 2012.

Inventories
Inventories consist of finished goods held for sald distribution on our Nexafed® product. Inveigsrare stated at the lower of cost (first-
first-out method) or market (net realizable value). Tlhenany writes down inventories to net realizable@dased on forecasted demand
market conditions, which may differ from actualukés. We had inventory valued at $0.2 million atcBeaber 31, 2012. We had no inventoi
December 31, 2011. Purchases of active pharmaaeéldtigredients and raw materials required for oewedlopment and clinical tri
manufacture of product candidates utilizing our Bien® or Impede™ Technologies are expensed asriatu

Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at e, dccumulated depreciation. We have no leasehpldvements. Betterments are capital
and maintenance and repairs are charged to opgsa®incurred. When a depreciable asset is rdtioeu service, the cost and accumuli
depreciation is removed from the respective ac&unt

Depreciation expense is recorded on a strdightbasis over the estimated useful lives of #lated assets. The estimated useful lives ¢
major classification of depreciable assets are:

Building and improvement 10- 40 years
Land improvement 20- 40 years
Machinery and equipme 7-10 years
Scientific equipmen 5-10 years
Computer hardware and softw: 3- 10 years
Office equipmen 5-10 years

Revenue Recognition
Revenue is generally realized or realizable andezhwhen there is persuasive evidence an arrangemxists, delivery has occurred or serv
rendered, the price is fixed and determinable,aligction is reasonably assured. The Company dsa@venue from its Nexafed product s
when the price is fixed and determinable at the déisale, title and risk of ownership have beandferred to the customer, and returns ci
reasonably estimated.

Nexafed was launched in the fourth quarter of 2012 Company sells Nexafed in the United Statesholesale pharmaceutical distribut
subject to the right of return for a period of upsix months after the product expiration. Nexafedrently has a shelf life of twenfgur
months from the date of manufacture. Given thetéthisales history of Nexafed, the Company currecdlgnot reliably estimate expec
returns of the product at the time of shipment. gkdingly, the Company defers recognition of reveounethe product shipments of Nexe
until the right of return no longer exists or adatguhistory and information is available to estienatoduct returns.

In connection with our License, Development, andn@eercialization Agreement dated October 30, 20ah Wing Pharmaceuticals Resee

and Development, Inc., now a subsidiary of Pfizer. (the “Pfizer Agreement”)ve recognize program fee revenue, collaboratioenmag an
milestone revenue.
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Program fee revenue is derived from amortized upfpayments, such as the $30.0 million upfront payyhirom Pfizer received in Decem
2007, and license fees, such as the $3.0 millicioopxercise fee paid by Pfizer to us in each afyN2008 and December 2008 upon
exercise of its option to license a third and fbupioid analgesic product candidate under theePf#greement. We assigned an equal po
of Pfizer's $30.0 million upfront payment to each of threeduct candidates identified in the Pfizer Agreemamtl recognize the upfrc
payment as program fee revenue ratably over oima of the development period for each identifiedduct candidate. We recognizec
program fee revenue in 2012 and $0.5 million and $iillion of program fee revenue in 2011 and 2@&8pectively.

Collaboration revenue is derived from reimbursenantievelopment expenses, which are invoiced quarie arrears, and are recogni
when costs are incurred pursuant to the Pfizer égent. The research and development services gawidPfizer under the collaboration
priced at fair value based upon the reimbursemeexpenses incurred pursuant to the collaboratiih Rfizer. We recognized $2.2 million
collaboration revenue in 2010. There are no ongo&sgarch and development services being provim&fizer and we had no collaborai
revenue in 2012 or 2011.

Milestone revenue is contingent upon the achievéroéiertain predefined events in the development of Oxecta Talaats other produ
candidates licensed to Pfizer under the Pfizer Aguent.Milestone payments from Pfizer are recognized &smee upon achievement of
“at risk” milestone events, which represent the culminatioth® earnings process related to that milestorilesidbne payments are trigge
either by the results of our research and developretorts or by events external to us, such asleggry approval to market a product.
such, the milestones are substantially at riskhatinception of the Pfizer Agreement, and the arn®oh the payments assigned theretc
commensurate with the milestone achieved. In agditipon the achievement of a milestone event, ave mo future performance obligati
related to that milestone payment. Each milestamament is non-refundable and noreditable when made. In June 2011, Pfizer paid
$20.0 million milestone relating to the receipt@A approval of the NDA for Oxecta.

Shipping and Handling Costs
The Company records shipping and handling cosselimg expenses. The amounts recorded from theckaofNexafed in the fourth quar
of 2012 were not material.

Research and Development Activities

Research and Development (“R&D”) expenses inclumdernal R&D activities, external Contract Reseabriyanization (“CRO")services an
their clinical research sites, and other activitiasernal R&D activity expenses include facilityayhead, equipment and facility maintene
and repairs, laboratory supplies, pre-clinical falbary experiments, depreciation, salaries, besiefihd sharbased compensation expen
CRO activity expenses include preclinical laborat@xperiments and clinical trial studies. Otherivdist expenses include regulat
consulting, and regulatory legal counsel. IntefR&D activities and other activity expenses are gbdrto operations as incurred. We n
payments to the CRQO's based on agreed upon teminsmay include payments in advance of a study stadate. We review and accrue C
expenses and clinical trial study expenses basedimices performed and rely on estimates of tikhoses applicable to the stage of comple
of a study as provided by the CRO. Accrued CROscast subject to revisions as such studies propessmpletion. Revisions are charge
expense in the period in which the facts that gise to the revision become known. We had no acc@iRO costs at December 31, 2012
had accrued $28 thousand of CRO and clinical $tiadly expenses at December 31, 2011.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes under the liability moelt Under this method, deferred income tax assddiabilities are determined basec
differences between the financial reporting anditieeme tax basis of assets and liabilities andvegasured using the enacted income tax
and laws that will be in effect when the differep@@e expected to reverse. Additionally, net opegabss and tax credit carryforwards
reported as deferred income tax assets. The raafizaf deferred income tax assets is dependent fytare earnings. A valuation allowanc
required against deferred income tax assets iedas the weight of available evidence, it is mitkely than not that some or all of 1
deferred income tax assets may not be realizedhofit December 31, 2012 and 2011, 100% of all reimginet deferred income tax as:
were offset by a valuation allowance due to undaaits with respect to future utilization of netespting loss carryforwards. If in the future |
determined that additional amounts of our defeinedme tax assets would likely be realized, theiatbn allowance would be reduced in
period in which such determination is made anddatitimnal benefit from income taxes in such penezlld be recognized.
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Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Comprehensive income (loss) includes all changesjiity during a period except those that resuitaah investments by or distributions to
Companys stockholders. Other comprehensive income (ledgys to revenues, expenses, gains and lossesitiolsty GAAP, are included
comprehensive income (loss), but excluded fromimatme (loss) as these amounts are recorded girastan adjustment to stockholders
equity. Acuras other comprehensive income (loss) is composenhiafalized gains (losses) on certain holdings akaetable securities, net
any realized gains (losses) included in net incoss).

Earnings Per Share (“EPS”)

Basic EPS is computed by dividing net income os lbg the weighted average common shares outstandirigg a period, including sha
weighted related to vested RSUs (See Note 9). @iIEPS is based on the treasury stock method anguted based on the same numb:
shares used in the basic share calculation anddeslthe effect from potential issuance of commionks such as shares issuable pursue
the exercise of stock options and stock warrargspmming the exercise of all in-tleeney stock options and warrants. Common ¢
equivalents are excluded from the computation whiee& inclusion would be ant#utive. No such adjustments were made for eig2@2 o
2010 as the Company reported a net loss for thesyaal including the effects of common stock edeivs in the diluted EPS calculat
would have been antidilutive. In 2011, stock awatdspurchase 2.8 million common shares were oudgtgnbut not included in ti
computation of diluted EPS as the awards weredihiiive.

A reconciliation of the numerators and denominatdrisasic and diluted EPS consisted of the follawin

Years ended December
2012 2011 2010
(in thousands except per share d

EPS- basic
Numerator: net income (los $ (9,66¢) $ 10,388 $ (12,707
Denominator
Common share 45,86 45,01¢ 43,84
Vested RSUs 1,65¢ 2,48( 3,18
Basic weighted average shares outstanding 47,52 47,49¢ 47,02¢
EPS - basic $ (020 $ 0.2z $ (0.27)
EPS- assuming dilutior
Numerator: net income (los $ (9,66¢) $ 10,38¢ % (12,707
Denominator
Common share 45,86 45,01¢ 43,84
Vested RSU! 1,65¢ 2,48¢ 3,181
Stock options - 36¢€ -
Common stock warrants - 13€ -
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 47,52 48,00 47,02¢
EPS - diluted $ (020 $ 0.2z $ (0.27)

Excluded dilutive securitie:
Common stock issuabl

Stock options 3,29¢ 2,80¢ 4,24:
Common stock warran 1,85¢ - 2,19t
RSUs - - 49

Total excluded potentially dilutive shares 5,152 2,80¢ 6,48¢

Share-based Compensation
We have three share-based compensation plans egv&ock options and Restricted Stock Units (“RSfdf) our employees and directc
which are described more fully in Note 9.
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We measure our compensation cost related to sfemed payment transactions based on fair valuleeoéquity or liability instrument issut
For purposes of estimating the fair value of edokksoption unit on the date of grant, we utilibe Black-Scholes optiopricing model. Th
Black-Scholes option valuation model was developed ferinsestimating the fair value of traded optiongjala have no vesting restrictic
and are fully transferable. In addition, option uatlon models require the input of highly subjeeti@ssumptions including the expet
volatility factor of the market price of our commatock (as determined by reviewing our historicablgc market closing prices). C
accounting for share-based compensation for RSWsssed on the fawalue method. The fair value of the RSUs is thekeiaprice of ou
common stock on the date of grant, less its execnst.

Our share-based compensation expense recognitleel ®ompany’s results of operations comprised ahewving:

Year Ended December 3
2012 2011 2010
(in thousands

Research and developme

Stock option award $ 37t % 457 % 1,41¢
RSU awards - 75 27¢
37¢ 532 1,697

Selling, general and administratiy
Stock option award 1,35¢ 1,69¢ 4,36¢
RSU awards - 22€ 684
1,35¢ 1,92¢ 5,04¢
Total $ 1,737 $ 2,45¢ % 6,74¢

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2011, the FASB issued a final standardirieguentities to present net income and other aain@nsive income in either a sin
continuous statement or in two separate, but canisec statements of net income and other comps#henincome. The new stand
eliminates the option to present items of other p@hensive income in the statement of changesuityed@he new requirements do not cha
which components of comprehensive income are reézednin net income or other comprehensive incomewben an item of oth
comprehensive income must be reclassified to rainme. Also, earnings per share computations dachahge. The new requirements
effective for interim and annual periods beginnafter December 15, 2011, with early adoption peeditFull retrospective application
required. The Company adopted this standard foratiraual period ended December 31, 2011 but becsedead no other comprehens
income, there was no change in our financial statgnpresentations. During 2012 we had other congmstie income and had appl
retroactive application to the annual periods enBedember 31, 2011 and 2010. The Company electgatel®ent net income and ot
comprehensive income in a single continuous stateminet income and other comprehensive incomethissstandard related only to
presentation of other comprehensive income, th@témo of this accounting standard did not haverapact on the Comparg/’consolidate
financial statements.

NOTE 3 — LICENSE, DEVELOPMENT, AND COMMERCIALIZATIO N AGREEMENT

On October 30, 2007, we and King Pharmaceuticate&eh and Development, Inc., now a whalyred subsidiary of Pfizer, entered into
Pfizer Agreement to develop and commercialize i@ tnited States, Canada and Mexico certain opio@gasic products utilizing o
proprietary Aversion Technology. The Pfizer Agreemimitially provided Pfizer with an exclusive liese in the United States, Canada
Mexico, or the Pfizer Territory, for Oxecta (oxyayte HCI) Tablets and oxycodone HCl/acetaminophblets utilizing Aversion Technoloc
In addition, the Pfizer Agreement provided Pfizathwan option to license in the Pfizer Territoryrteén future opioid analgesic produ
developed utilizing Aversion Technology. Pfizer mised its option to license two additional prodaeendidates including an undisclo
immediaterelease opioid analgesic tablet product and hydtoge bitartrate/acetaminophen tablets, each of twhidlize our Aversio
Technology. On September 24, 2012, we enteredar@tter agreement with Pfizer which amends theelPfAgreement and provides for
termination of Pfizer’s license to our Aversion®cheology used in the three developmstatge products licensed to Pfizer and for the fes
of these products back to us. These developstage products are hydrocodone bitartrate/acetgghero tablets, oxycodo
HCl/acetaminophen tablets and an undisclosed apioid
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Pursuant to the Pfizer Agreement, we and Pfizenéar a joint steering committee to oversee developred commercialization strategies
Oxecta. Pfizer is responsible, at its own expefmeall regulatory, manufacturing and commercidia activities for Oxecta in all Pfiz
Territories. Subject to the Pfizer Agreement, Rfizgill have final decision making authority with smect to all regulatory a
commercialization activities for Oxecta.

As of December 31, 2012, we had received aggregmenents of $78.5 million from Pfizer, consistinfa0$30.0 million norrefundabls
upfront cash payment, $17.5 million in reimbursesiearch and development expenses relating to édgmeducts, $6.0 million in fees relat
to Pfizer's exercise of its option to license andignlosed immediateslease opioid analgesic tablet product and hydioae
bitartrate/acetaminophen tablets, a $5.0 milliofestone fee relating to our successful achieveroétiie primary endpoints for our piva
Phase IlI clinical study for Aversion oxycodone Hgth niacin tablets and a $20.0 million milestdee relating to the FDA approval of th
Oxecta Tablets NDA. We received none of these paysrifeom Pfizer during 2012. We can also receivm@time $50 million sales milesto
payment upon the first attainment of $750 millionmniet sales of Oxecta across all Pfizer Territodiesddition, for Oxecta sales occurring
and following February 2, 2013 (the one year amsiagy of the first commercial sale of Oxecta), &fiwill pay us a royalty at one of six re
ranging from 5% to 25% based on the level of anmetlsales for Oxecta across all Pfizer Territonieith the highest applicable royalty r
applied to such annual sales.

Pfizer's royalty payment obligations for Oxecta e&mpn a country-byountry basis upon the later of (i) the expiratadrthe last valid pate
claim covering Oxecta in such country, or (ii) 1&ays from the first commercial sale of Oxecta iohsaountry. No minimum annual fees
payable by either party under the Pfizer Agreemiér®fizer, after consultation with us, enters irdicense agreement with a third part
avoid or settle such third pargyallegations or claims regarding freedom to opeaaainst Oxecta, Pfizer may deduct 50% of anyltiegao!
other license payments it pays to such third partgler such license, provided that the royaltiesapbe/to us are no less than 80% of
royalties otherwise due to us under the Pfizer Agrent.

The Pfizer Agreement expires upon the expiratioRfifer’s royalty payment and other payment obligationseutide Pfizer Agreement. Pfi.
may terminate the Pfizer Agreement in its entigghany time by written notice to us. We may terrténthe Pfizer Agreement in its entiret
Pfizer commences any interference or oppositiortgeding challenging the validity or enforceabiliti any of our patent rights licensec
Pfizer under the Pfizer Agreement. Either party thasright to terminate the Pfizer Agreement omantry-by-country basis if the other party
in material breach of its obligations under the@fiAgreement relating to such country, and to iteate the Agreement in its entirety in
event the other party makes an assignment for ¢hefti of creditors, files a petition in bankruptoy otherwise seeks relief under applici
bankruptcy laws, in each case subject to applicednrle periods.

In the event of termination, no payments are dumgixthose royalties and milestones that have adgpuior to termination under the Pfi
Agreement and all licenses under the Pfizer Agregraee terminated. For all Acura terminations asrthination by Pfizer where we are na
breach, the Pfizer Agreement provides for the ftamsof development and marketing of the licenpedducts from Pfizer to us, including

conveyance by Pfizer to us of the trademarks ahcbgllatory filings and approvals solely used ameection with the commercialization
such licensed products and, in certain cases,fipeis supply of such licensed products for a $iianal period at Pfizer’'s cost plus a mans-

Paragraph IV ANDA Litigation
On or about September 17, 2012, we believe the Filsknally changed the status of Oxecta to be clemsd a Reference Listed Drug, or R
An RLD is the standard to which all generic versianust be shown to be bioequivalent and a drug eogngeeking approval to marke
generic equivalent must refer to the RLD. By deatigry Oxecta as an RLD, the FDA was allowed to ptA&DAs referencing Oxecta.

On September 20, 2012, we announced that we hat/egca Paragraph IV Certification Notice undel2%.C. 355(j) (a Paragraph IV Noti
from a generic sponsor of an ANDA for a genericgdlisting Oxecta as the reference listed drug. &isiech date, we have received sin
Paragraph IV Notices from three other generic plaaeutical companies that have filed ANDAs listinge®ta as the reference drug.
Paragraph IV Notices refer to our U.S. Patent NusBe201,920, 7,510,726 and 7,981,439, which couerversion Technology and Oxe
The Paragraph IV Notices state that each genenossp believes that such patents are invalid, wreaeéble or not infringed. Pfizer |
advised us that they will not exercise their fight under the Pfizer Agreement to control theoecément of our patents licensed to Pfize
Oxecta against these generic sponsors. As a resul@ctober 31, 2012, we initiated suit againsheaicWatson Laboratories, Inc.Foride
(“Watson”), Par Pharmaceutical, Inc., Impax Laboratories, &amzl Sandoz Inc. in the United States District Céarthe District of Delawal
alleging infringement of our U.S. Patent No. 7,5D8, listed in the FDA Orange Book. The commencement of such litiggtiahibits th
FDA from granting approval of the filed ANDAs unthe earliest of 30 months from the date the FDéepted the application for filing, or 1
conclusion of litigation.
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On January 2, 2013, our motion to dismiss the ag#inst Watson on the grounds that Watson had agdeital ANDA from a Paragraph
certification to Paragraph lll, which indicated iitéent not to market its product in advance of patents expiring, was accepted by the Court.

Litigation is inherently uncertain and we cannadict the outcome of these infringement actionganlf of these generic companies prevai
its respective lawsuit and is able to obtain FDArapal of its product, it may be able to launchdeneric version of Oxecta prior to
expiration of our patents in 2025. Additionally,ist possible that other generic manufacturers nisy seek to launch a generic versiol
Oxecta and challenge our patents. Any determinatiothese infringement actions that our patentsedag our Aversion Technology a
Oxecta are invalid or unenforceable, in whole opamt, or that the products covered by generic spaANDAS do not infringe our pater
could materially adversely affect the Company’srafiens and financial condition.

NOTE 4 — PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment are summarized &sifoi

December 31

2012 2011

(in thousands
Building and improvement $ 1,25¢  $ 1,252
Scientific equipmen 59t 58¢
Computer hardware and softws 25t 27C
Machinery and equipme 22¢ 117
Land and improvemen 162 162
Other personal proper 70 70
Office equipment 27 27

2,597 2,481
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (1,54%) (1,437)
Total property, plant and equipment, net $ 1,05 $ 1,044

Depreciation and amortization expense was apprdrign&0.1 million for each of the years ended Deben81, 2012, 2011, and 2010.
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NOTE 5 — ACCRUED EXPENSES
Accrued expenses are summarized as follows:

December 31

2012 2011
(in thousands

Professional service $ 21€ $ 191
Other fees and servic 75 42
Payroll, payroll taxes and benef 55 104
Clinical and regulatory servict 21 59
Contract manufacture servic 21 -
Property taxe 20 21
Franchise taxes 5 60

$ 41 % AT77

NOTE 6 — INVESTMENTS IN MARKETABLE SECURITIES
Investments in marketable securities consistetiefallowing:

December 31, 20:

(in millions)
Marketable securitiet
Corporate bond— maturing within one yee $ 1.2
Corporate bond— maturing after one through four ye: .3
Pooled investment fur 8.C
Exchange-traded funds 4.4
Total marketable securities $ 19.€

The Company’s marketable securities are classdgedvailable-fosale and are recorded at fair value based on quiekiet prices using t
specific identification method. The purchase cdstasporate bonds may include a purchase price iprarr discount which will be amortiz
or accreted against earned interest income to thmirity date of the bond. Our investments are dladsas current in the Comparsy’
Consolidated Balance Sheet as they may be soldrnwithe yearin response to changes in market prices or intemdss, to realign o
investment concentrations or to meet our workingjtahneeds.

The following table provides a summary of the faitue and unrealized gains (losses) related t&€tmapany’s available-for-sale
securities:

December 31, 201

(in millions)
Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value
Available-for-sale:

Corporate bond $ 7€ $ - % (0.2) $ 7.t
Pooled investment fun 8.C - - 8.C
Exchange-traded funds 4.4 - - 4.4
Total - Current $ 20.C $ - 9 0.1) $ 19.¢

Fair Value Measurement

Fair value is the price that would be receiveddiban asset or paid to transfer a liability (ait pxice) in an orderly transaction between me
participants. Fair values determined based on Leweputs utilize quoted prices (unadjusted) invectmarkets for identical assets or liabilit
Fair values determined based on Level 2 inputzetdbservable quoted prices for similar assetdliabdities in active markets and observe
quoted prices for identical or similar assets inrkats that are not very active. Fair values deteeatibased on Level 3 inputs util
unobservable inputs and include valuations of assetiabilities for which there is little, if anynarket activity. A financial asset or liability’
classification within the aboveierarchy is determined based on the lowest lenaitithat is significant to the fair value measuzamWe ha
no liabilities at December 31, 2012 meeting failueaneasurement.
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Our assets measured at fair value or disclosegiraidlue on a recurring basis as at December @12 2onsisted of the following (in
millions):

December 31, 201

(in millions)
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets:
Corporate bond 7.5 7.5 - -
Pooled investment fur 8.C - 8.0 -
Exchange-traded funds 4.4 4.4 - -
Total $ 19¢ $ 11.¢ $ 8.0 $ -

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Unrealized gains or losses on marketable securétiesrecorded in accumulated other comprehenso&s)(lincome. Accumulated otl
comprehensive income (loss) at December 31, 20a&isted of unrealized losses on securities of BdQgand.

NOTE 7 — COMMON STOCK WARRANTS

The Company has outstanding common stock purchasemis at December 31, 2012 exercisable for 1llomshares of common stock,
of which contain a cashless exercise feature. TWwasents have an exercise price of $3.40 per siradeexpiration date of August 2014,

NOTE 8 — INCOME TAXES
Provision for Income Taxes

The reconciliation between our provision for incotages and the amounts computed by multiplyingincome (loss) before taxes by the |
statutory tax rate is as follows :

December 31

2012 2011 2010
(in thousands
Tax (benefit) at U.S. statutory 34% taxr $ (3.287) $ 351C % (4,320)
State taxes (benefit), net of federal ef - 6 (56)
Research and development tax cre - (77) (45)
Shar-based compensatic 47: 62€ -
Other 2 (55) (31¢€)
Change in valuation allowance 2,812 (3,862) 4,74¢
Provision for income taxes $ - 3 147 % 11

The tax expense 2011 is federal alternative mininaxas (“AMT”) and current state taxes, and for @@lis current state taxes.
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Deferred Tax Assets and Valuation Allowance
Deferred tax assets reflect the tax effects obpetating losses (“NOLs"Jax credit carryovers, and temporary differencdsvben the carryir
amounts of assets and liabilities for financialamimg purposes and the amounts used for incompugposes. The most significant item of
deferred tax assets is derived from our Federal l@e have approximately $26.7 million federal imeotax benefits at December 31, 2
derived from $78.5 million Federal NOLs at the UsEatutory tax rate of 34%, available to offseufettaxable income, some of which h
limitations for use as prescribed under IRC Sec88®. Our NOLs will expire in varying amounts beame2013 and 2031 if not used, and tl
expirations will cause fluctuations in our valuatiallowances. The components of our deferred tagtasre as follows:

December 31
2012 2011
(in thousands

Deferred tax asset
Estimated future value of NOI

- Federa $ 26,67¢ $ 22,96

- State 4,43¢ 4,17¢
Research and development tax cre 887 887
Deferred program fee reven - -
Share-based compensatic 3,48¢ 4,62¢
Other, net (20) )
Total deferred taxe 35,46 32,64¢
Valuation allowance (35,467 (32,649
Net deferred tax assets $ - 9 =

Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent fiysiore earnings, if any, and the timing and anmi@afrwhich may be uncertain. Valuat
allowances are placed on deferred tax assets whegrtainty exists on their near term utilizatione \Wake periodic reviews of our valual
allowances and fluctuations can occur. Those fatans may be reflected as income tax expensesrwfits in the period they occur. In 2(
we decreased our valuation allowance to utilize M@l s to offset our taxable income from our 201kmping results; however we ¢
incurred an AMT liability. We continue to maintafiall valuation allowance against all of our defefax assets at December 31, 2012 d
uncertainties with respect to future utilizationrat operating loss carryforwards. If in the futitres determined that amounts of our defe
tax assets would likely be realized, the valuattiowance would be reduced in the period in whigbhsdetermination is made and a be
from income taxes in such period would be recoghize

Uncertainty in Income Taxes
We adopted FASB' statement regarding accounting for uncertainfipéome taxes which defined the threshold for reirgg the benefits
tax-return positions in the financial statementsrasre-likely-thannot" to be sustained by the taxing authorities. @dwption of the stande
did not result in establishing a contingent tability reserve or a corresponding charge to rethiearnings. At each of December 31, 2
2011, and 2010 we had no liability for income tasaciated with uncertain tax positions. If in théufe we establish a contingent tax liab
reserve related to uncertain tax positions, ouct@ will be to recognize the interest in interegpense and the penalties in other nparating
expense.

The Company files federal and state income taxmetand in the normal course of business the Coynjzasubject to examination by th
taxing authorities. As of December 31, 2012, thenBanys tax years 2009, 2010 and 2011 are subject toieation by the taxing authoritie
With few exceptions, we believe the Company is ormgker subject to U.S. federal, state and local éxatons by tax authorities for ye
before 2009. Tax year 2008 was open as of DeceBlhet011.

NOTE 9 — EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

401(k) and Profit-Sharing Plan
We have a 401(k) and Profit-Sharing Plan (the “Bldar our employees. Employees may elect to makesi lwmntribution of up to 15%
their annual earnings. The Plan provides that tbe@any can make discretionary matching contribstiequal to 25% of the first 6%
employee contributions for an aggregate employe#ribution of 1.5%, along with a discretionary prefharing contribution. We did r
contribute matching or profit sharing contributidos the Plan in years 2012, 2011, and 2010.
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Stock Option Plans

We maintain various stock option plassummary of our stock option plans as of Decen#dgr2012, 2011, and 2010 and for the years
ended consisted of the following:

Years Ended December

2012 2011 2010
(in thousands except price da

Weighted Weighted Weighted
Number Average Number Average Number Average
of Exercise of Exercise of Exercise

Options Price Options Price Options) Price
Outstanding, beginnin 355 $ 6.41 424:  $ 5.4C 3671 % 5.9C
Grantec 47t 2.8C 491 3.6° 64¢ 3.3¢
Exercisec (31) 1.3C (1,102 1.3¢ - -
Forfeited or expiret (704) 8.45 (76) 3.1F (77 10.1(
Outstanding, endin 32% % 5.5( 3556 $ 6.41 424: % 5.4C
Options exercisabl 2,761 $ 5.9¢ 2,962 $ 7.01 352t % 5.71

The following table summarizes information aboutwested stock options outstanding at December(Bll2:2

Number of Weighted
Options Average
Not Fair
Exercisable Value
(in thousands except per price
data)
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 594 $ 3.2z
Grantec 47E 2.62
Vested (53€) 3.52
Forfeited - -
Outstanding at December 31, 2012 53 $ 2.71

We estimate the option’s fair value on the dateg@nt using the Black-Scholes option-pricing mod&hck-Scholes utilizes assumptic
related to volatility, the riskree interest rate, the dividend yield (which iswased to be zero, as we have not paid any castedids) an
price. The riskiree interest rate is derived from the U.S. Treasteld curve in effect at the time of grant. Thepected life of the grants
derived from historical exercise activity. Histally, our stock options have been held until thedpiration date. The assumptions used it
Black-Scholes model to determine fair value for26&2, 2011 and 2010 stock option grants were:

2012 2011 2010
Expected dividend yiel 0.C% 0.C% 0.C%
Risk-free interest rate 1.7%to 2.% 1.9% to 3.% 3.5% to 3.%
Average expected volatilit 114% 114% 11<%
Expected term (year: 1C 10 10
Weighted average grant date fair va $ 26(C % 3.3¢ % 3.1¢

As of December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 the aggregatnsic value of the option awards which weested was $0.1 million, $0.3 millic
and $2.4 million, respectively. In addition, thegagpate intrinsic value of option awards exercidadng the year ended December 31, :
and 2011 was $0.1 million and $2.7 million, respedty. There were no options exercised in 2010. Td@l remaining unrecogniz
compensation cost related to the unvested opticardsvat December 31, 2012 was $1.5 million anki®eted to be recognized in vary
amounts over the twent-three months remainingerrdiguisite service period.

During 2012, options to purchase 24 thousand stafresmmon stock were exercised utilizing varioastdess exercise features of our s
option plan and after withholding shares for $3dutband in exercise costs and $15 thousand in @tatotinimum payroll taxes, we issue
thousand shares of common stock. During 2011 opttonpurchase 0.9 million shares of common stockevexercised utilizing variol
cashless exercise features of our stock option atethafter withholding shares for $1.3 million ixeecise costs and $0.9 million in statul
minimum payroll taxes, we issued 0.4 million shasesommon stock.

F- 18




Restricted Stock Unit Award Plan
We have a Restricted Stock Unit Award Plan (“20@URPlan”) for our employees and nemployee directors. Vesting of an RSU entitles
holder to receive a share of common stock of the@my on a distribution datA. summary of the RSU Plan as of December 31, 22021
and 2010, and for the years then ended consisték dbllowing:

Years Ended December @

2012 2011 2010
(in thousands

Number Number o Number Number
Number of Vested Number Vested of of Vested

of RSUs RSUs of RSUs RSUs RSUs RSUs
Outstanding, beginnin 2,481 2,481 3,31¢€ 3,267 3,31¢ 3,112
Grantec - - - - - -
Distributed (829) (829) (829) (829) - -
Vested - - - 48 - 15&
Forfeited or expired - - - - - -
Outstanding, endin 1,65¢ 1,65¢ 2,481 2,481 3,31¢ 3,261

The share-based compensation cost to be incurreal gnanted RSU is the RSU’s fair value, which is tharket price of the Company’
common stock on the date of grant, less its exercist. The compensation cost is amortized to esgpener the vesting period of the R
award. During 2011 all of the remaining unvestedJR&vards became vested. The weighted average dhie\of a RSU outstanding
December 31, 2012 is $3.75.

The 2005 RSU Plan provides that upon a change mraloof the Company or upon termination of an esgpes employment with tf
Company without cause, vesting will accelerate thirdRSUs will fully vest. Absent a change of cohtomefourth of vested shares of comn
stock underlying an RSU award will be distributedtér payment of $0.01 par value per share) onalgnl of each of 2011, 2012, 2013
2014. If a change in control occurs, the vestedeshanderlying the RSU award will be distributedatbout the time of the change in con
Each distribution date consisting of 0.83 millidrases and occurred as follows:

e OnJanuary 1, 2011, 0.54 million shares were 8isteid to the holders while 0.29 million shares weithheld by the Company up
elections made to exchange RSUs in satisfactiéidf million withholding tax obligation:

o OnJanuary 1, 2012, 0.53 million shares were #isteid to the holders while 0.30 million shares weithheld by the Company up
elections made to exchange RSUs in satisfactiéldf million withholding tax obligation:

e OnJanuary 1, 2013, 0.50 million shares were Histed to the holders while 0.33 million shares weithheld by the Company up
elections made to exchange RSUs in satisfacti@&®af million withholding tax obligation:

NOTE 10 — COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Facility Lease
The Company leases administrative office spaceaiatiPe lllinois under a lease expiring March 30,12 for approximately $25 thouss

annually.
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Reglan® /Metoclopramide Litigation

Halsey Drug Company, as predecessor to us, hasrfmaed along with numerous other companies as endaft in cases filed in thi
separate state coordinated litigations pending iennBylvania, New Jersey and California, respegtivaaptioned In r¢
Reglan®/Metoclopramide Mass Tort Litigation, Phiégmhia County Court of Common Pleas, January T@di0, No. 01997; In re: Reglan
Litigation, Superior Court of New Jersey, Law Diais, Atlantic County, Case No. 289, Master Dockeb. NATL-L-3865-10; ant
Reglan®Metoclopramide Cases, Superior Court of Califori8an Francisco County, Judicial Council CoordimatRroceeding No. 463
Superior Court No.: CJC-1004631. In this product liability litigation againsumerous pharmaceutical product manufacturersdatdbutors
including us, plaintiffs claim injuries from thaise of the Reglan brand of metoclopramide and gematoclopramide.

In the Pennsylvania state court mass tort procgedimer 200 lawsuits have been filed against us taldey Drug Company alleging t
plaintiffs developed neurological disorders as sulteof their use of the Reglan brand and/or generetoclopramide. Plaintiffs have fil
approximately 150 lawsuits against us, but haveesktess than 50 individual lawsuits upon us in e Jersey action. In the Califor
action, we were not served with any complaintsluh& spring of 2011 when a single complaint inahgdover 400 plaintiffs was served.
date, Acura has not been served with any metoalaide lawsuits in jurisdictions other than Philadedy New Jersey and California s
courts.

In the lawsuits filed to date, plaintiffs have moinfirmed they ingested any of the generic metaaopde manufactured by us. We discontir
manufacture and distribution of generic metoclopdammore than 15 years ago. In addition, we beltbeeJune 23, 2011 decision by the |
Supreme Court ifPLIVA v. Mensing (“Mensinglecision”)holding that state tort law failure to warn claiagainst generic drug companies
pre-empted by the 1984 Hat¥llaxman Act Amendments and federal drug regulatwifisassist us in favorably resolving these ca¥gs.hawv
consistently maintained the position that thesemdaare without merit and intend to vigorously deféhese actions.

In New Jersey, Generic Defendants, including Acfileg dispositive motions based on thkensingdecision, which the Court granted wit
limited exception. In June 2012, the New Jersey turt dismissed Acura with prejudice.

In Philadelphia, and California, Generic Defendaimtsluding Acura, also filed dispositive motionased on thélensingdecision.

On November 18, 2011, the Philadelphia trial coleriied Generic Defendanidispositive motion. In December 2011, the Generéeddant
appealed this rulingOn April 13, 2012, all trial court proceedings westayed pending decisions by the Pennsylvania Eppetourts. O
November 28, 2012 he Pennsylvania Superior Court heard the appeilaieargumentA decision on this appeal should be issued lat@0itt
and a further appeal to the Pennsylvania Suprenuet Gkely will follow. This appeal process evenliyacould result in dismissal of all of t
Philadelphia cases against all generic defendactading Acura, although there can be no assurantieis regard. Legal fees related to
matter are currently covered by our insurance earri

In California, the trial court issued an April 12012 ruling (confirmed in a May 25, 2012 Order) yiag Generic Defendantslispositive
preemption motions. The Generics Defendaapgieals from this order were denied by the Califoappellate courts. Therefore, plaintiffs
now permitted to proceed with their lawsuits in¢hglstate law claims based on (1) failing to comioate warnings to physicians throt
“Dear Doctor” letters; (2) failure to update labeling to adoparu labeling changes; and (3) failure to withdraameyic products from tl
market. Despite its refusal to grant the demurrenotion to strike, the California trial court ackmledged the preemptive effect ensingsc
that any claim that would render the generic defendants in viofatf federal law if they are found responsible @md state law cause
action, would not be permissibldNonetheless, plaintiffs have not confirmed theyestgd any of the generic metoclopramide manufadttoy
us. Therefore, we expect the number of plaintififhyossible claims to be reduced voluntarily ombgtion practiceAction will be taken in a
effort to dismiss Acura from these cases, althotlglte can be no assurance in this regard. As atgnti@ loss is neither probable |
estimable, we have not accrued for any potentis$ Ielated to this matter as of December 31, 2D&gal fees related to this matter
currently covered by our insurance carrier.
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Financial Advisor Agreement
In connection with our August 2007 Unit Offeringeare obligated to pay a fee to our then finaraulwisor upon each exercise of the wart
issued in the Unit Offering, in proportion to themmber of warrants exercised. The amount of theagseiming 100% exercise of the remail
1.9 million warrants is $0.38 million. We have meflected this obligation as a liability in our cmiidated financial statements as the pay
is contingent upon the timing and exercise of tleerants by each of the warrant holders. Such fei, will be paid to the financial advis
and be offset against the equity proceeds as themia are exercised.

SUPPLEMENTARY DATA (UNAUDITED)
Selected unaudited quarterly consolidated finardasd is shown below (in thousands except per states:

For Three Month Periods End

Mar. 31, June 30, Sept. 30, Dec. 31,
2012 2012 2012 2012
Revenues (i $ - % - $ SD 5
Operating expense 2,34¢ 2,18¢ 2,14¢ 3,051
Operating los! (2,344 (2,189 (2,149 (3,057
Net loss (2,339 (2,179 (2,140 (3,010
Basic loss per sha $ 0.09) % 0.0 % 0.0 % (0.06)
Diluted loss per share $ (0.05) $ (0.05) $ (0.0 % (0.0€)
For Three Month Periods End
Mar. 31, June 30, Sept. 30, Dec. 31,
2011 2011 2011 2011
Revenues (i $ 23:  $ 20,23:  $ - 8 -
Operating expense 3,06 2,871 2,14 1,847
Operating income (los! (2,839 17,36: (2,147 (1,847
Net income (loss (2,857) 17,02¢ (2,14)) (1,646
Basic earnings (loss) per shi $ 0.0 $ 03¢ $ (0.0) % (0.09)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ (0.06) $ 0.3t $ (0.05) $ (0.09)

(i) See Note 2 for revenue recognition.
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
EXHIBIT INDEX

The following exhibits are included as a part a$ thnnual Report on Form 10-K or incorporated hetgy reference.

Exhibit
Number

Exhibit Description

3.1

3.2

3.3

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Regist (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1he Registrant
Form &K filed on June 25, 2009

Certificate of Amendment Reverse Splitting CommaoocE and restating but not changing text of parhuicle 111
of Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorgechby Reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the ForriK &8fed Decembe
4, 2007).

Restated Bylaws of the Registrant (incorporateddigrence to Exhibit 3.1 to the FormKafiled on March 3
2009).

License, Development and Commercialization Agredntlated October 30, 2007 by and between the Ragi
and King Pharmaceuticals Research and Developriment(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1tle# Forn
8-K filed on November 2, 200"

Letter Agreement dated as of September 24, 2012aruy between the Registrant and King Pharmacet
Research and Development, Inc. (incorporated tareate to Exhibit 10.1 of the FormkBfiled on September 2
2012) (confidential treatment has been grantegdotions of this Exhibit)

Manufacturing Services Agreement dated as of JAJy2011 between the Registrant and Patheon Phauiicade
Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1otx Form 8K filed July 27, 2011) (confidential treatment
been granted for portions of this Exhit

Securities Purchase Agreement dated as of Augys2@y (“PIPE SPA™among the Registrant, Vivo Ventu
Fund VI, L.P., Vivo Ventures VI Affiliates Fund, B., GCE Holdings LLC, and certain other signatotheesret
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to tleenf 8-K filed on August 21, 2007).

Form of Warrant dated as of August 20, 2007 issuacuant to the PIPE SPA (incorporated by referdan
Exhibit 4.1 to the Form-K filed on August 21, 2007

Amended and Restated Voting Agreement dated asebfuBry 6, 2004 among the Registrant, Care C
Investments I, LP, Essex Woodlands Health Ventites.P., Galen Partners lll, L.P., and others ¢iporated b
reference to Exhibit 10.5 of the Forr-K filed on February 10, 2004 (ti*February 2004 Form-K")).

Joinder and Amendment to Amended and Restated §/ctigreement dated November 9, 2005 betweel
Registrant, GCE Holdings, Essex Woodlands Healthtes V, L.P., Care Capital Investments II, LP|e®
Partners lll, L.P. and others (incorporated byneriee to Exhibit 10.1 to the Forr-K filed November 10, 2005

Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Votinggekgent dated as of January 24, 2008 betwee
Registrant and GCE Holdings, LLC (incorporated bference to Exhibit 10.1 to the FornK8filed January 2¢
2008).




Exhibit
Number

Exhibit Description

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

Third Amendment to Amended and Restated Voting Agrent dated as of October 1, 2012 betweel
Registrant, Care Capital Investments Il, LP, Eséfodlands Health Ventures V, L.P., Galen Partngrd IP.,
and others (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 13 the Form -K filed on October 3, 2012

Registrants 1995 Stock Option and Restricted Stock Purchéae (licorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 te
Registrant's Registration Statement on Fo-8, File No. 3-98396).

Registrant’s 1998 Stock Option Plan, as amendezbiporated by reference to Appendix C to the Reaisk
Proxy Statement filed on May 12, 200

Registrants 2005 Restricted Stock Unit Award Plan, as amerfofedrporated by reference to Appendix B to
Registrar’'s Proxy Statement filed on April 2, 200

Registrants 2008 Stock Option Plan, as amended on June 23, @corporated by reference to Appendix |
our Proxy Statement filed on May 12, 20C

Employment Agreement dated as of March 10, 1998vdxt the Registrant and Peter Clemens (“Clemen:
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.44 to Bowem 10K for the period ending December 31, 2007, file(
April 15, 1998).

First Amendment to Employment Agreement made aduofe 28, 2000 between the Registrant and Cle
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.44A to Registrar's 2005 Form 1-K).

Second Amendment to Executive Employment Agreerhetween Registrant and Clemens, dated as of JaBi
2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1h Registrant's Form-K filed January 31, 2005

Third Amendment to Executive Employment Agreemented December 22, 2005 between Registran
Clemens (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 16.the December 2005 Forr-K).

Fourth Amendment to Executive Employment Agreemaatted December 16, 2007 between Registran
Clemens (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1G@28he Form 10< for the year ending December 31, 2(
filed on March 5, 2008’

Fifth Amendment to Executive Employment Agreemexgcaited July 9, 2008 between Registrant and Cle
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to oarrf &K filed on July 10, 2008

Sixth Amendment to Executive Employment Agreemerdgcated December 14, 2012 between Registran
Clemens (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 16.@ur Form -K filed on December 17, 201z

Employment Agreement dated as of March 18, 200&dxx the Registrant and Robert B. Jones (incorpdriay
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Forr-K filed on March 24, 2008




Exhibit

Number Exhibit Description

10.22 Amendment to Executive Employment Agreement dagedfapril 28, 2011 between the Registrant and RioB
Jones (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.duoForm 1-Q filed July 28, 2011

10.23 Second Amendment to Executive Employment Agreenfiveen Registrant and Robert B. Jones exe
December 14, 2012 (incorporated by reference toliixt0.1 to our Form -K filed December 17, 2012

10.24 Stipulation of Settlement dated October 31, 2011Ctass Action Litigation (incorporated by refererto Exhibi
10.1 to our Form-K filed November 4, 2011

14.1 Code of Ethics (incorporated by reference to ExHiBil of the Form-K filed on December 10, 2007

21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant (incorporated bgnezice to Exhibit 21 to the Form KOfor the fiscal year end:
December 31, 2006 filed on March 15, 20(

*23.1 Consent of BDO USA LLP, Independent Registered ieuktcounting Firm

*31.1 Certification of Periodic Report by Chief Executi@dficer pursuant to Rule 13a-14 and 1B4l-of the Securitie
Exchange Act of 193¢

*31.2 Certification of Periodic Report by Chief Financi@fficer pursuant to Rule 13a-14 and 1B4-of the Securitie
Exchange Act of 193¢

*32 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chi&financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sectiorb(,3a:
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the SarbanesyQydt of 2002.

*101.INS XBRL Instance Documer

*101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum

*101.CAL XBRL Extension Calculation Linkbas

*101.LAB XBRL Extension Label Linkbas

*101.PRE XBRL Extension Presentation Linkba

*101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbat

*Filed or furnished herewith.




CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Palatine, lllinois

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referéndbe Registration Statements on Form S-8 (N88-151653, 333-151620, 3333172
333-123615, 333-63288, and 33-98356) and on Fofn(1$e. 333146416) of Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. of our repated March 4, 201
relating to the consolidated financial statementsch appear in this Form 10-K.

/s/ BDO USA, LLP
Chicago, lllinois
March 4, 2013




EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Robert B. Jones, certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Acura Pharmaceuticals, In

Based on my knowledge, this annual report doescontain any untrue statement of a material facbmit to state a material fe
necessary to make the statements made, in ligktteotircumstances under which such statements made, not misleading wi
respect to the period covered by this reg

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,aher financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant's other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disaie controls and procedures
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15€&)) and internal control over financial repagtifas defined in Exchange Act Rt
13z15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresaused such disclosure controls and procedures fesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réijpgr, or caused such internal control over finahoégorting to be design
under our supervision, to provide reasonable asseraegarding the reliability of financial repodirand the preparation
financial statements for external purposes in atmoce with generally accepted accounting princjj

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrantslalsire controls and procedures and presentedsimeghort our conclusions ab:
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls aratguiures, as of the end of the period covered Isyréport based on sL
evaluation; ant

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regigsanternal control over financial reporting ttwaicurred during the registrai
most recent fiscal quarter (its fourth fiscal qegrtthat has materially affected, or is reasondikly to materially affect, th
registrant's internal control over financial repugt and

The registrant's other certifying officer and | baglisclosed, based on our most recent evaluationtefnal control over financi
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thetazammittee of the registrant's board of direct@mspersons performing the equival
functions):

(@) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesgethe design or operation of internal controérofinancial reporting whic
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the rtegig's ability to record, process, summarize @it financial information; an

(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significé@tin the registran
internal control over financial reportin

Date: February 28, 201

/s/Robert B. Jones

Robert B. Jone
President and Chief Executive Offic







EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Peter A. Clemens, certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Acura Pharmaceuticals, In

Based on my knowledge, this annual report doescontain any untrue statement of a material facobmit to state a material f:
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheofircumstances under which such statements wade, not misleading with resp
to the period covered by this repc

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd, ather financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant's other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disgte controls and procedures
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15()) and internal control over financial repagtifas defined in Exchange Act Rt
13e15(f) and 15-15(f) ) for the registrant and hax

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and procedumesaased such disclosure controls and procedurds tdesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatneg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known tc
by others within those entities, particularly dgrihe period in which this report is being prepa

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finaheporting to be designed un
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurangardang the reliability of financial reporting aride preparation of financ
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant'slalisire controls and procedures and presentedsimeport our conclusions abi
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls amutgutures, as of the end of the period covered lsy réport based on sL
evaluation; ant

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regmisainternal control over financial reporting thetcurred during the registrat
most recent fiscal quarter (its fourth fiscal gedrtthat has materially affected, or is reasondigly to materially affect, th
registrant's internal control over financial rejogt and

The registrant's other certifying officer and | badlisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatioimtefnal control over financi
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and theitac@mmittee of the registrant's board of directfms persons performing the equival
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesgethe design or operation of internal contro¢iofinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registeaability to record, process, summarize and refieaincial information; an

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvesmagement or other employees who have a significdatin the registran
internal control over financial reportin

Date: February 28, 201

/s/Peter A. Clemer
Peter A. Clemen
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi




EXHIBIT 32
CERTIFICATION OF

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
AND
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Robert B. Jones, certify, pursuant to 18 U.9.850, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of theaBasOxley Act of 2002, that the Annt
Report on Form 1@ of Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. for the fiscal yeaded December 31, 2012 fully complies with thguirements «
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange & 1934 and that information contained in suanial Report of Form 18- fairly
presents, in all material respects, the finanaaldition Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. as of the slatesented and results of operations of 2
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. for the periods presented.

February 28, 2013 By: /s/IRobert B. Jone
Robert B. Jone
President and Chief Executive Offic

I, Peter A. Clemens, certify, pursuant to 18 U.9.850, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of theaSasOxley Act of 2002, that the Annt
Report on Form 1@ of Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. for the fiscal yeaded December 31, 2012 fully complies with thguirements «
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange & 1934 and that information contained in suandal Report of Form 18- fairly
presents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. as of the slatesented and results of operations of 2
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. for the periods presented.

February 28, 2013 By: /s/Peter A. Clemer
Peter A. Clemen
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi




